
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 25, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Meeting 

May 25, 2021, at 7:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for June 8, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-008:
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Regarding Garbage Collection and Disposal
 .......................................................................................................................... Page 3 

b. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for June 8, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-009:
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water Supply System ............... Page 7 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. April 27, 2021, Regular Meeting ............................................................................. Page 11 

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS
1. Presentation on Drug Enforcement Agency Presentation from DEA Tactical Diversion Squad Group

Supervisor Thomas Olsen 

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report ................................................................................................ Page 19 
2. City Clerk’s Report
3. Mayor’s Report

a. Memorial Day Proclamation ................................................................................... Page 21 
4. City Attorney’s Report

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION ........................................................................................ Page 23 

H. PUBLIC HEARING
1. Resolution No. 21-015: Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Subdivision Agreement with

Variances to Required Public Improvements for Subdivision Development as Outlined in Palmer
Municipal Code Chapter 12.12 .................................................................................... Page 25 

2. Ordinance No. 21-005: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.36 Industrial District, 17.58
Business Park and Enacting 17.28.020 Palmer Commercial Land Use Matrix .................... Page 141 

3. Ordinance No. 21-006: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.050 Central Business
District Boundaries, Deleting Section 17.64.055 Fee-in-Lieu, and Amending Section 17.64.080
Landscaping Requirements ......................................................................................... Page 151 

4. Ordinance No. 21-007: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 Pertaining to Election
Proposition and Questions Referral Deadlines ............................................................... Page 159 

Mayor Edna B. DeVries 
Deputy Mayor Sabrena Combs 
Council Member Julie Berberich 
Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Steve Carrington 
Council Member Brian Daniels 
Council Member Jill Valerius 

City Attorney Michael Gatti 
City Clerk Norma I. Alley, MMC 
City Manager John Moosey 

http://www.palmerak.org/


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: May 25, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 2 

I. NEW BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 21-036: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the

City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License Nos. 119, 5638, and
5716 for the Palmer Alehouse Located at 320 E. Dahlia Avenue ..................................... Page 163 

2. Committee of the Whole: Discussion Regarding Annexation ...................................... Page 173 

J. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session)

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

M. COUNCIL COMMENTS

N. ADJOURNMENT

Tentative Future Palmer City Council Meetings 

Meeting 
Date 

Meeting 
Type Time Notes 

Jun 8 Regular 7 pm 

Jun 22 Regular 7 pm 

July 13 Regular 7 pm 

July 27 Regular 7 pm 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-008 

 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Regarding Garbage Collection and Disposal  
 
Agenda of: May 25, 2021 – Introduction 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
√  Public Works    04/12/2021 

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature: 

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-008 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal has not been updated in several years. A 
review of this chapter of code was conducted by the Solid Waste Collector and the Public Works Director. The 
recommended changes will bring the code in line with Mat-Su Borough landfill requirements and current City of 
Palmer standards of operations. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-008 
 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 21-008 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 Garbage 
Collection and Disposal 
 

WHEREAS, from time to time the Palmer Municipal Code needs to be reviewed and updated to remain 
current with standards of operation and procedures; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Public Works Department has conducted a review of the current Palmer Municipal Code 

Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal. 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 
Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.050 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 

is underlined and old language is stricken): 
 

8.20.050 Garbage – Adequate receptacles required – Accumulation time limit. 
No person shall keep on or about the premises owned or occupied by him any garbage unless the same shall be 
kept in a metal dumpster or plastic garbage receptacle, as provided by the city or contracted service provider 
approved by the city manager, or other adequate receptacle with a tight fitting cover. No person shall keep on 
or about the premises owned or occupied by him any garbage for a period longer than the frequency of collection 
as established by the city manager. 
 

Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.060 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and old language is stricken): 

 
8.20.060 Garbage – Depositing restrictions. 
No person shall deposit any garbage, rubbish or ashes upon any streets, alleys or city-owned property, or upon 
any property owned by another. For the purpose of collection, garbage must be bagged, placed for collection in 
a metal, city provided plastic garbage plastic or other adequate receptacle with a tight fitting cover when a 
garbage rack is available and placed on the street no earlier than 5:00 a.m. and no later than 8:00 a.m. of the 
day of pickup. Plastic garbage receptacles should be removed from the street no later than 7:00 p.m. of 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 25, 2021 
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-008 Page 2 of 2 

designated trash collection day. Additional plastic garbage bags may be used in lieu of garbage receptacles for 
extra trash that does not fit inside the plastic garbage receptacle. Any additional bags should be placed at the 
right side of the plastic garbage receptacle, so the solid waste collector can easily see them. Customers will be 
charged for each additional bag of trash as outlined in the city of Palmer current adopted fee schedule. However, 
they shall not be placed at curbside prior to 5:00 a.m. of the date of collection. A garbage rack may not project 
into the right of way by more than three feet to the front face of said rack. The placing of garbage at curbside 
in paper bags or cardboard boxes is not allowed. It shall be the property owner/renter’s responsibility to retrieve 
all windblown or animal-strewn garbage. 

 
 Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 8.20.100 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and old language is stricken): 
 
8.20.100 Garbage – Collection – Occupant duties – Containers. 
A.  The city may regulate or undertake the general collection of garbage, rubbish and ashes throughout the city 
subject to the provisions of this title. 
B.  Every person having the care, either as an owner or occupant of any premises, shall make adequate provision 
to ensure that all garbage originating or accumulating thereon shall be disposed of at least as frequently as the 
frequency of collection established under this chapter, and in no event shall such disposal be less frequent than 
weekly. The city manager may establish a schedule of collection. 
C.  All garbage placed in receptacles or containers for collection shall be drained of surplus liquids. All boxes 
and rubbish must be broken, cut up, or otherwise reduced in size and placed in receptacles or bundles securely 
tied. Residential ashes shall be in separate containers. In no event shall any bundle or other receptacle, including 
contents, exceed 60 50 pounds in weight. 
D.  All garbage containers shall be furnished by the city. of metal or other suitable material, shall be leakproof, 
shall have tight-fitting covers, and shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition by the owner. They shall be 
equipped with two handles or with a suitable bail. Receptacles for ashes and rubbish shall be fitted with 
substantial handles or bails. No garbage or rubbish receptacle shall exceed 30 gallons in capacity, nor shall it be 
so loaded that it cannot be conveniently handled without spilling its contents No plastic garbage receptacle shall 
be so loaded as to exceed 250 pounds total weight. Additional bundles are authorized and should be placed next 
to garbage containers. The weight of any bundle or the combined weight of any receptacle and its contents shall 
not exceed 60 50 pounds. The size of any bundle shall not be greater than four feet in length and can be 
conveniently handled and disposed of by the collector, except where special equipment or machinery is provided 
on spring and/or fall cleanup. 
E.  All receptacles garbage containers shall be furnished by the customer city. If a receptacle is broken, lost or 
damaged, outside of normal wear and tear as determined by the city, it will be the responsibility of the property 
owner/renter to pay for a replacement receptacle. Residential customers may rent dumpsters from the city for 
special projects. Commercial customers shall lease dumpsters from the city or provide their own containers, 
subject to approval of the city manager. 
 

Section 6. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-008 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-009 

 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water Supply System  
 
Agenda of: May 25, 2021 – Introduction 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
√  Public Works    04/12/2021 

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-009 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
An error was found in Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 water system supply. The recommended change 
will correct the error. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-009 
 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Ordinance No. 21-009 

 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.025 Water 
Supply System 
 

WHEREAS, from time to time the Palmer Municipal Code needs to be reviewed and updated to remain 
current with standards of operation and procedures; and 

 
WHEREAS, an error was discovered in Palmer Municipal Code section 13.16.025 water supply system. 

 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 
Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 13.16.0256 is hereby amended to read as follows (new 

language is underlined and old language is stricken): 
 

13.16.025 Water supply system 
When a proposed subdivision is to be serviced by the city water system, such system shall be provided by the 
subdivider to standards established by the State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation. Fire 
hydrants shall be provided to standards established by the American Waterworks Association. Upon acceptance 
all easements and sewer water improvements associated with such a sewage water system shall be dedicated 
to and accepted by the city for administration, operation and maintenance. No proprietary rights of any type or 
description shall be retained by the developer or owner of the subdivision. 
Subject to PMC 13.08.030, when each lot within a proposed subdivision has an area of 20,000 square feet or 
more, connection to the city water system is not required, provided the developer proves to the city manager 
that the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation has approved on-site water supply systems for each 
lot. 
 
  

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 25, 2021 
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-009 Page 2 of 2 

Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-009 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 7 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
April 27, 2021 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on April 27, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers, Palmer, Alaska. Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

Edna DeVries, Mayor 
Julie Berberich 
Richard W. Best (participated telephonically) 
Steve Carrington 

Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor 
Brian Daniels 
Jill Valerius (participated telephonically)

 
Staff in attendance were the following: 
 
John Moosey, City Manager 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
Michael Gatti, City Attorney (participated telephonically) 
Cynthia Cartledge, City Bond Attorney (participated 
telephonically) 

Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
Chris Nall, Public Works Director 
Kara Johnson, Deputy City Clerk 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda 
a. Action Memorandum No. 21-027: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a 

New Lease Agreement with Michael J. Meekin dba Meekins Air Service and Diane M. Meekin for 
a New Lease on Lease Lot 28, Block 3, Palmer Municipal Airport Needed for the Purchase of 
Jeremy Gallagher’s Hangar 

b. Action Memorandum No. 21-028: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter into 
a One-Year Contract with Alaska Sure Seal Inc., in an Amount Not to Exceed $99,450.00, for 
Road Striping and Crack Sealing of City Streets for 2021 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
a. March 23, 2021, Regular Meeting 

 
Mayor DeVries requested National Day of Prayer Proclamation be moved from Mayor’s Report to 
Communications and Appearance Requests on the Agenda. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve the Agenda, Consent Agenda, and Minutes 
Moved by: Devries 

Seconded by: Best 
 

  



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 7 
 

Primary Amendment #1: To Move F.3.a. to E.4. on the Agenda 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Berberich 
Vote: 6 Yes/1 Absent (Combs) 

Action: Motion Carried 
 

Vote on Motion: To Approve the Agenda, Consent Agenda, and Minutes as Amended 
Vote: 6 Yes/1 Absent (Combs) 

Action: Motion Carried 
 
Deputy Mayor Combs joined the meeting at 7:09 p.m. 
 
E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 

1. Update by Alaska State Fair CEO Jerome Hartel or Director of Corporate and Community Partnerships 
Kelly Larson 

 
Mr. Jerome Hartel, Alaska State Fair CEO, gave an update on how the 2021 State Fair was progressing. 
 

2. Update on Great Alaska Aviation Gathering by Alaska Airmen’s Association Executive Director Abby 
Austin 

 
Ms. Abby Austin, Alaska Airmen’s Association Executive Director, spoke on how the change of location 
provided so many more opportunities for the Air Show, the Show & Shine Event for the airplanes, new hands-
on displays for youth, and the multiple locations of the event. 
 
Mr. Steven Ratcliff, Alaska Airmen’s Association President, thanked the city for their support of the event and 
future efforts. 
 

3. Presentation of Proclamation Declaring May as Bike Month 
 
Mayor Devries read and presented a proclamation to Council Member Berberich, Backcountry Bike and Ski 
Owner, in observance of National Bike Month. 
 

4. National Day of Prayer Proclamation 
 
Mayor DeVries read and presented a proclamation to Brandon Lupie, Real Life Church Social Media 
Coordinator, in observance of National Day of Prayer. 
 
F. REPORTS 

1. City Manager’s Report 
a. Fair Parade Memorandum of Agreement 

 
City Manager Moosey reported on city wide clean-up event, looking into noise volume permits due to 
complaints, and requested to postpone the Executive Session on the Agenda. 
 

2. City Clerk’s Report 
 
City Clerk Alley reported on 2020 Elections ballot mistake and what it would take to rectify the mistake. 
 

3. Mayor’s Report 
a. National Day of Prayer Proclamation 
b. Older Adults Month Proclamation 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 7 
 

 
Mayor Devries read and presented a proclamation to the Mat-Su Senior Services in observance of Older 
Adults Month. 
 

4. City Attorney’s Report 
 
None. 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr. Mike Chmielewski spoke on the city’s need to expand local bike routes. 
 
H. PUBLIC HEARING 

1. Ordinance No. 21-003: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 5.32 Definitions, Enacting 5.32.030 
Standards for Marijuana Businesses, and Enacting 5.32.040 Marijuana Businesses License Review 

 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Action Memorandum No 21-005. 
 
Ms. Jillyan Hendrickson spoke in favor of Ordinance No. 21-003. 
 
Ms. Heather Orcaly spoke against Ordinance No. 21-003. 
 
Hearing no objection from Council, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 
 
City Manager Moosey and Community Development Director Hanson provided the staff report and fielded 
questions from Council. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Ordinance No. 21-003 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Berberich 
 

Motion to Postpone: To Postpone Ordinance No. 21-003 and Send to Board of 
Economic Development for their Recommendation 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: 3 Yes/4 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

 
Primary Amendment #1: Add Library to 5.32.030(c) making 6 

Moved by: Carrington 
Seconded by: Best 

Vote: 3 Yes/4 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

 
Motion to Call the 

Question: 
 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Berberich 

Vote: 4 Yes/3 No (Best, Carrington, DeVries) 
Action: Motion Failed for Lack of two-thirds Vote 

 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 7 
 

Primary Amendment #3: To Allow No More Than Two Establishments, Based on Current 
Population of Below 6,000 and Use Same Requirements as 
Liquor License of 2,500 Population per License 

Moved by: DeVries 
Seconded by: Best 

Vote: 3 Yes/4 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

 
Vote on Motion: To Approve Ordinance No. 21-003  

Vote: 4 Yes/3 No (Best, Carrington, DeVries) 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
Mayor DeVries called a recess at 8:15 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 8:30 p.m. 
 

2. Ordinance No. 21-004: Amending Palmer Municipal Code to Add Retail Marijuana Establishments 
as a Permitted Use in Chapters 17.08 Definitions, 17.30 Central Business District, and 17.32 
Commercial General and Adding Marijuana Cultivation, Testing and Manufacturing Facilities 
Establishments as a Permitted Use in Chapters 17.36 Industrial and 17.57 Agricultural 

 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Ordinance No. 21-004. Seeing no one come forward and hearing 
no objection from the Council, Mayor Devries closed the public hearing. 
 
City Manager Moosey provided the staff report and fielded questions from Council. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Ordinance No. 21-004 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Valerius 
 

Primary Amendment #1: To Remove Retail Marijuana from the Central Business District 
Overlay 

Moved by: Carrington 
Seconded by: Best 

Vote: 3 Yes/4 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

 
Vote on Motion: To Approve Ordinance No. 21-004 

Vote: 4 Yes/3 No (Best, Carrington, DeVries) 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
3. Resolution No. 21-015: Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Subdivision Agreement with 

Variances to Required Public Improvements for Subdivision Development as Outlined in Palmer 
Municipal Code Chapter 12.12 (Quasi-Judicial Hearing) 

 
City Manager Moosey and Public Works Director Nall provided the staff report and fielded questions from 
Council. 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-015. 
 
Ms. Connie Yoshimura requested the City Council to postpone the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-015 
due to the subdivision’s engineer not being available. 
 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 7 
 

Mr. Erik Anderson stated he would give his opinion at the next meeting on Resolution No. 21-015. 
 
Mr. Gregory Heathe spoke in favor of Resolution No. 21-015. 
 
Hearing no objection from Council, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 
 

Motion to Postpone: To Postpone Resolution No. 21-015 to Date Arranged by the 
City Clerk  

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
4. Resolution No. 21-016: Accepting and Appropriating the 2021 State of Alaska High Visibility Click 

It or Ticket Enforcement Grant 402PT-21-06-FA(A)-8 in the Amount of $3,120.00 to be used for High 
Visibility Seatbelt Enforcement Activities by the Palmer Police Department 

 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-016. Seeing no one come forward and hearing 
no objection from the Council, Mayor Devries closed the public hearing. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-016 
Moved by: Best 

Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 

5. Resolution No. 21-017: Accepting a Loan from the Alaska Clean Water Fund (State Revolving 
Fund) in an amount not to exceed $8,052,000.00 to Provide Interim Financing as Required by the 
United States Department of Agriculture, Rural Development Loan/Grant Program, for the 
Engineering, Construction, and Installation of Secondary Clarifiers at the Palmer Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Facility 

 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-017. Seeing no one come forward and hearing 
no objection from the Council, Mayor Devries closed the public hearing. 
 
City Manager Moosey provided the staff report and fielded questions from Council. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-017 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Carrington 
 

  



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 7 
 

Primary Amendment #1: To Amend Summary Statement of Resolution No. 21-017 to 
Read: the Palmer City Council Hereby Accepts the Loan From 
the Alaska Clean Water Fund, Administered by Alaska 
Department of Environmental Conservation, in the Amount not 
to Exceed $8,052,000 and Authorizes the City Manager to 
Negotiate and Execute a Loan Agreement which Secures 
Repayment of Such Loan; Loan Proceeds Shall Be Used to Pay 
Costs of Engineering, Constructing and Installing Secondary 
Clarifiers at the City of Palmer Wastewater Treatment Facility 
and Related Expenses. Notwithstanding, such Authorization is 
in All Respects Subject to the City Council’s Authorization to 
Issue a Utility Revenue Bond to Evidence Payment of the Loan. 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Combs 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
Vote on Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-017 as Amended 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Action Memorandum No. 21-025: Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of 
$2,500.00 to Who Let the Girls Out Supporting the 2021 Event (Pending Motions) 

 
Action Memorandum No. 21-025 was brought forth from April 13, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting. 
 
City Manager Moosey provided the staff report and fielded questions from Council. 
 

Motion to Postpone: To Postpone Action Memorandum No. 21-025 Indefinitely 
Moved by: Berberich 

Seconded by: Combs 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 

Vote on Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-025 
Vote:  

Action: Failed Due to Postponement 
 
J. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Action Memorandum No. 21-029: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Five-
Year Cooperative Fire Protection Agreement with the State of Alaska to Provide Fire Suppression 
Response and Assistance to the Division of Forestry with Regards to Wildland Firefighting 
Emergencies 

 
Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-029 

Moved by: Berberich 
Seconded by: Valerius 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: April 27, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes Page 7 of 7 
 

K. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances 

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be 
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer 
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session) 

 
City Manager Moosey stated due to no new news, the Executive Session was not needed at this time. 
 
L. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 
City Clerk Alley reported Resolution No. 21-015 public testimony, Resolution No. 21-015 Public Works Director 
Reports, and Resolution No. 21-017 update flyer, were Items Placed on the Table (see official meeting packet 
for items placed on the table). 
 
M. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr. Erik Anderson thanked the Council for passing Resolution No. 21-017. 
 
N. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Berberich, Daniels, and Valerius requested City Clerk Alley to bring forth legislation to amend 
Resolution No. 20-010 to match what was put on the 2020 city elections ballot. 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 10:13 p.m. 
 
Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 
_______________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 





  
 

 
 
  

   
May 17, 2021 

 
 Heidi Hedberg, Director of Public Health 
 Alaska Department of Health and Social Services 
 3601 C Street, Suite 756 
 Anchorage, AK 99503 
 
 Dear Ms. Hedberg, 
 

This letter is in support of the provision of CDC Community-Driven COVID-19 
funds from the State of Alaska Department of Health and Social Services as a 
direct grant to Mat-Su Health Foundation (MHSF) on behalf of the communities 
that would be receiving the services.  The City of Palmer is requesting to divert 
the allocated funds of $246,343.15 to the Mat-Su Health Foundation.  The local 
government is in support of this arrangement in recognition of the jurisdictional 
complexity in the Mat-Su Borough and the desire to execute these funds 
expeditiously for community benefit.   

The Mat-Su Health Foundation will be using these funds at the communities’ 
request and on their behalf.  The requirements for the funding as a grant to the 
Mat-Su Health Foundation would be the same as the requirements would have 
been of the communities if they were signing on to the funding as a Memorandum 
of Agreement to the city/borough directly.  The period of performance would be 
through June 30, 2022.  The purpose of this grant is to implement community-
driven strategies that will increase access to COVID-19 testing in the community, 
build capacity to increase access to COVID-19 vaccine in the community, and 
implement strategies that decrease health inequities, as well as other COVID-19 
related recovery and prevention strategies.   

The Mat-Su Health Foundation shares ownership in Mat-Su Regional Medical 
Center and invests hospital profits back into the Mat-Su community in the form of 
grants and scholarships to improve the health and wellness of Alaskans living in 
Mat-Su.  The purpose of this grant is aligned with the mission of the MSHF and as 
a non-profit tax-exempt 501 c3 organization, the Mat-Su Health Foundation 
provides community benefit for all Mat-Su residents.  As needed, the Mat-Su 
Health Foundation can provide reporting on the distribution of these funds within 
each locality.   

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
John Moosey 
City Manager  

John Moosey 
City Manager 
 
 
City of Palmer 
231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645-6952 
(907) 761-1317 
E-mail: jmoosey@palmerak.org 
www.palmerak.org 
 





 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

A PROCLAMATION HONORING MEMORIAL DAY 2021 
 
 
WHEREAS, each year, Memorial Day serves as a reminder to honor the men and women of our country who 
have fallen while serving in the US military; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1868, Major General John Logan called for nationwide Remembrance Day to pay tribute to 
those who gave their lives defending our country; and 
 
WHEREAS, the resolution approved by Congress on May 11, 1950, called to set aside the Memorial Day as 
a day of prayer for all fallen heroes, for a peaceful and brighter future for generations to come; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is our duty to remember our brave warriors and their heroic fight for security of our land and 
freedom. We must pledge that their sacrifice will not go in vain or be forgotten. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS PROCLAIMED by the mayor and city council of the city of Palmer, hereby 
recognize May 31, 2021, as Memorial Day and encourage residents of Palmer honor with a moment of silence 
for our fallen heroes. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and cause the seal of the city of Palmer to be affixed 
on this 11th day of May, 2021. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
 
 ________________________________ 
       Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 





1

Norma Alley

From: Sid Shell <leonashell@unrutted.com>
Sent: Monday, May 10, 2021 7:07 PM
To: Norma Alley
Subject: Council Meeting Testimony

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Hello Council Members, 
 
Thank you so very much for listening and honoring the residents of Palmers concerns.  It shows that your heart is to help 
our community, and our family greatly appreciates you. 
 
I would like to voice our families concern regarding the Council Meeting on 5.11.2021; in particular regarding the "Police 
Advisory Board" Proposal.  Our family does our very best to be neutral in others beliefs and honor their point of view 
because it is important to them.  The voices and feelings of Mat‐Su Moms for social justice are very valid.   
 
And so are ours.   
 
The word advisory, according to the Webster dictionary, means "having or consisting in the power to make 
recommendations BUT not to take action to enforce them."  so if the "board" is enacted, how far will this go?   
 
Our families (through out the entire Mat‐Su Valley) are concerned that if this board was allowed and approved it is 
telling our current & future generations that those who are to protect our families and communities are invalid and 
untrustworthy, even though they are held to such standards by our state; even though they are trained by our state; 
even though it is a long process that they go through from application, to training, to graduating, and then to having the 
right to wear a badge from our state, so how far does this go?  Is our state, those who train and badge our Police 
Officers now untrustworthy and valid?  As the Palmer Council, are you untrustworthy and invalid?  We think not, but this 
is the kind of message that is being sent if this Police Advisory Board is allowed to our communities and future 
generations. 
 
The founding fathers of our incredible and Set Apart Country say in the Declaration of America that there may be a time 
for The People to break away and have its own guard; hopefully this time hasn't come if the State of Alaska and the 
District of Palmer is to untrustworthy and invalid for our community and families. 
 
Another concern is that this will take valuable resources from Palmer based on the unnecessary agenda of Mat‐Su Moms 
for Social Justice;  in their FB post https://www.facebook.com/msm4sj/photos/a.337623667649256/394392558639033 
it states, "that this is a step in the right direction" to "end the systemic racism that is entrenched in our state" which our 
family and friends do believe there is an issue with racism, but it also doesn't start with the Police in any way.    
The root is always a heart issue of an individual. 
 
I'll share one more of many other concerns, it is that by allowing this board you'd be creating the general idea to our 
Respectful Police Officers that they are to be punished and strictly controlled for not doing anything wrong themselves; 
in a relationship, this would be considered toxic and urged for the victim to leave, but Palmer would be telling our 
officers that it's okay to stay, even though they are being abused mentally and emotionally because of the stigma.   
 
 



2

All of this is showing our children that Authority & State cannot be trusted, abuse is okay, and that their own heart 
issues as individuals is not something that should be addressed, but instead control others to get their goal met.     
 
This is a very important and pressing matter.   
 
I believe as a whole you all do have our communities and families at heart.  I ask that you do take your time here, and 
consider the long term, big picture consequences that allowing this will cause.   
Godspeed and God Bless. 
 
Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-015 Page 1 of 3 

City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-015 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Subdivision Agreement with Variances to Required Public 
Improvements for Subdivision Development as Outlined in Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 12.12 
 
Agenda of: April 27, 2021 – 1st Public Hearing 
 May 25, 2021 – 2nd Public Hearing 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
√  Community Development 

  April 8, 2021 
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-015 Page 2 of 3 

Attachment(s):  
1. Resolution No. 21-015 
2. Staff Report – Departmental Memos 
3. Variance Application 
4. Cedar Park Supplemental Information – Provided by Cedar Park LLC 
5. Staff Report Handouts from April 27, 2021 
6. Public Written Testimony 
7. Applicant’s Additional Material 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Cedar Park LLC is requesting the city to consider granting variances to required development standards for 
construction of subdivisions.  The proposed development is the remaining parcels of land in the Cedar Hills 
Subdivision Unit No. 1 & No. 2 and is approximately 90 acres. Development standards are established in Palmer 
Municipal Code (PMC) Title 12, Streets, Sidewalks and Public Places. PMC Chapter 12.12 requires developers to 
install public improvements when developing a subdivision, however City Council may grant a variance to 
provisions of these regulations.  City Council’s decision to grant these variances shall include in its findings the 
specific reasons for its action and shall also record its reasons and actions in its minutes, based on the following: 

A. That there are such circumstances or conditions affecting said property that the strict application of 
the provisions of this chapter would clearly be impractical, unreasonable or undesirable to the general public.  In 
such cases, the subdivider shall first state his reasons in writing to the specific provision or requirement involved 
and submit them to the city council. The subdivider bears the burden of proof. 

B. That the granting of the specific variance will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to 
other property in the area in which said property is situated. 

C. That the granting of the specific variance will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose 
of this title or the comprehensive plan. 
 
Cedar Park has requested five variances to development standards. The table below outlines the Variance Request 
and the process for evaluating each appeal to development standards.  City Council will be adjudicating Variance 
Request No. 2 and No 5. 
 

Variance 
Request 

Item Appeal Process & 
Procedure 

Hearing 
Administrator and 

Type 

Date 

1 Cul-de-sac Diameter PMC 15.70.010 City Manager – 
Hearing Examiner 

April 20, 2021 

2 Street Lighting PMC 12.12.080 Public Hearing – City 
Council 

April 27, 2021  

3 Onsite Sewer and Water PMC 13.08.030 City Manager - 
Administrative 

TBD 

4 Fire Hydrants PMC 15.70.010 City Manager – 
Hearing Examiner 

April 20, 2021 

5 Curb and Gutter PMC 12.12.080 Public Hearing – City 
Council  

April 27, 2021  

 
Chapter 6 Land Use, Goal 2 Objective B of the Palmer Comprehensive Plan outlines the cities need to provide 
areas for single family housing appealing to the upper end of the housing market.  It further states that larger lot 
residential development with high-end single-family units may be more practical in certain areas where public 
utilities are uneconomical to provide.  The cost of upgrading water pressure in the Cedar Park development is 
estimated at $500,000.00 for a booster station. 
 
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-015 Page 3 of 3 

There have been instances where the city granted a variance to development standards for subdivisions. The 
Hidden Ranch subdivision has been granted a variance for curb and gutter. 
 
 Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 21-015 to grant Cedar Park LLC requested variances to subdivision development standards 
for Cedar Park Subdivision 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-015 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 21-015 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Subdivision 
Agreement with Variances to Required Public Improvements for Subdivision Development as 
Outlined in Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 12.12 
 

WHEREAS, City Council establishes and defines the public improvements which will be required under 
agreement to be constructed by a subdivider and to outline the procedures and responsibilities of subdivider in 
Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 12.12; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City requires every subdivider to install streets, curb and gutters, public utilities, provide 

adequate drainage system, traffic control devises, sidewalks (when required) and street lighting in accordance 
with standards adopted by the city; and 

 
WHEREAS, Palmer Municipal Code Section 12.12.080 grants City Council the authority to grant variances 

to development standards for subdivisions that it deems necessary, or which it finds desirable from the 
standpoint of public interest; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council shall include its findings the specific reasons and actions in its minutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City has received from Cedar Park LLC a request for variances to development standards 

for curb and gutters and street lighting; and 
 
WHEREAS, the adopted Palmer Comprehensive Plan Chapter 6 Goal 2 supports maintaining high quality 

residential neighborhoods; promotes development of a range of desirable new places to live in Palmer. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the city manager to 

enter into a subdivision agreement with Cedar Park LLC and grant variances to development standards for the 
installation of curb and gutter and substitute street lighting for mandatory driveway lighting. 
  

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

1st Public Hearing Date: April 27, 2021 
2nd Public Hearing Date: May 25, 2021 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Resolution No. 21-015 Page 2 of 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby finds that there are 
such circumstances of conditions affecting the property that the strict application of the provisions of this chapter 
would clearly be impractical, unreasonable or undesirable to the general public. That granting of the specific 
variances will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the property in the area in which property 
is situated. The granting the specific variance will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of 
Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 12.12 or the Palmer Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 
 
 
 
 

________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 



City Manager

Variance  Request  to Development  Standards
Staff  Report  to  City  Council

la?l L,,ffi J 'tl

PART  I.  GENERAL  INFORMATION

I Location:
I Cedar HLS #2 PH 1 RSB T/A-1 TRACT 1, Cedar HLS #2, PH 1 RSB T/A-1 TRACT 2,

CEDAR HLS #2 PH I RSB T/A-1 TRACT 3, CEDAR HLS #2 PH 1 TRACT J
i Site  Address: No acldresses  assigned

 Applicant  & Owner: Cedar Park-Properties  LLC -Natalie Travers-Smyre
, Public  Hearing  Date: April  13,  2013

' Notification  Requirements: iIn  accordance  with XXX
' Request:  Cedar Park Properties is proposing to develop 83 Single Family Homes and two open space
tracts, by a five-phase  Master Plan. Cedar Park Properties LLC has requested the city consider  granting
five variances to development  standards  that are established in Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) Title 12

 Streets, Sidewalks, and Public Places and ntle  13 Public Places. A variance  to the PMC may be granted
by a vote of the Palmer City Council when, through  finding of facts, determine  that  such a development
is necessary or which the council finds desirable from the standpoint  of public  interest.

PART  II.  BACKGROUND

Site  Information:  This parcel was annexed into the City in 1976 as a part of 160 acres tract. In
1979, a master plan was proposed creating Tracts A, B and C, Northgate Subdivision. It was
subsequently  changed to Cedar Hills Subdivision Unit No. 1.

In 1999, a new master plan was platted,  creating Tract A, Cedar Hills Subdivision Unit No. 2, Phase
1, Plat No. 2000-66, For the entire acreage of Northgate  Subdivision and the name was subsequently
changed to Cedar Hills.

Parcel  Size:  Total  Acreage  90.19

CEDAR HLS #2 PH 1 RSB T/A-1 TRACT 1-11.65  acres
CEDAR HLS #2 PH I RSB T/A-1 TRACT 2-7.67  acres
CEDAR HLS #2 PH 1 RSB T/A-1 TRACT 3-69.94  acres
CEDAR HLS #2 PH 1 TRACT J -0.93  acres

Existing  Zoning:  R-1 Single Family Residential District

Surroundmg  Land  Uses:

!HfNjii
I :! t m Zoning Land  Use for  surrounding  areas

* m m m

North Outside City- Limits Residential and Agriculture  -
South R-1 Single-Family  resi-dences  and  Agriculture

East Outside City Limits
and R-1

Mix-ed residential  and  commerc-ial  uses

Single  family  residences

West Outside City Limits Sing-le-Family  residences

1

P:\Subdivision  Applications\Council  Packet\Staff  Report  Cedar Park Variance  Request.docx



Vicinty  Map

Background  Information:  These parcels of land were apart of North Gate subdivision  master
plan established in May 1979. The master plan called for 7 phases, 294 lots with lots ranging

from 8000 to 11000 square feet. In 1984 North Gate was renamed to Cedar Hills and the borough

approved a plat with phase I, II and a portion of III  of the North Gate Subdivision. Approximately
130 lots were development over  15 years.

In June 1999, another master plan was developed for the remaining parcels of the Cedar  Hills

Subdivision. Cedar Hills Unit # 2 Phase I of the 1999 master plan was the oniy phase platted  and

developed No additional phases of the master plan were platted and 1999 master  lapsed.

Between Cedar Hills Unit 1 & 2 there are 125 Single family homes. The platted subdivision is fully
built out. Cedar Hills Unit 1 & 2 are served with city water and sewer.

Considerations:

Required public improvements by every subdivider must be in accordance with the conditions and

specifications outlined in PMC 12.12.025 through 12.12.070. City Council may grant variances  to
development standards that it deems necessary or which it finds desirable for the standpoint of

public interest. Variance circumstances and conditions are established in PMC 12.12.080 A, B

and C. Required public improvements include street paving with curb and gutter, drainage,
sidewalk when required, streetlighting,  traffic control devises - signs, erosion and sedimentation
plan, water and sanitary sewer. Additionally, the developer has requested a variance  from
International Fire Code (IFC) for a 96' Diameter cul-de-sac the variance process is different for
this development standard.

2

P:\Subdivision  Applications\Council  Packet\Staff  Report  Cedar  Park  Variance  Request.docx



City of Palmer
Public  Works  Department

rs; m +] 12 41I
'ffljrl T"a fflS

Mail: 231 W. Evergreen  Ave.,
Palmer,  Alaska  99645-6952

Location:  1316  S. Bonanza  St.

www.cityofpalmer.org

MEMORANDUM  FOR  RECORD

SUBJECT:  City  of  Palmer  Public  Works  comment/response  to Cedar  Park

Properties,  LLC  subdivision  permit  and  variance  requests

The  City  of  Palmer  Public  Works  Director  and  Superintendent  have  reviewed  the

permit  and  variance  requests  and provide  the  following  commenUresponses

Variance  Request  #'l (cul-de-sac  diameter):  IAW  Palmer  Development

Standards,  Division  1000,  Section  1004,  para  1004.5.

"All  cul-du-sacs  shall  have  a minimum  diameter  of  eighty-five  feet  of  pavement

(front  of  curb  to front  of  curb)."

Public  Works  therefore  ""  with  the  request  to install  cul-du-sacs  with  an

85ft  diameter.

However,  if this  request  conflicts  with  a newer,  more  updated  requirement

adopted  by the  City,  IFC  2015,  as noted  by the  requestor,  it is likely  in the  City's

best  interest  to impose  the  more  restrictive  in nature  requirement,  for  safety

reasons.

Variance  Request  #2 (street  liqhtinq):  IAW  Palmer  Development  Standards,

Division  1000,  Section  1001,  para  1001.2  Development  Standards

"The  Developer  shall  provide  roads,  curb  and  gutter,  sidewalks,  drainage,  etc.  as

provided  herein  and  in accordance  with  the  Palmer  Municipal  Code."

With  reference  to Street  Lighting,  Palmer  Development  Standards,  Division  1000,

Section  1004,  para  1004."1  and  Division  '1000,  Section  1005  provide  detailed

requirements  and  instructions  to the  developer.  Section  1005  describes  luminaire

height  (30ff  residential),  wind  load,  spacing  requirements  (max  300ft),  etc..

Reference  to requestors  comment  that  PMC  12.12.065  does  not  mention  the

type  of street  lighting  required.  The  requestor  should  review  both  the  Palmer

Development  Standards,  Division  1000,  Section  1004,  para  1004.1  and  Section

1005  (in its entirety),  as well  as, Palmer  Standard  Specifications,  Division  80 (in

its entirety),  and  Division  90, detailed  picture  sheets  80-19  and  80-20.

For  this  variance  request,  Public  Works  "non-concurs"  with  granting  this  variance

as the  developers  proposed  lighting  does  not  meet  the  City's  established

standards  as detailed  in Palmer  Municipal  Code,  Palmer  Standard  Specifications

or Palmer  Design  Standards

Variance  Request  #3 (onsite  water  and  sewer):  Reference  water,  IAW  PMC

13.16.025Watersupplysystem,para2states:"SubjecttoPMC13.08.030  when

each  lot within  a proposed  subdivision  has  an area  of  20,000  square  feet  or



more,  connection  to the  city  water  system  is not  required,  provided  the  developer

proves  to the  city  manager  that  the  Alaska  Department  of  Environmental

Conservation  has  approved  on-site  water  supply  systems  for  each  lot."

Referenced  PMC  13.08.030  (above)  adds  no further  requirements  to  the

requirements  from  PMC  13.16.025.

Reference  sewer,  IAW  PMC  13.16.030  Sanitary  sewer  system,  para  2 states:

"Subject  to PMC  13.08.030  when  each  lot within  a proposed  subdivision  has  an

area  of  20,000  square  feet  or more,  connection  to the  city  sewer  system  is not

required,  provided  the  developer  proves  to the  city  manager  that  the  Alaska

Department  of  Environmental  Conservation  has  approved  on-site  wastewater

supply  systems  for  each  lot."

Refenced  PMC  13.08.030  (above)  adds  the  following  additional  requirement.

"Regarding  sewer,  the  city  manager  shall  not  grant  such  a waiver  unless  the

owner  (1 ) has  proved  to the  city  manager  that  the  construction  and  operation  of

the  on-site  wastewater  system  has  been  approved  by the  Department  of

Environmental  Conservation;  and  (2) the  owner  has  entered  into  an agreement

with  the  city  under  which  the  owner  agrees  to regular  maintenance  of  the  on-site

wastewater  system.  The  agreement  with  the  city  must  run  with  the  land  and  must

be duly  recorded.  All costs  of maintenance,  inspection,  recording,  etc.,  will  be at

the  owner's  expense."

Strictly  considering  Code  requirements  as detailed  above  for  this  request,  Public

Works  would  ""  with  approving  the  request,  provided  the  developer  proves

ADEC  as approved  individual  well  and  on-site  sewage  system  for  each  lot and

enters  into  a septic  maintenance  agreement  with  the  City  for  each  lot.

Substantial  consideration  should  be taken  with  reference  to approving  such  a

request.  This  decisions  impact  on future  subdivision  development  within  the  City

limits,  its impact  on City  utilities  (from  additional  maintenance  requirements  to

potential  lost  revenue,  etc.)  and  other  considerations  should  all be discussed  and

thoroughly  thought  through  before  approving.

Variance  Request  #4  (fire  hydrants):  Public  Works  has  no comment  reference

this  variance  request.

Variance  Request  #5  (curb  and  gutter):  IAW  Palmer  Development  Standards,

Division  1000,  Section  1001,  para  1001.2  Development  Standards

"The  Developer  shall  provide  roads,  curb  and  gutter,  sidewalks,  drainage,  etc.

as provided  herein  and  in accordance  with  the  Palmer  Municipal  Code."

For  this  variance  request,  Public  Works  "non-concurs"  with  granting  this  variance

as the  developers  proposed  variance  from  curb  and  gutter  does  not  meet  the

City's  established  standards  as detailed  in Palmer  Municipal  Code  (12.12.035),

Palmer  Standard  Specifications  or Palmer  Design  Standards.

It should  be noted  that  previous  subdivision  developments  have  been  granted

this  waiver  in this  past.

Chris  Nall

Director  of  Public  Work



ffi&ld-@ $3 i 1 ffll
If !-.  ""'l 7-, :- l' :m'

/i

March  23, 2021

PALMER  FIRE  & RESCUE

Chad Cameron
Fire  Chief

645  E. Cope  lndustrial  Way

Phone:  907-745-3709

Direct:  907-745-3854

Fax: 907-745-5443

Cedar  Park, LLC

561 E. 36'h Avenue,  Suite  200

Anchorage,  AK 99503

RE: Palmer  Fire & Rescue  Response  to the  Cedar  Park  Properties,  LLC

subdivision  variance  requests

The  Palmer  Fire & Rescue  Fire Chief  has reviewed  the  permit  and  variance

requests.  Comments  made  are consistent  with  the  City  of  Palmer  Municipal

Code  15.44.010  in which  the  2015  International  Fire Code  was  adopted.

Variance  Request  V-I,  96-foot  Diameter  Cul  De  Sac

2015  IFC, Appendix  D103.4  Dead  Ends

Dead-end  fire  apparatus  access  roads  in excess  of  150  shall  be  provided  with

width  and  turnaround  provisions  in accordance  with  Table  D103.4.

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  concurs  with  the  2015  International  Fire Code's

requirement  of  96 feet  for  the  purposes  of  safety  of  apparatus,  personnel  and

personal  property.

Dead  ends  require  a fire  vehicle  turnaround  when  they  exceed  150  feet. The

purpose  of  this  code  is that  backing  a large  apparatus,  such  as a ladder  truck  or

fire  engine,  over  150  feet  can be especially  challenging  and dangerous.  One

professional  publication  (Fire  Apparatus  & Emergency  Equipment)  states

backing  fire  apparatus  is the  number  one  type  of  accidents  with  fire  apparatus.

These  accidents  can cause  considerable  damage  to the  apparatus,  personal

property  or personnel  and  are avoidable.

Rererencing  the  variance  request  statement,

"the  reason  for  the  96'radjus  as  foundin  the  model  code  oflFCis  also

to accommodate  the  turning  radius  of  the  /argestfire  apparatus,  which

are  typica/lyfoundin  large  metropolitan  areas  with  high  rise  buildings...

Thissubdivision  willbesingle-familyhousing.  Nothigh-rise

construction  "



Palmer  Fire & Rescue  operates  and maintains  several  large  apparatuses,

including  a 47.8  foot-long  aerial  platform  with  pumping  capabilities.  This

apparatus  is routinely  utilized  on many  single-family  housing  structure  fires  to

reach  the roof  to create  vertical  ventilation  when  necessary.  Many  of the

suppression  apparatus  available  to Palmer  Fire & Rescue have large  turning
radiuses.

JQ)/J ? m 1

Yffl--... -"i '  -.. I

ReFerencing  the  variance  request  statement,

'All  of  the  cul  de sacs  in CedarPark  wi/lbe  constructed  to those  same

standards  that  cul  de sacs  are  built  throughoutAlaska  and  throughout
the  Matanuska-Susitna  Borough."

Title  13 of the  Alaska  Administrative  Code, Chapter  50.025  adopted  the 2012

Edition  of the International  Fire Code including  Appendix  D. Appendix  D of the

2012 Edition  of the International  Fire Code is congruent  with  the 2015 version,

requiring  cul-de-sacs  on dead-end  fire  access  roads  exceeding  150  feet  in

length  to have a minimum  radius  of 96 feet.

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  11non-concurs"  with  granting  this  variance  as the

developers  proposed  85 foot  cul-de-sac's  do not meet  the 2015  International

Fire Code as adopted  by the City of Palmer  in Municipal  Code 15.44.010.

Tables  D103.1  and D103.4  From the 2015 Edition  or the Internationa  Fire Core
are provided  below  for  your  convenience.

Table  D103.1  -  Dead-end  Fire Apparatus  Access  Road Turnaround

26'

96-FOOT  DIAMETER
CUI-DE-SAC

60'

2el' R
TYP.

60-FOO"l'Y'

so'

26' R
TY'P.

2f

26'

20'
20'

MINIMUM  CtEARANCE
AROUND  A F-IRE

HYDRANT

20'

20'

120-FOOT  HAMMERHEAD ACCEPTABLEALTERNATIVE
TO 120-FOOT  HAMMERHEAD



Table  D103.4  -  Reauirements  for  Dead-end  Fire Aooaratus  Access  Roads

@f .ffi
A'  %
8  i
"?rt" "  a"a' "J" "-t%"a
'ke  B'f;.ailtS"

LENGTH

(feet)

WIDTH

(feet)
TURNAROUNDS  REQUIRED

0-150 20 None  required

151-500 20
120-foot  Hammerhead,  60-foot  'sY" or 96-foot  diameter

cul-de-sac  in accordance  with  Figure  D103.1

501-750 26
120-foot  Hammerhead,  60-foot  11Y" or 96-foot  diameter

cul-de-sac  in accordance  with  Figure  D103.1

Over  750 Special  approval  required

Variance  Request  V-2,  Street  Liqhts

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  has no comment  in reference  to this  variance  request.

Variance  Request  V-3,  On-Site  Water  and  Sewer

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  has no comment  in reference  to this  variance  request.

Variance  Request  V-4,  Fire  Hydrants

Applicable  Fire Codes  are referenced  below.  Comments  to the  specific  variance

request  are located  below  the  fire  codes  listed.

2015  IFC, Section  507.2,  Required  water  supply.

An  approved  watersupplycapable  o[supplying  the  required  waterflow

forfire  protection  shallbe  provided  to  premises  upon  which  facilities,

buildings  orportions  ofbuildings  are  hereafter  constructed  ormovedinto

or  within  the  jurisdiction.

a4

*l

2015  IFC, Section  507.2,  Type  of  water  supply.

A watersupp/yshallconsistofresetvoirs,  pressure  tanks,  e/evatedtanks,

watermains  orotherfixedsystems  capable  of  providing  the  required

waterflow.

2015  IFC, Section  507.5,  Fire hydrant  systems.

Fire  hydrantsystemsshall  comply  with  Sections  507.5.1  through

507.5.6.

2015  IFC, Section  507.5.1,  Where  required  (Fire  hydrants).

Where  a portion  of  the  facility  orbuilding  hereafter  constructed  or

movedinto  or  within  the  jurisdiction  is more  than  400  feetfrom  a

hydrant on a fire apparatus access road as measured by an approved
routearoundtheexteriorofabui/ding,  on-sitefirehydranbandmains

sha/lbe  provided  where  requiredby  the  fire  code  official.

Exceptions:

1. For  Group  R-3  and  Group  U occupancies,  the  distance  requirement

shall  be 600  feet.



2. Forbuildingsequippedthroughoutwithanapprovedautomatic

sprinklersystem  installedin  accordance  with  Section  903.3.1.1  or

903.3.1.2,  the  distance  requirementshallbe  600  feet.
l..-,... """"'1 ffi 7:' ifflfflfflffll

2015  IFC, Appendix  B105.1  0ne-  and two-family  dwellings.  Group  R-3 and R-4
buildinqs  and townhouses.

The minimum  fire-flowandfiowduration  requirements  forone-  andtwo-

ramilydwe/lings.  GroupR-3andR-4buildingsandtownhousesshallbe
asspecifiedin  Tab/esBl05.l(1)andBl05.l(2).

Table  B105.1(1)  REQUIRED  FIRE-FLOW  FOR  ONE-  AND  T\/\/O-FAMILY

DWELLINGS,  GROUP  R-3  AND  R-4  BUILDINGS  AND  TOWNHOUSES

FIRE-FLOW

CALCULATION

AREA(square

feet)

AUTOMATIC  SPRINKLER

SYSTEM(Design  Standard)

MINIMUM

FIRE-

FLOW(gallons

per  minute)

FLOW

DURATION(hours)

0-3,600 No automatic  sprinkler  system 1,000 1

3,601  and

greater
No automatic  sprinkler  system

Value  in Table

B105.1(2)

Duration  in Table

B105.1(2)at  the

required  fire-flow  rate

0-3,600

Section  903.3.1.3  of

the  International  Fire  Code  or

Section  P2904  or the  International

Residentia/  Code

500 1/2

3,601  and

greater

Section  903.3.1.3  of

the  InternationalFire  Code  or

Section  P2904  of  the  International

Residentia/  Code

1/2 value in
Table

B105.1(2)

1

For SI: 1 square foot = 0.0929 mz, 1 gallon per minute = 3.785 L/m.

'7-ma J
Referencing  the  variance  request  statement,

"We  have  carefully  designed  thissubdivision  so  thatneitherhydrants  nor

individualhomesprinklerswou/dberequired.  CedarParkhasaloop

roaddesignthatpromotessafetybyprovidingasecondaccess,  Its

designisintegratedwiththeexistingCedarHi/Issubdivision.  Wehave

also  provided  future  access  connection  points  forinterconnectivityand

even  more  accessible  when  the  adjoining  property  is  eventually

developed. Ifwedidnothavethesecondaccess/orseparatelythe

accessprovided[orfutureconnections,  wewou/dberequiredtoprovide

hydrant;  orsprinklers."



2015 IFC, Appendix D107.1 0ne-  and two-family  dweflings residential
developments.

Developments  of  one- or two-family  dwellings  where the number  of
dwelling  units  exceeds 30shal/  be provided  with two separate  and
approved  fire apparatus  access roads.
Exceptions:

1. Where there are more than 30 dwelling  units  on a single  public  or

I
'.' "

i..'s'!Pal

private  fire apparatus  access roadandal/  dwe//ing  units  are equipped

throughout  with an approvedautomaticsprinklersystem  in

accordance with Section 903.3.1.I,  903.3.1.2  or  903.3.1.3  of  the

InternationalFire  Code, accessfrom  two directionsshal/notbe
required.

The second apparatus  road is needed in case one access road for any reason
becomes unusable. The exception listed recognizes the effediveness  and
reliability  of properly designed and installed automatic  sprinkler  systems in
mitigating the need to have two access points. This exception does not negate
the water supply code requirement  for one- and two-family  dwellings.

The requirement  of having the water  supply (Fire hydrants)  is not affected by
having two fire apparatus access roads into the area. Installing  a fixed water
supply is still required.

m

2015 IFC, Section jAJ 104.8, Modifications.
Where there are practical  difficulties  involvedin  carrying  out  the provisions  of

this code, the fire code officialsha//have  the authority  to grantmodifications
forindividual  cases, provided  the fire code officialshall  firstfind  thatspecial
individualreason  makes the strictletter  of  this code impractical  and  the

modificationdoesnot/essenhea/th//ifeandfiresafetyrequiremerL;.  The
details  ofadion  granting  modifications  shal/  be recordedand  entered  in the
files  or  the departmentoffire  prevention

The fire code official may amend or make exceptions  to the code as needed to
respond to 11practicaJ difficulties"  in work on new or existing buildings.

Consideration  of a particular  difficulty  is to be based on the application  of the

owner and a demonstration  that  the intent  of the code is satisfied. This section

is not intended to allow a code provision to be set aside or ignored; rather, it is

intended to provide for the acceptance of equivalent  protedion

Following previous discussions with the developer  regarding the request to
modify or exempt  the water  supply requirement,  the Fire Chief was requested
to seek further  input from the State of Alaska Fire Marshal's office and the

Matanuska-Susitna  Borough. Conversations  have been conducted  with the local

and state-wide  experts with considerable  time administering  fire code  to
confirm the application  of the fire code. All experts contacted agreed with the
application  the fire code in the requested subdivision to require a fixed water

supply and fire hydrants. The following  experts were contaded:



Capital City Fire/Rescue Fire Chief Rich Etheridge
Capital City Fire/Rescue Fire Marshal Dan Jager
Matanuska-Susitna  Borough  Fire Marshal  Donald  Cuthbert

Matanuska-Susitna  Borough  Fire Service  Area  Assistant  Tara  Wade

City  of Palmer  Building  Inspector  David  Meneses

Anchorage  Fire Department  Fire Plan Reviewer  Mark  Panilo

Anchorage  Fire Department  Fire Suppression  Systems  Bart  Meinhardt

State  or Alaska  Fire Marshal's  Office  Building  Plans  Examiner  II  Timothy

Fisher

State  of  Alaska  Fire Marshal  Rich Boothby

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  'lnon-concurs"  with  granting  this  variance.  The

developer's  request  to not  include  a water  supply  or fire  hydrants  does  not

meet  the  2015  International  Fire Code  as adopted  by the  City  of  Palmer  in

Municipal  Code  15.44.010.

Variance  Request  V-5,  Curb  and  Gutter

Palmer  Fire & Rescue  has no comment  in reference  to this  variance  request.

r

C:
!  :: a

Chad  Cameron

Fire Chief

Palmer  Fire & Rescue











































































































































Hidden Ranch Loop & N. Esty Dr
• Due to frozen ditch line and lack of water infiltration, this

hydrant is completely inaccessible

• Currently not an accepted phase of this subdivision, but a
good example of what can happen.

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: PW Director Report Supplemental Material



Hidden Ranch Loop
• 4-6 inches of water over the road behind the truck.

• Driveway access and most of the front yard to the house on 
the left of photo is completely covered by water. 

• Utility boxes (electric, phone, cable, etc.) by trees are 
inaccessible due to standing ice and water.

• Over 90,000 gallons of water were pumped from this property
over 2 days because the ground was frozen, and water could 
not infiltrate. 

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: PW Director Report Supplemental Material



Subdivision South of the city limits w/o curb and gutter
• Standing water in ditch lines and over the entire road in areas

because the ground is still frozen and will not accept water
infiltration.

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: PW Director Report Supplemental Material



 
 
 

Public Written Testimony 

















1

Norma Alley

From: Patti Higgins <info@keytoalaska.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 20, 2021 4:53 PM
To: Norma Alley
Subject: Council Meeting Testimony
Attachments: image001.png

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Comments for the April 27, 2021, Council meeting regarding the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 
Park Subdivision, City of Palmer, Alaska. 
 
NAME: Patti Higgins 
PHONE: 907‐360‐2561 
ADDRESS: 9140 Granite Pl 
City, State, Zip: Anchorage, AK 99507 
Email: patti49er@gmail.com 
 
COMMENTS:  
The Cedar Park proposed Subdivision will be a tremendous boost to the economy of Palmer. 83 relatively large lots will 
help fill the enormous housing need both the Valley and Anchorage are currently experiencing. This high‐quality 
subdivision will improve the already great quality of life in Palmer and give businesses trying to recruit new employees 
an attractive talking point. The properties will also add to the Palmer tax base. I urge the council to consider these win‐
wins and work to give this subdivision a chance to be the attraction it could be.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
Patti 
 
 

The linked image cannot be displayed.  The file may have been moved, renamed, or deleted. Verify that the link points to the correct file and location.

 

  

Patti Higgins®, CRS, GRI, eCertified 

Realtor® 

Berkshire Hathaway HomeServices Alaska Realty 

 

C: 907-360-2561 



2

9140 Granite Pl 

Anchorage, AK 99507 

info@keytoalaska.com 

www.keytoalaska.com 

www.facebook.com/YourKeyToAlaska 





Cedar Park 
To:  Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 

held on April 27, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. for the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 

Park Subdivision, City of  Palmer Alaska: 

 

Name:  _______________________________________ 

Phone:   ______________________________________ 

Address:  _____________________________________ 

City, State, Zip:   ________________________________ 

Email:      ______________________________________ 

 

Comments: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Sincerely, 

________________________________________  Date: ____________________ 

 

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 2021 
With the subject line “Council Meeting Testimony” 

bth
Typewritten Text
Brian T. Harten, P.E. (907) 230-3992 PO Box 110358               Anchorage, AK 99511  bth@gci.net

bth
Typewritten Text

bth
Typewritten Text
As an engineer, and contractor, I have worked with Connie since the late 1980s and excavated  

bth
Typewritten Text
for custom homes in several of her fine subdivisions.  Connie knows the market, knows what her clients value,

bth
Typewritten Text
and this more often than not, reflects the overall values of the community as a whole.  Connie is not in this for

bth
Typewritten Text
short term gains, but in my opinion, to set the standard for responsible development and to build a history

bth
Typewritten Text
of successful developments to be proud of.  I am happy to answer any questions that you may have for me

bth
Typewritten Text
regarding this reference.

bth
Typewritten Text
April 18, 2021

bth
Typewritten Text
Brian T. Harten, P.E.

bth
Image





To: Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 
held on April 27, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. for the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 
Park Subdivision, City of Palmer Alaska: 

Name: C1:?;5ar7 L To;nes
Phone: ft2 ] t-/9 S - S: 5 0 i

Address: P-C?e �tfy- S 7 7

City, State, Zip: (L// fll'J:-r:-h 4 / ?-; 9qt �
Fl f 

Email: 5J en es @:5c1, ne± 

Comments: r,£-e.c //a ,.,�..a-,-N:/'?S fA aZ: fi�es £-.o/ f� r- {)cir., r:
,f?4 t--M $u h at-e Ccrn-t;t,1p.f� (L,!;-11,. � /2 '14 �aaltly 11115/e 
ft2Ml;i1 meu,££.1-/wdd« T/ie- luifd, ri1 n&,, w ;/ I pg ft1t: 5<L�t� % 

J: 
• r , 

$1<MtJkt-J f b/04,-1 hi ;,Ji< th'dlh1 ttzL Qc.071IM'J« Ue '-l 5CA. 1ft t11t�kll 11

Sincerely, 

t 

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 2021 
With the subject line "Council Meeting Testimony" 

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 1 of 6



Cedar Park 
To:  Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 

held on April 27, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. for the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 

Park Subdivision, City of  Palmer Alaska: 

Name:  _______________________________________ 

Phone:   ______________________________________

Address:  _____________________________________ 

City, State, Zip:   ________________________________ 

Email:      ______________________________________ 

Comments: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Sincerely, 

________________________________________ Date: ____________________ 

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 2021 
With the subject line “Council Meeting Testimony” 

DocuSign Envelope ID: FA16BA0D-E2BF-417A-A287-747C098565DF

Ive been in real estate for the last 8 years in the valley. The need for new housing in and around Palmer
 is very strong.  The cost to create new homes has risen to level builders have not seen in decades. I 
think the variances being requested are appropriate and reasonable. Overall they variences will make 
housing more affordable for Palmers soon to be new homeowners. I also think 80+ new homes within walking 
distance from the beautiful and special downtown Palmer will be a great boost to local business owners 
who have had a hard go of it the last 12 months due to Covid 19. I would be wonderful for them to see 
that their community is growing and the city council is looking out for them. I strongly support the 
variances and this development as a whole. 

4/27/2021

Palmer, AK, 99645

chadstigen@gmail.com

907-315-2249

7243 E Jim Cottrell Circle 

Chadwick Stigen

Chadwick Stigen

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 2 of 6



Cedar Park 
To:  Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 
held on April 27, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. for the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 
Park Subdivision, City of  Palmer Alaska: 

Name:  _______________________________________ 

Phone:   ______________________________________ 

Address:  _____________________________________ 

City, State, Zip:   ________________________________ 

Email:      ______________________________________ 

Comments: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Sincerely, 

________________________________________ Date: ____________________ 

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 2021 
With the subject line “Council Meeting Testimony” 

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 3 of 6

Joseph Heynen
Joseph Heynen

Joseph Heynen
(907) 723-1841

Joseph Heynen
832 S. Colony Way Ste A

Joseph Heynen
Palmer, AK 99645

Joseph Heynen
joeheynen@gmail.com

Joseph Heynen
I started my real estate career in the Mat-Su valley about 7 years ago. Before I began working with Connie Yoshimura on  

Joseph Heynen
a professional level at Berkshire Hathaway HomeServices - Alaska Realty, I knew about her from her well researched and written articles in  

Joseph Heynen
the news paper, and her reputation in the community as a developer with a conscious. - Someone who always takes into account

Joseph Heynen
the housing needs of the community, the aesthetics of the homes, the long term value of the properties, and the quality of life for the residents.  

Joseph Heynen
We are fast approaching a potential housing crisis in the Mat-Su Valley. Statistics show there is as little as 1 month or less of housing inventory 

Joseph Heynen
in many categories (a min of 6 months inventory is considered a “balanced market”) Many home buyers who would love to live and work and contribute

Joseph Heynen
to the tax base of the City of Palmer cannot find a home to purchase. The large private lots of the Cedar Park development will bring a diversity of 

Joseph Heynen
housing opportunities to many who are desperately searching. The sense of community Cedar Park will provide with shared green spaces, cul-de-sac streets, proximity to downtown Palmer, and pride of home ownership for those who hope to raise their families in a new home cannot be overstated. Please consider these variances so this responsible development can move forward and our community can continue to grow in diversity and strength. Thank you.

Joseph Heynen
04/27/21  0800 hrs



Cedar Park 
To:  Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 

held on April 27, 2021 at 7:00 P.M. for the variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 

Park Subdivision, City of  Palmer Alaska: 

Name:  _______________________________________ 

Phone:   ______________________________________

Address:  _____________________________________

City, State, Zip:   ________________________________ 

Email:      ______________________________________ 

Comments: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Sincerely, 

________________________________________ 

Date: ____________________ 

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 
2021 With the subject line “Council Meeting Testimony” 

Elizabeth Heynen

907-715-6659

832 S Colony Way

Palmer, AK 99645

elizabeth.heynen@gmail.com

                         I have been a practicing realtor in the Mat-Su Valley for seven years. I have come to know Connie Yoshimura as a friend
and respected mentor thorugh her being my broker at Berkshire Hathaway HomeServices Alaska Realty. I have experienced Connie's 
professionalism and her pragmatic vision for creating aesthetically enjoyable and highly functional neighborhoods by working with home 
buyers in several Anchorage subdivisions she designed and developed. I've had many opportunities to receive training from her on the 
extensive thought and complicated processes that go into housing development and her depth of knowledge and expertise ranks her as in _
the top tier of developers in the state of Alaska. 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
I believe the Cedar Park subdivision could not be happening at a better time for Palmer and the Mat-Su Valley. This area is on the verge of 

_____________________________experiencing a housing shortage crisis and some may argue that we are already there. ____________________________________________________________
I work with home buyers from all over Alaska and even out of state and all of them come onto my radar for one reason only; 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
They and their families need homes and a community to settle in and in their minds Palmer is the jewel of the Mat-Su Valley. 

They ____________________________________________are a diverse group that come from all backgrounds and walks of life and Palmer's rich community, vibrant culture and _____________________________________________ 
extraordinary beauty are some of her most attractive facets to them. The hope that there will be a neighborhood so ideally designed and 
situated as Cedar Park, with access to all the features and amenities of this amazing community, is not so much a realtor's dream, as 
some may cynically speculate, but the very real hope of those who would be Palmer's newest citizens; active and non active military, first 
responders, front-line healthcare workers, farmers, artists, entrepreneurs, licensed professionals, moms, dads, grandparents. 
Please clear the path towards completion of this timely development so Palmer can continue to grow and prosper as 
the beauty that she is, the Jewel of the Mat-Su Valley. 4/27/2021        10:30 am

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 4 of 6



John Weddleton
412 W 53d Ave Suite A

Anchorage, Alaska 99518
907-317-0222

E-mail  john@weddleton.com

April 21, 2021

Palmer City Council

Regarding Cedar Park Subdivision, City of Palmer

I don’t know the specifics of this subdivision or the requested variances. I do know
Connie Yoshimura.

Connie had found her place in Anchorage history long before we made acquaintance
more than a decade ago.  She is a remarkably competent woman who has made her
mark through hard work and creativity.  She knows the homebuying market better than
anyone. That comes in handy as a developer and seller of homes. 

Connie and I first worked together from the very genesis of the three year effort to write
the Hillside District Plan. That was a tough plan with lots of controversy.  She shared a
developer’s practical knowledge to balance the untethered aspirations of community
activists like me.  Later we served together on the Planning and Zoning Commission.
Again, her practical knowledge was valuable for individual cases and also for the PZC
role in the decade long rewrite of our land use codes.

Connie stands apart as a developer with early and consistent communication with
people in the areas she is developing.  Community Council leaders may get individual
tours of the site. She has organized tours of neighborhoods to educate community
members. These early contacts break through what is often immediate suspicion of any
development so good conversations on the merits can be had.

Her developments range from fairly simple nice condo developments to large view lots
in the highest price range way up on the Hillside.  The common thread is a knowledge
of the market and what people really want in their neighborhoods.  She would not be
successful without paying attention to this.

Now Anchorage’s premier residential developer looks to Palmer.  I expect you will find
Connie to be practical, honest and reliable.  Please don't keep her long.  We need
more great neighborhoods in Anchorage!

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 5 of 6



To: Palmer City Council 

Please submit the following written comments to the Council records for the meeting to be 
held on April 27, 2021 al 7:00 P.M. for lhe variances for street lights, curb and gutter for Cedar 
Park Subdivision, City of Palmer Alaska: 

Name 6 l'e(j 0 9.----L //e,477.f-
Phone: __ C/:!?_!J __ 8__'1_/..-::_'92.__Cj'_J:: _____ _ _  _ 

Address: __ f)fJ ift u-/"- a),,' f/;�P-0 t};�e_ 
City, Stale, Zip: /24frl!Cr ___ /j-f;_ __ - _f''f' C,7".j-
Email: ___ ec,fA_s-f:.p; J.VdJe._p. _j'/'Y/�'J ( o/?1 "

Please email nalley@palmerak.org by noon on April 27, 2021 
With the subject line "Council Meeting Testimony" 

Item Placed on the Table 
Meeting Date: August 27, 2021 

Agenda Item: Resolution No. 21-015 
Description: Public Testimony 

Page Page 6 of 6



 
 
 

Applicant’s Additional Material 
 

Storm Water Management Report 























 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-005 

 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.36 Industrial District, 17.58 Business Park and Enacting 
17.28.020 Palmer Commercial Land Use Matrix 
 
Agenda of: April 27, 2021 – Introduction 
 May 25, 2021 – Public Hearing 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Community Development Director  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature: 

 

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-005 
2. Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes of March 18, 2021 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Palmer City Council requested the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission (P&Z) conduct a comprehensive review 
of Title 17, land use. P&Z performed this review over a two-year period, studying similar communities, current 
land use techniques and incorporation of a land use matrix. The industrial and business park zoning districts are 
similar and share a common purpose. Special consideration should be given due to their functional importance to 
the city’s economic well-being.  
 
The goal of the Industrial and Business Park districts is: 

1. To allow for the establishment of other appropriate uses which are determined to be compatible with the    
intent of these districts. 

2. To promote opportunities for investment and reinvestment by allowing a more compatible use of land 
through appropriate land use regulations and uniformity of code. 

3. To encourage economic opportunities through sound land use practices. 
4. Encouraging development and redevelopment that contains a compatible mix of industrial and business 

uses within proximity to each other, rather than separating uses. 
 
This ordinance proposes to make Palmer Municipal Code 17.36 Industrial and 17.58 Business Park consistent 
between districts. In the industrial district permitted accessory uses have been added as well as dwellings for 
caretaker or persons of permanent residency in relation to the work. Buffer fencing and landscaping has been 
amended in business park and added to industrial to make these districts consistent.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-005 amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.36 Industrial and 17.58 Business Park 
Districts.  
 
 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 1 of 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 21-005 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.36 Industrial 
and 17.58 Business Park and Enacting 17.28.020 Palmer Commercial Land Use Matrix 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission (P&Z) proposes and recommends text amendments as 

necessary to Title 17 Zoning to ensure the regulations and standards are applicable to the current needs of the 
community; and 

 
WHEREAS, P&Z has reviewed the Industrial and Business Park zoning districts and propose amending   

buffering, caretaker residents, and incorporating land uses into commercial land use matrix; and 
 
WHEREAS, P&Z has determined there is a need to expand opportunities to create consistency through 

sound land use principals, encouraging development and redevelopment that contains a compatible mix of 
industrial and business uses.   

 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.36.020 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.36.020 Permitted uses. 
A. Land uses as defined in the Palmer use matrix in Palmer Municipal Code: 17.28.020 
Permitted principal uses and structures in the I district are: 

1. Airplane repairing or reconditioning; 
2. Assaying, cabinet shop, chemical laboratory, sash and door mill or assembly of music, candy, and vending 
machines; 
3. Auction business; 
4. Battery manufacture, boat building, iron work (ornamental), machine shop, die-casting or electroplating; 
5. Bottling plant, brewery, packing house (vegetable or fruit) or wholesale business; 
6. Petroleum products storage, service and distribution station, paint storage or paint manufacture; 
7. Dry-cleaning and dyeing plant, laundry, linen supply business and rug and carpet cleaning; 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 11, 2021 
Public Hearing: May 25, 2021 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 2 of 5 

8. Cold storage lockers, meat and seafood processing plants; 
9. Egg candling and grading, feed grain and hay scales and grain storage; 
10. Automobile painting, upholstering, rebuilding, reconditioning, motor exchange, body and fender work; 
11. Utility substations; 
12. Refrigeration maintenance and repair, steam cleaning and welding service and supplies; 
13. Pipe and pole storage; 
14. Radio or TV transmitter and/or studios; 
15. Assembly of electrical appliances, electronic instruments and devices, radios and phonographs, including 
the manufacture of small parts such as coils and transformers; 
16. The manufacture, compounding, processing, packaging or treatment of such products as bakery goods, 
candy, cosmetics, drugs, perfumes, perfumed toilet soap, toiletries and food products, vinegar, yeast, fish 
and meat products, and the rendering or refining of fats and oils; 
17. The manufacture of music and scientific instruments, optical goods, cameras, jewelry, small auto 
accessories, trailers, mobile homes, prefabricated housing modules or units in the manufacture of similar 
goods; 
18. The manufacture of pottery, figurines or other ceramic products; 
19. The manufacture and maintenance of electric and neon signs and light sheet metal products, including 
heating and ventilating ducts and equipment, drain pipes, eaves and the like; 
20. Industrial hardware store; 
21. Heavy tool and equipment rental; 
22. Warehousing of manufactured products; 
23. Lumber yard, building material manufacture or sales yards; 
24. Septic tank pumping business; 
25. Freighting, transportation or trucking yard or terminal, railroad and motor freight terminals; 
26. Industrial air and gas products; 
27. Culvert fabrication; 
28. Other comparable uses.  
 

Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.36.028 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.36.028 Permitted accessory uses. 
A. Light or heavy equipment storage yards accessory to a storage, repair or maintenance building on the same 
property or on adjacent property under the same ownership. 
B. Uses and structures customarily accessory and clearly incidental to permitted principal uses and structures.  
C. Dwellings for caretaker, guard or other persons whose permanent residency on the premises is required for 
operational safety, or protective purposes, or for persons engaged in certain industrial operations whose 
residency in the vicinity satisfies conditions or requirements of the work; 
D. The following uses may be permitted by obtaining a conditional use permit, and must be enclosed on all sides 
by a site-obscuring fence not less than six feet in height if the use is located on a lot which abuts an arterial or 
higher classification road as recognized by the city of Palmer, or the lot abuts or is immediately across a 
recognized public right-of-way or easement from any lot not zoned industrial: 

1. Salvage, wrecking or junk yard.  
 

Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.36.030 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.36.030 Conditional uses. 
A. Land uses as defined in the Palmer use matrix in Palmer Municipal Code: 17.28.020 
A. The following uses may be permitted by obtaining a conditional use permit: 

1. Concrete and concrete products manufacture; 
2. Coal yard; 
3. Contractor’s equipment yard; 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 3 of 5 

4. House moving business; 
5. Sewage treatment plants; 
6. Industrial planned unit development; 
7. Airport and heliports; 
8. Slaughterhouses; 
9. Uses and structures which are determined by the commission to be potentially noxious or injurious to 
other properties by reason of production or emission of excessive dust, smoke, refuse matter, odor, gas 
fumes, noise, vibration or similar substances or conditions; 
10. Quarters for caretaker, guard or other persons whose permanent residency on the premises is required 
for operational safety, or protective purposes or as quarters or accommodations for persons engaged in 
certain industrial operations whose residency in the vicinity satisfies conditions or requirements of the work; 
11. Power plants. 

 
Section 6. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.36.110 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 

is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 

17.36.110 Buffer fencing and/or landscaping. 
All landscaping structural requirements (e.g., drainage, grading, concrete, rock or keystone bed structures, 
sidewalks) must be met at occupancy. Topsoil addition and final grading and seeding and all plantings of flora 
must be met within 12 months of occupancy, or within the first growing season after occupancy, whichever 
comes first. The owner, lessee, etc., shall continue to meet such requirements thereafter and replace all dead 
shrubs and trees to maintain the landscaping in good condition. 
 

Section 7. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.58.020 Permitted uses is hereby amended to read as follows 
(new language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.58.020 Permitted uses. 
A. Land uses as defined in the Palmer use matrix in Palmer Municipal Code: 17.28.020 
The permitted commercial and industrial uses and activities include but are not limited to: 
A. Commercial: 

1. Wholesaling and distribution operations; 
2. Wholesale fur dealers, repair and storage; 
3. Wholesale furniture and home furnishings stores; 
4. Wholesale radio and television stores; 
5. Wholesale household appliance stores; 
6. Wholesale industrial hardware stores; 
7. Pharmaceutical supply houses; 
8. Merchandise vending machine sales and service; 
9. Wholesale camera and photographic supply houses; 
10. Business service establishments, including commercial and job printing; 
11. Taxicab stands and dispatching offices; 
12. Wholesale sales and showrooms; 
13. Laboratories and establishments for production, fitting and repair of eyeglasses, hearing aids, prosthetic 
appliances and the like; 
14. Plumbing and heating service and equipment dealers; 
15. Wholesale paint, glass and wallpaper stores; 
16. Wholesale electrical or electronic appliances, parts and equipment; 
17. Wholesale aircraft and marine parts and equipment stores; 
18. Auctions; 
19. Farm equipment stores; 
20. Wholesale automotive accessories, parts and equipment stores; 
21. Automotive, truck and trailer rental agencies; 
22. Lumber yards and builders’ supply and storage; 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 4 of 5 

23. Plant nurseries; 
24. Truck washes; 
25. Frozen food lockers; 
26. Crematoriums; 
27. Veterinarian clinics and boarding kennels; provided, that such an activity be conducted within a 
completely enclosed building, except that outdoor exercise yards may be permitted; 
28. Snow disposal sites subject to established standards and annual permit; 
29. Garden supply stores; 
30. Aircraft and boat display lots, new and used; 
31. Motorcycle and snow machine display lots, new and used. 

B. Industrial: 
1. Airplane, automotive, truck or light and heavy equipment assembly, remodeling, maintenance or repair; 
provided, that these activities are contained within a building or a fence; 
2. Beverage manufacture, including breweries; 
3. Boat building; 
4. Cabinet shops; 
5. Machine or blacksmith shops; 
6. Manufacture, service or repair of light consumer goods such as appliances, furniture, garments or tires; 
7. Metal working or welding shops; 
8. Motor freight terminals; 
9. Paint shops; 
10. Steel fabrication shops or yards; 
11. Vocational or trade schools; 
12. Utility installations; 
13. Warehousing. 
 

Section 8. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.58.030 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.58.030.028 Permitted accessory uses and structures. 
C. Dwellings for caretaker, guard or other persons whose permanent residency on the premises is required for 
operational safety, or protective purposes, or for persons engaged in certain industrial operations whose 
residency in the vicinity satisfies conditions or requirements of the work.  

Section 9. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.58.040 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.58.040.030 Conditional uses. 
A. Land uses as defined in the Palmer use matrix in Palmer Municipal Code: 17.28.020 
Uses which may be permitted in the BP district by obtaining a conditional use permit are: 
A. Insurance and real estate offices; 
B. Financial institutions; 
C. Business and professional offices; 
D. Employment agencies; 
E. Direct selling organizations; 
F. Cleaning, laundry or dyeing plants.  

 
Section 10. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.58.050 is hereby amended to read as follows (new 

language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 

17.58.050 Prohibited uses and structures. 
A. Residency other than caretaker, guard or other persons whose permanent residency on the premises is 
required for operational safety, or protective purposes, or for persons engaged in certain industrial operations 
whose residency in the vicinity satisfies conditions or requirements of the work; 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-005 Page 5 of 5 

B. Dwellings except for quarters for caretaker, guard or other persons whose permanent residency on the 
premises is required for operational safety, or protective purposes, or as quarters or accommodations for persons 
engaged in certain industrial operations whose residency in the vicinity satisfies conditions or requirements of 
the work; 
C. Junkyards and salvage yards; 
D. Manufacture or packaging of hazardous materials including fertilizer, soap, turpentine, varnish, paint, 
charcoal, distilled products, or glue; 
E. Open storage of cinders, coal, feed, grain, gravel, manure, muck, sand or topsoil; 
F. Operation of asphalt batching plants or hot-mix plants; 
G. Landfills; 
H. Outdoor storage of stripped, wrecked or otherwise inoperable vehicles or equipment.  
 

Section 11. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.58.110 is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.58.110 Buffer fencing and/or landscaping. 
C. Installation and Maintenance. All screening fences or landscaping requirements must be met within 24 12 
months of occupancy and continue to meet such requirements thereafter. All dead shrubs and trees shall be 
replaced to maintain the landscaping. 
C. All landscaping structural requirements (e.g., drainage, grading, concrete, rock or keystone bed structures, 
sidewalks) must be met at occupancy. Topsoil addition and final grading and seeding and all plantings of flora 
must be met within 12 months of occupancy, or within the first growing season after occupancy, whichever 
comes first. The owner, lessee, etc., shall continue to meet such requirements thereafter and replace all dead 
shrubs and trees to maintain the landscaping in good condition. 

 
Section 12. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-005 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 

City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 









 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-006 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-006 

 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.050 Central Business District Boundaries, Deleting 
Section 17.64.055 Fee-in-Lieu, and Amending Section 17.64.080 Landscaping Requirements 
 
Agenda of: April 27, 2021 – Introduction 
 May 25, 2021 – Public Hearing 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development   April 7, 2021 
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-006 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-006 
2. Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes of March 18, 2021 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
City Council requested that the Planning and Zoning Commission (P&Z) perform a comprehensive review of Title 
17 Zoning.  P&Z has performed the review and recommends minor changes to parking and loading. The last 
significant review of this chapter took place in 2006. 
 
The Central Business District was created to reduce parking requirements on downtown buildings so that 
redevelopment could occur.  With the adoption of the Central Business District (CBD) land use area, it became 
necessary to make boundaries consistent in PMC Section 17.30.64 and 17.64.050.  This ordinance proposes to 
make PMC 17.64 parking and loading and 17.30 CBD boundaries the same.  The boundaries for 17.64 are proposed 
to be reduced from their current boundaries.  Reducing the boundaries will have no effect on the ability to build 
new or repurpose buildings in downtown Palmer.   
 
This ordinance also deletes PMC Section 17.64.055 Fee-in-lieu parking program. Since introduction, the parking 
program has never been used. It was attempted once and the developer was granted a variance by the City 
Council as authorized in PMC. Considering redevelopment of commercial space in the Central Business District has 
occurred there is no need to continue the program. 
 
Required parking spaces for every 1600 square feet of hangers are added to parking and loading.  
 
Changes proposed in PMC 17.64.80 include landscaping requirements for airport commercial, airport industrial, 
airport mixed use, business park and industrial districts.   
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-006 amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.64 Parking and Loading regarding 
Palmer Airport and landscaping requirements in the central business district.  
 
 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-006 Page 1 of 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Ordinance No. 21-006 

 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.64 Parking 
and Loading relating to Amending Central Business District, Fee-in-lieu Parking Program, and 
Landscaping Requirements 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission (P&Z) proposes and recommends text amendments as 
necessary to Title 17 Zoning to ensure the regulations and standards are applicable to the current needs of the 
community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the P&Z reviewed and discussed changes needed to meet current commercial parking 

demands throughout the city of Palmer; and 
 
WHEREAS, On February 23, 2021 City Council approved the updated boundaries of the Central Business 

District. 
 

THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.015 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.64.015 General provisions. 
A. Permanently maintained, free parking facilities for the use of occupants, employees and patrons of buildings 
shall be provided for all new buildings at the time of construction. 

 
  

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: May 11, 2021 
Public Hearing: May 25, 2021 

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-006 Page 2 of 3 

Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.031 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.64.031 Parking spaces required. 
 

Use Parking Requirement 

Airport Use One parking space for each 
1,600 square feet of gross 
floor area 

 
Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.050 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 

is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 

17.64.050 Central business district. 
Beginning at the intersection of the Palmer/Wasilla Highway and the Glenn Highway centerlines, then north 
along the centerline of the Glenn Highway to the centerline of W. Auklet Avenue, then east along the centerline 
of W. Auklet to the east side of parcel 18N02E33 Tract 1-A, then south along the east side of said parcel until 
the centerline of the alleyway, then east along the centerline of the alleyway to the centerline of N. Bonanza 
Street, then south along centerline of N. Bonanza Street to the centerline of E. Arctic Avenue, then east along 
the centerline of E. Arctic Avenue to the centerline of S. Denali Street, then south along the centerline of S. 
Denali Street to the centerline of E. Cottonwood, then east to the centerline of S. Gulkana Street, then south 
along the centerline of S. Gulkana to the southeast corner of Tract A, Arbor Estates, then west along the south 
property line of Tract A to Lot 4, Block 2, Arbor Estates, then south to the southeast corner of Lot 4, Block 2, 
Arbor Estates, then west along the south property lines of Lots 4, 3, 2, and 1, Block 2, Arbor Estates to the 
centerline of S. Eklutna Street, then north along the centerline of S. Eklutna Street to the centerline of E. Fireweed 
Avenue, then west along the centerline of E. Fireweed to the centerline of S. Colony Way, then south along the 
centerline of S. Colony Way to the junction of S. Colony Way and the Glenn Highway centerlines, then north 
along the centerline of the Glenn Highway to the point of beginning. 
D. Developers may provide the parking spaces required in this chapter or may apply for a waiver from meeting 
those requirements and make payment to the city in lieu of parking spaces. 
E. Waivers may be granted if the city council determines and cites evidence in its decision that: 

1 The property is within the central business district; 
2. No parking spaces have been lost due to redevelopment or change of use; 
3. There is a city-owned, fee-in-lieu designated public parking area (excluding the parking lots at City Hall 
and the fire station located on W. Evergreen Avenue and S. Cobb Street) within 600 feet of the building as 
measured along public rights-of-way; 
4. The waiver is for less than 30 percent of the required parking spaces for buildings constructed after 
December 13, 2005; 
5. To the extent practicable, the waiver is for less than 70 percent of the required parking spaces for 
buildings in existence on December 13, 2005; 
6. The waiver furthers the goals of the comprehensive plan. 
 

Beginning at the intersection of the Palmer/Wasilla Highway & the Glenn Highway centerlines, then north along 
the centerline of the Glenn Highway, then east to the northwest corner of parcel 18N02E32 Lot D9, then east 
along the north side of parcels 18N02E32 Lot D9, Tract B, Colony Fair, 18N02E32 Lot D8, 18N02E32 Lot D7, 
then north along the west side of parcel Tract A-1, Colony Fair RSB T/A & C, then east along the north side of 
said parcel to the centerline of S. Cobb St., then north along the centerline of S. Cobb St., to the centerline of 
W. Blueberry Ave., then east along the centerline of W. Blueberry Ave,. then southeast to the centerline of E. 
Blueberry Ave., then east along the centerline of E. Blueberry Ave., then crossing over S. Colony Way to continue 
east along the centerline of E. Blueberry Ave., to the centerline of S. Denali St., then south along the centerline 
of S. Denali St., to the centerline of E. Cottonwood Ave., then east along the centerline of E. Cottonwood Ave., 
to the centerline of S. Gulkana St., then south along the centerline of S. Gulkana St., to the southeast corner of 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-006 Page 3 of 3 

Tract A, Arbor Estates, then west along the south property line of Tract A to Lot 4, Block 2, Arbor Estates, then 
south to the southeast corner of Lot 4, Block 2, Arbor Estates, then west along the south property lines of Lots 
4, 3, 2, and 1, Block 2, Arbor Estates, then west to the junction of S. Eklutna & E. Fern Ave., then west along 
the centerline of E. Fern Ave., to the centerline of S. Chugach St., then north along the centerline of S. Chugach 
St., to the centerline of E. Fireweed Ave., then west along the centerline of E. Fireweed Ave., to the centerline 
of S. Colony Way, then south along the centerline of S. Colony Way, then west to the southeast corner of parcel 
17N02E04 Lot B4, then west along the south side of said parcel, to the centerline of S. Cobb St., then north 
along the centerline of S. Cobb St., to the centerline of W. Fern Ave., then west along the centerline of W. Fern 
Ave., to the centerline of S. Dimond St., then north along the centerline of S. Dimond St., to the centerline of 
W. Elmwood Ave., then west along the centerline of W. Elmwood Ave., to the junction of W. Elmwood and the 
Glenn Highway, then north along the centerline of the Glenn Highway to the point of beginning. 
 

Section 6. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.055 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
17.64.055 Fee-in-lieu parking program. 
For property located in the central business district, an in-lieu parking fee shall be submitted to the city for each 
required free off-street parking space that is not provided and for which a waiver has been granted. The in-lieu 
parking fee shall be determined annually based on the costs for planning, acquisition, design, development, 
construction, financing (including interest on city self-financing), maintenance and operation of off-street parking 
facilities within 600 feet of the subject building as measured along public rights-of-way. 
A. There is created in the city treasury a special fund designated the “parking improvement fund” into which in-
lieu parking fees shall be deposited to be expended only for public improvements. The city council may from 
time to time direct that other monies be transferred into the fund. 
B. The fund shall be used exclusively for planning, acquisition, design, development, construction, financing, 
maintenance and operation of off-street parking facilities within the downtown parking district. 

 
Section 7. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.64.080 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 

is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.64.080 Landscaping requirements.  
B. All required parking lots of five spaces or more shall provide a landscape buffer at least five feet in width 
along any property line adjacent to a street, except for those in the airport commercial, airport industrial, airport 
mixed use, business park, and industrial districts where they do not border a residential district. 
C. For parking lots containing less than five spaces, an area equal to at least five percent of the parking lot shall 
be in landscaping which is visible to the street, except in the airport commercial, airport industrial, airport mixed 
use, business park, and industrial districts.  
D. For parking lots containing five or more spaces, an area equal to at least 10 percent of the parking area shall 
be in landscaping which is visible to the street, except in the airport commercial, airport industrial, airport mixed 
use, business park, and industrial districts.  

 
Section 8. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-006 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 

City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 









 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-007 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-007 

 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 Pertaining to Election Proposition and Questions 
Referral Deadlines 
 
Agenda of: May 11, 2021 – Introduction 
 May 25, 2021 – Public Hearing 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Norma I. Alley, City Clerk 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
√ Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-007 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-007 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
On March 9, 2021, City Council conducted a Committee of the Whole to discuss election matters. Part of that 
discussion included an amendment to election code changing the deadline for when propositions and questions 
are to be referred to the ballot. This deadline is established in Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 at 53 
days. Due to new earlier ballot programming and ballot printing deadlines imposed by our service providers, it is 
kindly requested the City Council consider changing the proposition and question deadline to 67 days. 
 
The 67 days lines up with the same date of candidate filing deadline. Changing this deadline to that same date 
allows for administrative time to prepare, review, and approve the ballot for the regular election.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-007 
 
 



 

City of Palmer, Alaska: Ordinance No. 21-007 Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Ordinance No. 21-007 

 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 
Pertaining to Election Proposition and Questions Referral Deadlines 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 18.05.067 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
18.05.067 Propositions and questions 
An ordinance or resolution placing propositions and questions before the voters must be adopted not later than 
53 67 calendar days before a regular election, or 75 calendar days before a special election. 
 

Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-007 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Clerk Alley 

Date: May 11, 2021 
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  





 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-036 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-036 

 
Subject:  Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection 
for the Renewal of Liquor License Nos. 119, 5638, and 5716 for the Palmer Alehouse Located at 320 E. Dahlia 
Avenue 
 
Agenda of:  May 25, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ Unknown 
 

This legislation (√): 
ⱱ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ Unknown 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 21-036 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
1. LGB Notice from the State of Alaska for License Nos. 119, 5638, and 5716  
2. Liquor License Review Form for License Nos. 119, 5638, and 5716 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The Palmer Alehouse has applied for a liquor license renewal. Per State law, a local governing body may protest 
the approval of an application pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by providing the applicant with a clear and concise written 
statement of the reason for the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-036. 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

 

Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 
ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Main: 907.269.0350

 
April 19, 2021 
 
City of Palmer 
Within Matanuska Susitna Borough 
Attn:  City Clerk   
Via Email:   cityclerk@palmerak.org ; jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org 
Cc: adam.bradway@matsugov.us ;  alex.strawn@matsugov.us ; permitcenter@matsugov.us ; 
 

License Type: Beverage Dispensary  License Number: 119 

Licensee: Palmer Alehouse, LLC 

Doing Business As: Palmer Alehouse 

Premises Address: 320 East Dahlia Avenue - Palmer, AK 99645  

  

☐ New Application ☐ Transfer of Ownership Application  

☐ Transfer of Location Application ☒ Transfer of Controlling Interest Application 
                     
We have received a completed transfer with Security Interest application for the above listed license 
(see attached application documents) within your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under AS 
04.11.480. 
 
A local governing body may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by 
furnishing the director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the 
protest within 60 days of receipt of this notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to 
defend the application before a meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 304.145(d). If 
a protest is filed, the board will deny the application unless the board finds that the protest is arbitrary, 
capricious, and unreasonable. To protest the application referenced above, please submit your protest 
within 60 days and show proof of service upon the applicant. 
 
AS 04.11.491 – AS 04.11.509 provide that the board will deny a license application if the board finds that 
the license is prohibited under because of an election conducted under AS 04.11.507. 
 
AS 04.11.420 provides that the board will not issue a license when a local governing body protests an 
application because the applicant’s proposed licensed premises are located in a place within the local 
government where a local zoning ordinance prohibits the alcohol establishment, unless the local 
government has approved a variance from the local ordinance. 
  
Sincerely, 
 

mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org
mailto:jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org
mailto:adam.bradway@matsugov.us
mailto:alex.strawn@matsugov.us
mailto:permitcenter@matsugov.us


 
Last Name 
Date 
Page 2 
 

 

 
Glen Klinkhart, Director 
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov  
  

mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


1 
 

City of Palmer ● Liquor License Review Form   
 

BUSINESS NAME: Palmer Alehouse OWNER: Cory Hughes, Sarah Hughes 
 

LICENSE TYPE:           Beverage Dispensary No. 119 
 

LOCATION: 320 E. Dahlia Ave. Palmer, AK 99645 
 

 
Route to:  Department of Finance 

Department of Finance 
Business License/Sales Tax/ 
Utilities/Assessments Current:   

√ 
Yes  No 

 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

 
 

05/03/2021 
Finance Director  Date 

 
Route to: Department of Community Development 

Department of Community Development 
Code (PMC/Bldg/Fire) Compliant:   √ Yes  No 
 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

  May 3, 2021 
Community Development Director  Date 

 
Route to: Police Department 

Police Department 
Excessive Calls:    Yes X No 
 

If yes, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 

 May 3, 2021 
Chief of Police  Date 

 
TO COUNCIL FOR AGENDA OF:  May 25, 2021 



Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 
ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Main: 907.269.0350

April 19, 2021 

City of Palmer 
Within Matanuska Susitna Valley Borough 
Via Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org ; adam.bradway@matsugov.us ; alex.strawn@matsugov.us 
permitcenter@matsugov.us ; jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org 

License Type: Beverage Dispensary – Duplicate License Number: 5638 

Licensee: Palmer City Alehouse, LLC 

Doing Business As: Palmer City Alehouse 

Premises Address: 320 E. Dahlia Avenue Palmer, AK 99645 

☐ New Application ☐ Transfer of Ownership Application

☐ Transfer of Location Application ☒ Transfer of Controlling Interest Application

We have received a completed transfer with security interest application for the above listed license (see attached 
application documents) within your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under AS 04.11.480. 

A local governing body may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by furnishing the 
director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest within 60 days of 
receipt of this notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to defend the application before a 
meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 304.145(d). If a protest is filed, the board will deny the 
application unless the board finds that the protest is arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable. To protest the 
application referenced above, please submit your protest within 60 days and show proof of service upon the 
applicant. 

AS 04.11.491 – AS 04.11.509 provide that the board will deny a license application if the board finds that the 
license is prohibited under because of an election conducted under AS 04.11.507. 

AS 04.11.420 provides that the board will not issue a license when a local governing body protests an application 
because the applicant’s proposed licensed premises are in a place within the local government where a local 
zoning ordinance prohibits the alcohol establishment, unless the local government has approved a variance from 
the local ordinance. 

Sincerely, 

Glen Klinkhart, Director 
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov 

mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org
mailto:adam.bradway@matsugov.us
mailto:alex.strawn@matsugov.us
mailto:permitcenter@matsugov.us
mailto:jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


1 
 

City of Palmer ● Liquor License Review Form   
 

BUSINESS NAME: Palmer Alehouse OWNER: Cory Hughes, Sarah Hughes 
 

LICENSE TYPE:           Beverage Dispensary No. 5638 
 

LOCATION: 320 E. Dahlia Ave. Palmer, AK 99645 
 

 
Route to:  Department of Finance 

Department of Finance 
Business License/Sales Tax/ 
Utilities/Assessments Current:   

√ 
Yes  No 

 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

 
 

05/03/2021 
Finance Director  Date 

 
Route to: Department of Community Development 

Department of Community Development 
Code (PMC/Bldg/Fire) Compliant:   √ Yes  No 
 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

  May 3, 2021 
Community Development Director  Date 

 
Route to: Police Department 

Police Department 
Excessive Calls:    Yes X No 
 

If yes, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 

 May 3, 2021 
Chief of Police  Date 

 
TO COUNCIL FOR AGENDA OF:  May 25, 2021 



Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 
ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Main: 907.269.0350

April 19, 2021 

City of Palmer 
Within Matanuska Susitna Valley Borough 
Via Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org ; adam.bradway@matsugov.us ; alex.strawn@matsugov.us 
permitcenter@matsugov.us ; jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org 

License Type: Beverage Dispensary – Duplicate License Number: 5716 

Licensee: Palmer City Alehouse, LLC 

Doing Business As: Palmer City Alehouse 

Premises Address: 320 E. Dahlia, Palmer, AK  99645 

☐ New Application ☐ Transfer of Ownership Application

☐ Transfer of Location Application ☒ Transfer of Controlling Interest Application

We have received a completed application for the above listed license (see attached application documents) within 
your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under AS 04.11.480. 

A local governing body may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by furnishing the 
director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest within 60 days of 
receipt of this notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to defend the application before a 
meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 304.145(d). If a protest is filed, the board will deny the 
application unless the board finds that the protest is arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable. To protest the 
application referenced above, please submit your protest within 60 days and show proof of service upon the 
applicant. 

AS 04.11.491 – AS 04.11.509 provide that the board will deny a license application if the board finds that the 
license is prohibited under because of an election conducted under AS 04.11.507. 

AS 04.11.420 provides that the board will not issue a license when a local governing body protests an application 
because the applicant’s proposed licensed premises are located in a place within the local government where a 
local zoning ordinance prohibits the alcohol establishment, unless the local government has approved a variance 
from the local ordinance. 

Sincerely, 

Glen Klinkhart, Director 
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov 

mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org
mailto:adam.bradway@matsugov.us
mailto:alex.strawn@matsugov.us
mailto:permitcenter@matsugov.us
mailto:jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


1 
 

City of Palmer ● Liquor License Review Form   
 

BUSINESS NAME: Palmer Alehouse OWNER: Cory Hughes, Sarah Hughes 
 

LICENSE TYPE:           Beverage Dispensary No. 5716 
 

LOCATION: 320 E. Dahlia Ave. Palmer, AK 99645 
 

 
Route to:  Department of Finance 

Department of Finance 
Business License/Sales Tax/ 
Utilities/Assessments Current:   

√ 
Yes  No 

 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

 
 05/03/2021 

Finance Director  Date 
 
Route to: Department of Community Development 

Department of Community Development 
Code (PMC/Bldg/Fire) Compliant:   √ Yes  No 
 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

  May 3, 2021 
Community Development Director  Date 

 
Route to: Police Department 

Police Department 
Excessive Calls:    Yes X No 
 

If yes, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 

 May 3, 2021 
Chief of Police  Date 

 
TO COUNCIL FOR AGENDA OF:  May 25, 2021 





 
 
Community and 
Economic Analysis  
For the Preparation of an Annexation Petition 

Prepared for The City of Palmer, Alaska  

April 2021  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agnew::Beck Consulting 

Halcyon Consulting, Inc.  

Alaska Map Company 
  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[This page is intentionally blank.]



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 i 

Overview and Executive Summary 

Purpose  
The purpose of this Community and Economic (i.e., Fiscal) Analysis is to provide a solid analytical 
foundation that will inform the preparation of a future annexation strategy and petition for the City of 
Palmer, should the City decide to pursue annexation. Annexation is an important tool for the City to use 
as way to promote orderly growth, development and expansion of essential services for the health, safety 
and welfare of the greater Palmer community. Communities often annex land for three main reasons.  

1. Fiscal: A local government may consider annexation when can provide services more efficiently 
to annexed areas. New revenues must be balanced with additional costs. 

2. Future: A local government may consider annexation to support economic development efforts, 
to provide space within its boundaries for new housing and/or for new businesses and 
expansions. 

3. Governance: A local government may consider annexation to maximize local control. It may 
expand where services can be provided and where local tools like land use districts can be 
applied. Annexation may also be considered to give residents who currently live outside city limits 
a direct say in local issues that impact them. 

The annexation process involves identifying land areas to be annexed, drawing up a formal petition to 
annex those areas, and submitting the petition to the Local Boundary Commission (LBC). The LBC uses 
a set of objective criteria to evaluate whether the annexation meets regulatory guidelines and weighs the 
annexation petition against public and local government testimony (written and verbal) during a review 
process that can take several months to over a year.  

Before an annexation petition is brought to the LBC, the local government submitting the annexation 
petition must show that it has the capacity and resources to extend services and governance to the 
annexed areas. The fiscal analysis of this study could serve in this capacity to support future petitions in 
that it provides estimates for the staffing, equipment, capital improvements and costs to extend services 
and governance to a number of study areas around existing boundaries. If the City were to prepare an 
annexation petition for a land area with different boundaries than any of the study areas in this report, or if 
the annexation petition happens some years in future, the fiscal analysis would be updated to reflect the 
dollar values and geographic boundaries of the annexation petition at that time.  

That said, the City of Palmer is going beyond analyzing fiscal dynamics to understand the lifestyles and 
values of the residents and business operations located outside existing City limits. Ideally, an annexation 
will be generally supported in the areas to be annexed as well as within the City. The community analysis 
part of this study provides the City with information about current community sentiment about annexation, 
with recommendations and clarifications to help inform any future discussions with neighbors about 
annexation. If the City brings a future annexation petition forward, this study provides some information 
about where and how that understanding and support can most likely to be built.  

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 ii 

Process 
The analysis estimates the likely fiscal (i.e., economic) and potential community effects of annexation on 
a set of study areas that include lands outside of the City of Palmer. The analysis is guided by the City of 
Palmer’s broad goals for annexation, as articulated in the City of Palmer Annexation Strategy 
(Agnew::Beck et al, 2010): 

• To promote orderly, high quality development and the cost-effective extension of services where 
and when warranted. 

• To sustain a desirable quality of life in and around Palmer.  
• To ensure a sustainable s tax base along with long-term economic viability, fiscal health and 

natural environment in Palmer. 

The project’s process defines geographic boundaries of potential annexation areas (also called study 
areas), which allow the study to provide estimated changes in city service provision, revenues and 
expenses for the fiscal analysis. The delineation of a study area does not mean the area is recommended 
for annexation by the consulting team or by the City. Instead, these areas provide the analytical 
framework for the analysis. Areas may be accepted, rejected, or adjusted before they are part of any 
proposal or petition in the future.  

Project Timeline 

 

The study also analyzes community attitudes about annexation and its potential impacts. Where 
community members have identified specific concerns about annexation, either generally or specific to 
certain land uses, the study identifies potential ways the City can proactively address these concerns 
before putting forth an annexation petition.  

This approach of working with the greater community to understand and proactively address concerns as 
well as obtain the information needed to make wise decisions about where and when to annex territory in 
future furthers the City’s commitment to a transparent and public process and serving its constituency to 
the best of its ability. 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 iii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation  
The project team worked with the City to identify a set of study areas for the analysis. These geographic 
boundaries simply provide guidance for the fiscal modeling. Each of the study areas has more or less 
similar land use. For the purposes of doing the study, it makes sense to look at a variety of different areas 
with different characteristics. That way, we can fully understand the range of community issues and fiscal 
effects that an annexation would have. 

The project team then worked with City staff to estimate the amount of staff, equipment, capital 
improvements (e.g., buildings) and consequent funding needed to extend services to each of the study 
areas and the all of the study areas as a whole, both in terms of general operating costs and capital 
investments. This information was used to build a fiscal model that shows current city revenues and costs 
as well as the revenues and costs that it would experience if each of the study areas (and all the study 
areas as a whole) were annexed into the City in 2020. The team applied some assumptions about how 
the general Palmer area might develop in terms of population and land use over the next 10 years to the 
model and produced a set of 2030 projections. These help us understand the longer-term fiscal effects of 
the hypothetical annexations. 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

 

By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 iv 

Study Areas Map 

 
  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 v 

The fiscal analysis found that Palmer’s existing boundaries are already optimized for property and sales 
tax revenue. Any annexation of the land adjacent to existing city boundaries would not be a “land grab” in 
order to increase tax revenue. The net fiscal effects range from a small net positive ( meaning that an 
annexation could spread the costs of city services enough to allow a slight reduction in taxes), to 
essentially neutral (meaning that the City could absorb a limited land area in less populated areas and 
extend city services and governance without having to adjust taxes at all) to a net negative (meaning that 
the City would have to raise taxes to pay for the increase in services).  

Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 vi 

Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

 
 
To quantify the tax changes that would be needed to balance the City budget upon annexation, the study 
looked at adjustments to sales tax only (assuming property tax stays the same) and adjustments to 
property tax only (with sales tax staying the same). The sales tax effect ranged from a potential decrease 
in sales taxes of $0.37 on every $1,000 of spending (with no change in property tax) if Study Area B were 
annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in sales taxes of $2.02 on every $1,000 of spending (again, with 
no change in property tax) if all study areas were annexed in 2020. The property tax effect ranged from a 
potential decrease in property taxes of $70-80 on a $250,000 home (with no change in sales tax) if Study 
Area B were annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in property taxes of $430 on a $250,000 home 
(again, with no change in sales tax) if Study Area F were annexed in 2020. 

These results show that annexing Study Area B could slightly reduce the amount of tax paid by each 
taxpayer within the City. This is because Study Area B has some commercial activity but few residential 
properties that require more City services. On the other extreme, Study Area F has the densest 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 vii 

residential neighborhoods in the greater Palmer area and little commercial activity, although it the homes 
do have property value that could contribute through property taxes. If the City were to annex all study 
areas, the commercial activity in some would balance somewhat the costs of providing services to 
residential neighborhoods, resulting in a lower tax increase than annexing Study Area F alone, but still a 
net increase in taxes to balance the City budget.  

Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation  
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment  
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000 

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000 

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000 

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000 

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000 

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000 

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000 

 
Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 
Budget (3 
mils + …) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost to 
Owner of 

$250,000 in 
Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance Budget 

(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at Non-

Exempt 
Businesses ($) 

Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37 

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 viii 

Looking to the future, the study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would still 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Looking at individual study areas, the model 
projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would start to close as the population increases 
and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis projects that the net fiscal effects of 
annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G, where tax resources are not expected to catch up with 
the costs of service provision. 

2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500 

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500 

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000 

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500 

 
In purely fiscal terms, these findings led the project team to recommend an annexation strategy that either 
takes a modest approach of annexing smaller area(s) over time that have little to no effect on City budget 
and operations, or to annex a large enough area that the annexation would include areas of higher 
taxable potential (usually commercial areas) to help balance the costs of areas with lower taxable 
potential and higher service needs (primarily residential neighborhoods). 

Community Considerations 
This study represents the very beginning of conversations by the City of Palmer with neighbors in the 
area about the possibilities of annexation. Community outreach was done during the COVID-19 
pandemic. To ensure safety, outreach was conducted through an online survey, web meetings, 
interviews/focus group conversations, online presentations (e.g., to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce), 
email and phone conversations with concerned citizens and neighbors inside and outside existing City 
boundaries. Results show that there is a wide range of opinion about whether the city should annex land 
from people inside and outside city boundaries. The majority of those who shared their thoughts do not 
support annexation at this time; some do support annexation, and some need more information.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 ix 

General Level of Support for Annexation 

 

Resident Support for Annexation 
 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 x 

Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of all 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally  
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 

fire station, bike paths 
• Attracting businesses and families 
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules 
• Less confusion about city boundaries 
• Lifestyle preferences 
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 
• Representation in City government 
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Community Fiscal Concerns: In open-ended responses, five percent of all survey respondents noted 
positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation, and nearly 30 percent 
of all respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. 65 percent of survey 
respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment, primarily concerned about possible increases in 
property taxes. 71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment, including 
residents who limit their spending overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown 
food. Business respondents voiced concern that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax 
would hurt their business because their competition does not have to charge sales taxes to customers. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xi 

Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 
 
Planning and Growth Management: Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning 
and growth management aspects of annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land 
use planning as the key to growth for Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic 
opportunities and allowing the community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid 
incompatible uses and maintain the small-town feel of the area. Others expressed concerns that 
annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density housing without the infrastructure to 
support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. Several commented on the 
importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland. Some respondents 
expressed general opposition to zoning and other land use regulations (67 percent of survey respondents 
viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment), while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City. Responses indicate that people generally want to 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xii 

be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed support for 
grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. 62 percent of survey respondents viewed City 
building codes, permits and inspections as a detriment, some expressing concerns about the costs 
associated with code compliance and permitting. Suggestions reflected a desire for the City to be more 
flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

Overall, the Palmer-area community has mixed views about City services. Some city services seen as a 
benefit; others prefer their existing services or expressed concern about the City’s ability to extend 
services to a large area. In total, if all the study areas were annexed, it would effectively increase the 
City’s population by 58 percent, making Palmer the fourth largest city and the twelfth largest organized 
municipality by population in Alaska.  

Police: Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey 
respondents. Some area residents want access to police services to receive a more rapid response from 
law enforcement officers, while others prefer the Alaska State Troopers. A few respondents also voiced 
concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions and to pay them a competitive salary. 

Road Maintenance: Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 53 
percent of survey respondents. Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road 
maintenance and improvements, particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Other respondents do 
not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically 
mentioned concerns about the City’s ability to provide adequate snow removal and to find people willing 
to accept any new maintenance positions unless it raises salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage Collection: The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a 
detriment by 61 percent of survey respondents. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able 
to choose how their garbage is dealt with, whether hauling their own trash, contracting with the City or a 
provider of their choice, rather than being told by regulation how to manage their waste.   

Other Services: Some open-ended responses indicated that if annexation resulted in faster fire and 
emergency response or staffed fire stations in their area, that would be considered a benefit. Responses 
showed mixed attitudes toward City water and sewer, which ranged from piped water and sewer being 
the only thing they would want out of an annexation to objections to the idea that they might have to hook 
up to City water and sewer when they already have functioning well and septic systems.  

Governance: Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local 
government, a wider pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and potentially a more involved 
voter base. 60 percent of survey respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on 
Palmer City Council, boards and commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. The fiscal study 
shows that many people in the study areas are already paying for Palmer City government through sales 
tax, but do not have representation. 

Regulations: Lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits were reflected in 
community comments about the City’s regulations. Only two percent of all survey responses mentioned 
regulations as benefits in open-ended questions, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as concerns. 
As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage growth and 
protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone following the 
same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or simplifying law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their property; and 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xiii 

keep a variety of animals on their land. Many responses suggested grandfathering or making regulatory 
allowances to retain existing lifestyles and businesses.  

Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 
 
Communication and the need for more (or more accurate) information were strong themes in the public 
outreach activities. Around 15 percent of survey responses and other public outreach activities reflected a 
desire for more information in order to have an opinion about annexation. A number of survey responses 
also suggested the City improve existing service provision before making an annexation petition. Some of 
these concerns could be due to misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City 
operates and the limits of what it can do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City 
about where to focus information-sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

• Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve 
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that 
branch off them. 

• Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.  
• Keep sidewalks clear. 
• Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.  
• Improve the Palmer Sr. League field. 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xiv 

• Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water 
pressure can be limited at times." 

• Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.  
• Improve fire response times (in study areas).  
• Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.  
• Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted 

to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions"). 
• Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.  
• Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works. 
• Address homelessness in the City. 
• Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is 

intended only to increase revenue for the City. 

Recommendations  
Continue Ongoing Communication 
Regardless of whether the City brings forward an annexation petition in future, this study recommends 
continued conversations with existing City residents and neighbors about making Palmer’s city 
government the best it can be. Survey responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open 
communication between the City and area residents, generally and specific to the annexation process.  

City of Palmer boundaries have been stable for nearly the past 20 years and already capture the majority 
of taxable property values and commercial activity in the general area. Any future annexation would not 
be a “land grab” to increase revenue to the City. Instead, the fiscal analysis reveals that future annexation 
around Palmer would have to be in service of a greater community vision that would motivate City and 
area residents and busines to support a potential (though most likely modest) increase in taxes over 2020 
tax rates. A number of survey responses asked for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s 
motivations for annexing more land and a better understanding of the benefits of annexation to all 
concerned. 

The City could build on the stability it currently experiences by making improvements in service provision 
to the extent possible, as well as any needed or chosen adjustments or clarifications to city regulations. 
Regulatory/policy changes that came up during the community analysis as worthy of consideration 
include:  

• Building permits, fees and inspections (especially for sheds, fences, decks) are currently 
required per PMC Title 15 Buildings and Construction. The City could make some degree of the 
building permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, AMC 23.05.030 
makes the building permit, review, and inspection processes optional in areas outside the 
Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA).  

• Garbage collection is currently required per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and 
Disposal. The City could allow property owners to choose private collection service or self-haul 
outside the City’s service area. Anchorage does this per AMC 27.70.030. 

• Discharge of firearms is currently prohibited within City limits except at permitted practice 
facilities per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms. The City could designate areas in code 
where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. 
Anchorage and Juneau also prohibit the discharge of firearms except in designated areas. 

• Off Highway Vehicles (OHVs) are not currently permitted on streets except to cross them per 
PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-highway Vehicles. The City could allow licensed operation 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xv 

of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor Vehicles. 
Designated pathways for OHV use could also be created alongside primary streets. 

• Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks. Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits 
for fire pits and burn permits for certain types of debris on private property. Fireworks are allowed 
without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks. The City could adjust 
allowances on burn permits and/or fireworks. For example, Anchorage allows recreational or 
ceremonial fires if they are managed according to specific safety guidelines and obtain a burn 
permit if necessary. However, burning debris/waste materials is prohibited within the municipality.  

• Animal restrictions. The City allows a variety of pet and livestock animals per PMC Title 6 
Animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 17 Zoning. All species of livestock mentioned in 
comments are already allowed on land zoned for agriculture or on lots of 1+ acres if they do not 
go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. The City could allow more dogs per parcel or dogs off-
leash. Dog kennels are an allowable use by right on land zoned BP Business Park. 

City staff could continue to engage in surveys and listening sessions to obtain regular feedback from the 
people about where improvements can or have been made. Building on the common things people value 
about life in and around Palmer, the City would benefit from documenting the ways in which it has (and 
continues to) improved quality of life, achieved efficiencies in providing services and optimized its tax 
base. Increase awareness of the City’s role in community successes. 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. Before engaging in a proposal for annexation, the City may want to increase area knowledge of 
and involvement in both shorter-term planning for general operations and capital projects over the next 
few years, as well as longer-term plans, such as Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan, which has not been 
updated since 2006. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future.    

Choose an Annexation Approach 
If the City prepares a petition for annexation in future, the findings of this study suggest the City take 
either a “Go Big” approach and work toward a large-scale annexation, or “Go Small” and work toward 
bringing in smaller areas that would have minimal fiscal effects to the City. This decision should be 
informed by the City’s comfort level in expanding its operations as well as conversations with area 
residents. A few survey responses and meeting comments questioned why the study areas did not 
include certain areas, such as the areas south of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky 
Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One 
respondent suggested the City consider taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, 
then adding more at a later date.  

Continue the Conversation 
This community analysis suggests that the City should start talking to neighbors early and often about 
annexation. The overall message was that, whether it benefits them or not, area residents and 
businesses want to be part of the decision to annex, rather than feel like the City is imposing boundary 
expansion on them. Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward 
with annexation regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed 
without further opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process 
and opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Community suggestions included keeping neighbors informed and providing opportunities for them to 
voice concerns as the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, 
informational question-and-answer sessions, and door-to-door discussions or meetings with homeowners 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xvi 

and business associations. A number of survey responses asked for as much information as possible 
about the process, timelines and what to expect in any annexation process. This report can provide 
general guidance, but the transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be critical for 
informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the city, how 
and when those changes will take place.  

When it comes time for the City to decide on making an annexation petition, some respondents 
suggested the City consider basing its decision on a majority vote among residents/property owners in 
the areas considered for annexation. It is unlikely that any annexation petition that has not been created 
by the request of landowners will have 100 percent support. However, some areas may have enough to 
support to demonstrate a likelihood of success through a vote of the people in an area of consideration.   



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xvii 

Table of Contents 
Overview and Executive Summary ............................................................................................... i 

Purpose ........................................................................................................................................ i 
Process ........................................................................................................................................ii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation ................................................................................................... iii 
Community Considerations .................................................................................................. viii 
Recommendations ............................................................................................................... xiv 

Introduction to Annexation ........................................................................................................... 1 
Annexation in Alaska ................................................................................................................... 1 

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) ..................................................................... 1 
Petition Methods ..................................................................................................................... 1 
Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards ............................................................. 5 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas........................................................................................ 6 
History .................................................................................................................................... 6 
Land Use and Economy ......................................................................................................... 6 
Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned .................................................................... 7 

Fiscal Analysis ............................................................................................................................... 9 
Study Areas ................................................................................................................................. 9 
Fiscal Analysis Methodology ..................................................................................................... 11 

Individual Model Components .............................................................................................. 12 
2030 Projections ................................................................................................................... 21 

Fiscal Impact Analysis ............................................................................................................... 22 
Fiscal Effects ........................................................................................................................ 22 

Community Analysis .................................................................................................................... 28 
Community Analysis Methodology ............................................................................................ 28 

Interviews and Meetings ....................................................................................................... 28 
Survey .................................................................................................................................. 28 
Research and Reflection ...................................................................................................... 29 

Community Impact Analysis ...................................................................................................... 30 
Community Fiscal Concerns ................................................................................................ 34 
Planning and Growth Management ...................................................................................... 36 
Public Services and Infrastructure ....................................................................................... 40 
Governance .......................................................................................................................... 51 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area .......................................................................... 61 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xviii 

Study Area A ............................................................................................................................. 61 
Study Area B ............................................................................................................................. 63 
Study Area C ............................................................................................................................. 65 
Study Area D ............................................................................................................................. 67 
Study Area E ............................................................................................................................. 69 
Study Area F ............................................................................................................................. 71 
Study Area G (and E) ................................................................................................................ 73 

Transition Plan ............................................................................................................................. 75 
Transfer Process ....................................................................................................................... 75 
Policy Implications ..................................................................................................................... 79 
A History of Annexation in Palmer ............................................................................................ 83 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation .................................................................................. 83 
A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation ................................................................ 83 
Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development ............................................... 84 

Interview Questions ................................................................................................................... 87 
Residents and the General Public ........................................................................................ 87 
Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners ................................................................... 87 

Survey Questions ...................................................................................................................... 87 
 

Figures 
Figure 1. Annexation Process .......................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History ............................................................................................... 8 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map ............................................................................................................ 10 

Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology .......................................................................................... 11 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 .......................................................................... 13 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable .............................................. 14 

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity .................................................................................... 16 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures ....................................... 20 

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 30 

Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 32 

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 33 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area .......................................................... 44 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area ................................................................................. 46 

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area ............................................................ 48 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area .............................................................. 50 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xix 

Figure 16. Study Area A ................................................................................................................. 61 

Figure 17. Study Area B ................................................................................................................. 63 

Figure 18. Study Area C ................................................................................................................. 65 

Figure 19. Study Area D ................................................................................................................. 67 

Figure 20. Study Area E ................................................................................................................. 69 

Figure 21. Study Area F ................................................................................................................. 71 

Figure 22. Study Area G ................................................................................................................ 73 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map ................................................................... 85 

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 ............................................................................ 91 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation ..................................................................... 92 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents ................................................................................................. 92 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work ............................................................................... 93 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents ..................................................................................... 94 

Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 95 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 97 
 

Tables 
Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation ............................................ 5 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 ............................................................... 12 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 ..................................................................................... 15 

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) ....................................................... 15 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles .............................................................................................................. 17 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure ...................................... 18 

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues .................................................................................... 18 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues ....................................................................................... 19 

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ...................................................................... 24 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes............................................................................ 25 

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ..................... 26 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics ........................................................................................... 29 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 31 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 31 

Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 31 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation ......................................................................................... 75 

Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 93 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xx 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 93 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 94 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics ......................................................................................... 105 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 xxi 

Abbreviations 
AAC  Alaska Administrative Code 

ABSSA Anchorage Building Safety Service Area 

ADEC Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation 

ADOLWD  Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development 

ADT  Average Daily Traffic 

AMC Anchorage Municipal Code 

APUC  Alaska Public Utilities Commission 

ATV All-Terrain Vehicle 

CBJ City and Borough of Juneau 

CCR  Covenants, Codes and Restrictions 

CIP  Capital Improvement Plan  

COP City of Palmer 

DCCED  State of Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

FAQ Frequently Asked Questions 

IRS  Internal Revenue Service 

ISO  Insurance Services Office  

KMC Kenai Municipal Code 

LBC Local  Boundary Commission 

LID  Local Improvement District 

Mat-Su Matanuska-Susitna 

MBC Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code 

MSB Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

NPDES  National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

NRA National Rifle Association 

OHV  Off-Highway Vehicle  

PILOT  Payment In Lieu Of Taxes 

PMC  Palmer Municipal Code 

SALT  State and Local Taxes 
 

 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 1 

Introduction to Annexation 

Annexation in Alaska 
Alaska cities, boroughs, and unified municipalities extend their boundaries through annexation. The 
annexation process is shown in Figure 1. A petition for the annexation of some territory into a city or 
borough is made to the State of Alaska, and a decision is made by the State of Alaska through the Local 
Boundary Commission about whether to proceed with the annexation or not.  

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) 
Alaska’s state constitution (Article X, Section 12) established a Local Boundary Commission with the 
power to consider and approve any proposed local governmental boundary change, subject only to veto 
by the State Legislature (Article X, Section 12, Alaska Constitution). 

The Alaska Supreme Court clarified the LBC’s purpose and role in a landmark 1962 decision:1  

“Article X [of the Alaska Constitution] was drafted and submitted by the Committee on Local 
Government, which held a series of 31 meetings between November 15 and December 19, 1955. 
An examination of the relevant minutes of those meetings shows clearly the concept that was in 
mind when the local boundary commission section was being considered: that local political 
decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that boundaries should be established at 
the state level. The advantage of the method proposed, in the words of the committee: “. . . lies in 
placing the process at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be taken into account. By 
placing authority in this third-party, arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed 
objectively.” 

Fundamentally, the role of the LBC is to ensure an objective review of local city and borough boundaries 
to avoid placing sole decision-making responsibilities with local governments, particularly with respect to 
boundaries which can be difficult to properly define.2 The Alaska Division of Community and Regional 
Affairs provides staff support to the LBC, and also provides technical assistance to petitioners and to the 
general public. 

Petition Methods 
State statutes and administrative regulations define the method by which local governments may propose 
local governmental boundary changes, the LBC’s procedures for considering proposals, and the 
standards by which the LBC must evaluate proposals.  

Annexation by Legislative Review 
The primary, default method by which local governments may seek to alter their boundaries is the 
legislative review procedure authorized by the Alaska state constitution. Several important features of this 
process should be noted: 

• The only means by which Alaskan cities can alter their boundaries is by an annexation petition to 
the LBC.  

 
1 Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 
2 Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 2 

• Cities and certain other parties may propose local boundary changes by petition to the LBC, but 
only the LBC can approve a boundary change. Cities cannot, by themselves, change their local 
boundaries. 

• The LBC reviews the petition for compliance with applicable standards (summarized in the 
following pages). 

• As part of its review, the LBC conducts an extensive process for public comment, including a 
local public hearing. Both supporters and opponents of annexation have the opportunity to argue 
the merits of their position before the LBC. 

• Based on the petition record, the LBC may approve, amend (or impose conditions and approve), 
or disapprove the petition. To approve a petition, the LBC must find that the petition satisfies all 
applicable standards.  

• If the LBC approves the petition, it presents the petition to the State Legislature. The Legislature 
may disapprove the petition only by a resolution approved by a majority of members of each 
house. Approval is by tacit consent; meaning that the petition is approved through no action by 
the State Legislature.  

• Proposed boundary changes are not decided by local vote, even when the local action pathway 
to annexation is utilized (see the next section). The legislative process to annex land is consistent 
with the constitutional intent, affirmed by the Alaska Supreme Court, to place decisions about 
often contentious local boundary changes “at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be 
taken into account” and where “arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed 
objectively” by a third party. 

In summary, the legislative review process through Alaska’s constitution, state law and administrative 
regulations set detailed rules for petitioners, opponents, and supporters of annexation petitions as they 
argue their position before the LBC. In the legislative review procedure, LBC regulations require local 
governments to hold at least one local public hearing on a draft annexation petition before the local 
governing body can approve the final petition for submittal to the LBC. However, experience has shown 
that local governments are well advised to conduct an extensive and open public information and 
consultation process as they consider the merits of a proposed annexation. 

Annexation by Local Action 
The Alaska Legislature has authorized limited exceptions to the legislative review method for boundary 
changes. The Legislature has waived its authority to review certain non-controversial city annexation 
petitions, called local action petitions. These petitions must meet specific conditions and must still be 
reviewed and approved by the LBC. The Legislature has essentially pre-judged that these annexations 
are below its threshold of concern for exercising legislative review. By statute, local action petitions are 
limited to: 

• Annexation of adjoining city-owned property. 
• Annexation of adjoining territory, unanimously supported by property owners and voters in the 

territory proposed for annexation; and 
• Annexations approved by a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for 

annexation. 

It is technically possible for local governments to proceed with annexation through local action by 
requiring a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for annexation approve the 
annexation. However, as described under the legislative action section above, a vote is not a requirement 
of the process.  

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 3 

Legislative Review versus Local Action  
Since 1959, there have been a total of 264 annexations by cities. Of those, 136 annexation petitions were 
local action annexations. Most local action annexations were by unanimous consent or annexation of city 
property. Of the 19 local action annexation petitions prepared statewide in which there was a vote, six 
were rejected. The remaining 13 petitions were approved by a small margin or had a very small number 
of voters. All of these examples occurred in 1992 or earlier.  

Though many people indicate a preference toward local action because of a desire to vote on annexation, 
it may not be the most practical method of annexation. Statistically, about 70 percent of all local election 
annexations in Alaska have failed. The legislative option was created to get beyond the failure of the local 
action method when annexation is in the interests of the State. Alaska’s case law also supports the 
legislative option for successful annexation: 

• In 2010, the Local Boundary Commission approved a local action petition from the City of 
Dillingham asking voters whether to approve annexation of approximately 400 square miles of 
Nushagak Bay. The LBC approved the petition and voters affirmed it, but courts ultimately 
remanded the decision, nullifying the annexation and ordering a new petition through the 
legislative review method. In that subsequent petition, both the City of Manokotak and the City of 
Dillingham submitted annexation petitions by the legislative review method. Manokotak’s was 
accepted by the LBC and tacitly approved by the legislature. Dillingham’s was rejected by the 
LBC.  

• The Alaska Supreme Court has upheld the legislative review petition process on several 
occasions. In 1962, The Alaska Supreme Court stated in Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. 
City of Anchorage, “local political decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that 
boundaries should be established at the state level” and that in the words of the local government 
committee of the constitutional convention, “by placing authority in this third party, arguments for 
and against boundary change can be analyzed objectively.” 

• In 1971, the court held in City of Douglas v. City & Borough of Juneau that residents of a 
community have no constitutionally protected interest in its existence as a  separate 
governmental unit. Hence, the legislature may provide for the annexation of a community without 
its residents’ consent.  

• In 1974, in Mobil Oil Corp v. Local Boundary Commission, the court said the purpose for creating 
the LBC, and conferring upon it the powers it has, was to obviate the type of situation where there 
was a controversy over municipal boundaries which apparently could not be settled at the local 
level . 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 4 

Figure 1. Annexation Process by Local Action (3 AAC 110.150) or Legislative Review (3 AAC 110.140) 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 5 

Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards 
The LBC uses a set of annexation standards (summarized in Table 1 below) to review annexation 
petitions. As a quasi-judicial body, the LBC must make its decisions solely on the basis of standards in 
state law and relevant facts. If the City of Palmer opts to develop an annexation petition, that petition must 
show that the annexation would adequately meet these standards. This economic and community 
analysis will help the City evaluate its petition against these standards before submittal to the LBC for 
review.  

Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation (3 AAC 110.090-3 AAC 110.130) 

LBC Criterion Standard Specifics that may be considered 

Need of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.090) 

The territory must exhibit a 
reasonable need for city 
government. 

• Existing or anticipated residential and commercial 
growth outside the City anticipated over 10 years. 

• Existing or anticipated health, safety and general 
welfare problems 

• Existing or anticipated economic development 
• Adequacy of existing services in the territory 
• Extraterritorial powers of municipalities 
• Territory may not be annexed to a city if services to 

that territory can be provided more efficiently by 
another existing city or by an organized borough. 

Character of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.100) 

The territory must be 
compatible in character with 
the annexing city. 

• Land use, subdivision platting and ownership pattern 
• Salability of land for private uses. 
• Population density / recent population changes 
• Suitability of land for community purposes 
• Transportation and facility patterns 
• Natural geographic features/environmental factors 

Resources of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.110) 

The economy of the proposed 
post-annexation boundaries 
must include the human and 
financial resources necessary 
to provide essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

• Expenses and revenues from added territory 
• Economic base and property values 
• Industrial, commercial and resource development 

Population of the 
Territory 
Proposed to 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.120) 

The population within the post-
annexation boundaries must 
be sufficiently large and stable 
to support the extension of city 
government. 

• Total population 
• Duration of residency / age distribution 
• Historical population patterns / seasonal change 

Appropriate 
Boundaries  
(3 AAC 110.130) 

The proposed post-annexation 
boundaries must include all 
areas necessary to provide full 
development of essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

• Land use and ownership patterns / Population density 
• Transportation patterns 
• Geographic features / Should be contiguous 
• Not large unpopulated areas 
• 10 years’ worth of predictable growth 

Best interests of 
the State  
(3 AAC 110.135) 

The proposed annexation 
must be in the balanced best 
interests of the state, the 
territory proposed for 
annexation, the annexing city, 
and the borough in which the 
annexation is proposed. 

• Promotes maximum self-government 
• Promotes minimum number of government units 
• Relieves the state from providing local services 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 6 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas 
The City of Palmer is a home rule city of approximately 5.07 square miles located on the west bank of the 
Matanuska River in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) of Alaska. The City is approximately 42 road 
miles north of Anchorage, along the Glenn Highway. The City’s current population is approximately 6,041 
residents (2019, Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Research and Analysis 
Section).  

History 
The area that is now greater Palmer has long been a crossroads of several Tribes, including the Knik, 
Eklutna and Chickaloon Athabascan Tribes. Traditionally, people lived a more nomadic lifestyle in this 
area as they moved up and down the valley for subsistence and trading. Trails along the Matanuska River 
were used to transport trade goods within Den’aina lands.  

The city is named after George Palmer, a trader who is said to have arrived in 1875 and established a 
trading post on the Matanuska River around 1890. The community grew to include new residents who 
came as miners, homesteaders and for the construction of the Alaska Railroad in 1916. In 1935, over 200 
colonist families from upper midwestern states (e.g., Michigan, Wisconsin, and Minnesota) were relocated 
to Palmer to populate a planned agricultural colony as part of a New Deal program. Although the 
relocation program largely failed, some families remained in the area and continue to operate family 
farms generations later.  

Palmer incorporated as a city in 1951. Its population has continued to grow, fueled by the construction of 
the statewide road system and the growth and development of Anchorage. Today, Palmer has become 
an attractive place for families and a variety of businesses that serve the Mat-Su Valley and/or benefit 
from a relatively easy commute to and from Anchorage. Tribal people continue to reside in Palmer and in 
surrounding areas. Approximately eight percent of Palmer’s population identifies as Alaska Native. 

Land Use and Economy 
Palmer is a commercial center in the eastern Matanuska-Susitna Borough, known for its small-town 
character. A fairly compact downtown developed around the intersection of two major thoroughfares, the 
Glenn Highway and Palmer-Wasilla Highway. This central area has attracted government and 
professional offices, shops and eateries. The Alaska Railroad runs north-south through the city, carrying 
tourists/passengers during the summer. The Palmer Airport serves local aviation businesses, many of 
which cater to flightseeing tourists. Beyond the central business district, Palmer has several medium 
density residential neighborhoods, most of which are served by water and sewer. Residential subdivisions 
within City limits are mostly built out. Palmer residents enjoy neighborhood and community parks and bike 
trails through the main city corridors. Regional recreation attractions include the City-owned MTA Events 
Center and Ice Arena, Golf Course and Tennis Courts, as well as the Alaska State Fairgrounds. 

North of City limits, there are low-density residential areas and large tracts of farmland north of the 
Palmer-Wasilla Highway. To the west, land along the Palmer Wasilla Highway has been developed 
mainly as large lot and low-mid density residential (including some small-scale farming) and mixed-use 
properties with pockets of commercial development. To the southwest of the city, there is low-density, 
large-lot residential development along Glenn Highway toward a large area of public lands owned by the 
State and the University of Alaska. This area is home to the University of Alaska Mat-Su Campus and a 
regional recreation attraction, the Crevasse Moraine Trail System. Further south, where Parks and Glenn 
Highways meet, the Mat-Su Regional Hospital provides regional medical care. East of the Parks-Glenn 
Highway juncture, a large gravel mine crosses both sides of the Glenn Highway and extends all the way 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 7 

to the Matanuska River. Just south of City limits, the Inner Springer Loop area has, over time, been 
developed into some of the densest residential development in the greater Palmer area. The Outer 
Springer area extends to the Matanuska River and is characterized by a mix of farmland and residential 
properties.  

As with most regions within Alaska, Palmer’s population growth rate has slowed in recent years. In 2006, 
the Mat-Su Borough’s and the annexation study area’s populations were growing by about five percent 
per year. The region’s population growth rate has slowed to only 1.5 to two percent per year in recent 
years. Much of this slowdown is due to statewide trends: people are having fewer children, resulting in a 
much lower birthrate, and Alaska does not have a strong fiscal driver for in-migration. Statewide, Alaska 
has lost population due to out-migration in recent years, including the years leading up to the pandemic. 

Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned 
A Summary of Annexation in Palmer 
The history of annexation in Palmer is summarized below and in Figure 2. A more detailed history is 
included among the appendices.  

For the first five decades of Palmer’s incorporation as a City (1951-2001), annexation generally occurred 
upon request by property owners to the City. The primary reason for these requests was the desire for 
City water and sewer services. This practice of annexation by request created a number of enclaves, 
unincorporated areas that were bounded by the City of Palmer on all sides. The State discourages 
enclaves because they tend to cause confusion in municipal governance, taxation and service provision.  

In the 1990s, the State of Alaska Local Boundary Commission (LBC) urged the City of Palmer to deal with 
these enclaves and its future annexation policy in a more comprehensive manner. The LBC even went so 
far as to deny a City annexation request that would have created another enclave, an action that changed 
the City of Palmer’s effective annexation policy. The City went from annexation by request to an approach 
characterized by City-initiated petitions to annex fewer but larger, multi-parcel areas, supported by prior 
analysis and planning for the areas proposed for annexation.  

The 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan even recommended that the City file a conceptual growth 
boundary with the LBC identical to the Palmer water and sewer utility’s certificated service area boundary, 
so that future annexations would implement the concept. While this growth boundary was intended to 
illustrate the largest area people could imagine the city would ever be, it also arguably implied that 
annexation out to the certificated utility service area boundary was a goal that should be reached over 
time. Ultimately, whether or not annexation to a specific growth boundary proves to be desired or feasible 
is not a foregone conclusion; it will depend on how the greater Palmer community grows and evolves over 
time.  

In 2002, using the legislative review process, the City of Palmer annexed all of the enclaves that had 
been created over the years in a single annexation of over 900 acres. In 2011, one annexation petition of 
less than one acre was submitted to and approved by the LBC using the local action method by consent 
of the voters and property owners of land adjacent to city boundaries. A 2007 legislative action petition 
failed to pass a vote by the Palmer City Council to submit to the LBC because of the strenuous objections 
of residents in the areas proposed for annexation. 

Annexation Lessons Learned 
The vast majority of Palmer’s annexations have been small, voluntary and often driven by the annexed 
landowners’ desire to hook up to piped water and sewer services. Although this piecemeal approach 
allowed the City to observe area landowner preferences as to whether or not they wanted to be inside 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 8 

City boundaries, the resulting irregular boundaries of the City created practical problems. Irregular 
boundaries and enclaves often create confusion and dissatisfaction about where City services are 
provided, taxes are collected, and voting or other governance rights exist.    

 

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History 
• 1951: The City of Palmer was incorporated. 

• 1951-1999: 44 City annexations of various sizes, generally upon request by landowners.  

• 1999: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Gillian Smythe & Associates) 

• 1999: City of Palmer Annexation. The annexation of 64.9 acres was approved by the LBC as 
proposed and approved by unanimous consent of all property owners and residents registered as 
voters. 

• 2000-2001: City of Palmer Analysis of Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc., 
Smythe Associates) 

• 2002: City of Palmer Annexation. Through legislative review process, the LBC approved the 
annexation of 861.44 acres into the City of Palmer. The annexation received tacit approval of the 
legislature. 

• 2006: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Agnew::Beck Consulting) and City of Palmer Analysis of 
Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc.) 

• 2007: City of Palmer prepared an annexation petition that failed to pass City Council and was not 
submitted to the LBC. 

• 2010: Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., Kevin 
Waring & Associates) 

• 2011: City of Palmer Annexation. Annexation of 0.34 acres approved by the LBC and by 
unanimous consent using the local action process. 

• 2020: City of Palmer contracts with Agnew::Beck, Halcyon Consulting, and the Alaska Map 
Company to study the fiscal and community impacts of a future annexation.  

 

In 2002, with some influence from the State, the City used the legislative option to annex all remaining 
enclaves. Although the annexation by legislative option had mixed support among the affected 
landowners, it provided needed stability and coherence to the City’s boundaries. Within the next few 
years, the City decoupled its water and sewer utility service area boundaries from the City boundaries to 
better serve area residents, which effectively removed the primary motivation for voluntary annexations. 
With only one small, voluntary annexation in the nearly 20 years since then, City boundaries have been 
very stable.  

As the remaining analysis shows, this stability has allowed the City to largely optimize its revenues and 
services to its current boundaries. At the same time, there could be justification for extending some City 
services into new areas through annexations in future, as long as the costs to do so are balanced and 
rural lifestyles can be accommodated. The sense of Palmer as a community may also extend beyond its 
existing boundaries, causing area residents to desire an expanded voice in governance, locally and vis-à-
vis other communities in the state. The decision to annex or not will likely require continued 
communication in a spirit of partnership among the City and any areas it may consider for annexation.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 9 

Fiscal Analysis 

Study Areas  
The modeling techniques described in this chapter require the team to first establish a set of geographic 
boundaries to analyze. City staff and the consultant team started with a general boundary similar to the 
Phase 1 area of the 2006 Palmer Annexation Study (shown in Figure 23 in the Appendices). This area 
was divided into smaller study areas using the guiding questions below. These questions integrate Local 
Boundary Commission annexation standards (Table 1) and the City’s broad goals for annexation 
described in earlier report chapters:  

• Where is growth happening now and over the next 10 years? 
• Where are there health and safety issues that need addressing by the City? 
• Does the City have capacity to provide services to the area? 
• Where is economic development happening or anticipated, including commercial corridors? 
• Do the sub-areas have similar natural features? 
• Are the land use patterns similar? 

The Study Areas map on the following page (Figure 3) shows the resulting seven study areas. These 
geographic boundaries were used to model City finances and service needs upon a hypothetical 
annexation. These areas may or may not be selected for a future annexation petition to the State of 
Alaska. If the City chooses to proceed with annexation, land within these study areas could become part 
of the annexation petition; land outside these study areas could also be considered for annexation.  

Outer Springer Loop: The study areas selected for analytical purposes do not include a large area of 
land between the Glenn Highway and the Matanuska River, called the Outer Springer Loop. This area 
was discussed, but not included because of the size of the area and mix of land uses. Successful 
annexation of an area must be balanced by a corresponding revenue base to support it. As the fiscal 
analysis shows, areas with significant residential populations require a higher (and more costly) level of 
City services. The Outer Springer Loop contains primarily residential subdivisions and farmland, much 
like the Inner Springer Loop (Study Area F), at a much larger scale. The Fiscal Analysis shows that 
annexation of Study Area F would result in a net cost to the City over at least a decade. Annexation of 
the remaining Springer system would have a correspondingly greater net cost to the City. With 
agricultural tax exemptions, the farms in the area would not generate enough commercial tax revenue 
to support the level of services that would be required.  

A question was also raised about whether the LBC would consider any un-annexed land in the Springer 
system to be an enclave if Study Areas E and G were annexed. The 2002 City-initiated annexation 
petition included land that was bordered by the City and the Matanuska River specifically because it 
was considered an enclave, suggesting that the LBC could interpret the Springer system as an 
enclave. However, in this hypothetical annexation, any un-annexed land in the Springer system could 
be interpreted as not a true enclave because it would not be separated from local government services. 
The Alaska State Troopers could still access the area via the State-owned Glenn Highway. Most other 
essential services are already provided by agreement between the Mat-Su Borough and the City of 
Palmer within service areas that are decoupled from City boundaries, therefore unaffected by 
annexation. The consultant team sought advice from LBC staff during winter of 2020-2021, but specific 
guidance was unavailable. Should the City proceed with a petition, the consultants’ recommendation 
would be to consider this issue with LBC staff before submitting the petition. 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 10 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 11 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 
The fiscal (i.e., economic) analysis follows a well-established approach developed for the City of Palmer 
during the 2006 annexation study and which the study team has used successfully for other Alaskan 
communities in the intervening period (Figure 4). The process the analysis follows includes: 

1. Identifying the geographic region the municipality wants to include in the analysis and dividing 
that region into study areas with a focus toward keeping contiguous neighborhoods of similar 
character together. 

2. Collecting relevant data about the municipality and the study areas which then serve as inputs 
into the fiscal model. These data include population, property values, services gained/lost with 
annexation, sales tax revenues, municipal budget data, etc. In essence, the study gathers data 
on anything that might materially affect municipal finances in a post-annexation environment. 

3. Building a fiscal model based on how the municipality provides services to its population and 
generates revenue under current conditions and how it would provide services and generate 
revenue if it annexed the study areas. This step provides estimated fiscal effects in the current 
year if the municipality had annexed the study areas. 

4. Developing scenarios of future changes in population, service cost, revenue, and service 
provision. 

5. Predicting future fiscal conditions and annexation effects by repeating step 3 but using the 
estimates developed in Step 4. 

 
Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 12 

Individual Model Components 
The City of Palmer Annexation Fiscal Model (hereafter “the fiscal model” or “the model”)  is comprised of 
three primary components: 

1. Underlying demographic data and physical attributes including population, property tax base, the 
sales tax base, and miles of maintained roads. 

2. Revenue components such as actual property taxes collected, sales taxes collected, and all other 
collected fines, fees, and forfeitures. 

3. Cost of public service components such as police, fire, public works, and non-public safety 
general government (e.g., administration, finance, etc.). 

The following sub-sections describe the roles these elements play in the fiscal model in greater detail. 

Demographics, Physical Attributes, Tax Base 
The following model components capture the underlying physical elements that drive the city’s service 
costs and revenue streams.  

Population 
Many city costs are directly and indirectly driven by population. For example, the city’s police department 
currently fields one sworn officer for approximately every 610 residents. This service ratio is typical for 
many Alaskan cities and many small communities around the country. Maintaining this service ratio 
means that as population increases, the number of sworn officers increases, as do the number of support 
personnel and non-personnel related costs. 

Using data from the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development and the U.S. Census 
Bureau, the study estimates that in 2020, the population of the current City of Palmer was roughly 6,100 
individuals, while the combined population of all study areas was approximately 3,500. Over the past 
decade, the study estimates that the City of Palmer grew at an average rate of 0.5 percent per year and 
added 322 citizens. The study areas in aggregate grew at an average of 1.9 percent year, but that growth 
was unevenly distributed across the individual study areas. In fact, take away Study Area F and none of 
the individual study areas grew at a faster rate than the city; taken together, all other study areas actually 
had a slower growth rate than the city. The 1.9 percent compound annual growth rate is much lower than 
the 5+ percent compound annual growth rate the region was experiencing during the 2006 annexation 
study. 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 

Study Area 
Est. Population 

2010 
Est. Population 

2020 Change (N) 
Avg Annual 

Growth Rate (%) 
Study Area A 35 35 0 0.0 

Study Area B 54 57 3 0.5 

Study Area C 80 80 0 0.0 

Study Area D 1,156 1,200 44 0.4 

Study Area E 835 878 43 0.5 

Study Area F 744 1,259 515 5.4 

Study Area G 8 8 0 0.0 

All Study Areas 2,912 3,517 605 1.9 

City of Palmer 5,781 6,103 322 0.5 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 13 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 

 

Property Tax Base 
Property taxes are the City of Palmer’s second most important revenue source after sales taxes, 
generating approximately 15 percent of all tax revenue and 11.5 percent of all revenue. The current city 
mil rate is 3.0 mils (0.3 percent) per annum. In addition, the city residents also pay property taxes to the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough equal to 10.3 mils (1.03 percent) per annum. City residents avoid paying 
roughly 3.08 mils (0.308 percent) of non-areawide Matanuska-Susitna Borough taxes because the City of 
Palmer provides certain services which displace borough services. All things being equal (i.e., if tax rates 
didn’t change), annexed properties would see a drop in property tax rates of 0.08 mils based on 2020 
rates. This change would provide at least equivalent road and fire services and more responsive police 
service. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 14 

As one might expect, aggregate property values are largely concentrated within the City of Palmer, with 
additional areas of medium density seen in Areas D, F, and E (Figure 6). There are two concentrations 
outside the city limits: (1) at the intersection of Bogard Road and N. 49th State Street, and (2) at the 
intersection of Trunk Road and the Parks Highway. The former area (1) includes properties associated 
with tax exempt organizations (i.e., schools and churches), while the latter (2) includes the private 
medical infrastructure of Mat-Su Regional Hospital and surrounding businesses. 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

 

The combined assessed value of buildings and land in the City of Palmer is nearly $470 million or 
$76,700 per person of value, on average. Annexing all of the study areas would increase the property tax 
base by $229 million; a 49 percent increase. The annexation study areas vary widely in combined value 
and value per capita. The study area with the highest combined value is Area D, which also has the 
second highest value per capita. Study Area G has the highest value per capita because it is home to 
commercial gravel operations and has almost no residents. Study A has the lowest combined value and 
the lowest value per capita, but it has very few residents.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 15 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 

Study Area 
Assessed Land 

Values ($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined Value 

($M) 
Value per Capita 

($) 
Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 46,683 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.50 78,972 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 89,819 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 108,221 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 68,098 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 82,684 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 581,563 

All Study Areas 51.50 260.23 229.40 65,225 

City of Palmer 109.71 358.47 468.18 76,713 

Sales Tax Base 
Sales taxes are the city’s largest single source of taxes and revenue, accounting for 84 percent of annual 
tax revenue and nearly 66 percent of all revenues. As one of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough’s major 
commercial and retail centers, the city is playing to its strengths by having a sales tax. Local commercial 
activity is concentrated within the current City of Palmer boundaries (Figure 7). The study estimates that, 
of an estimated $440 million in annual non-tax-exempt commercial activity within the entire study area, 85 
percent occurs within existing City of Palmer boundaries.  

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) 

Study Area 

Approximate Annual Non-
Exempt Commercial 

Activity ($M) 
Est. 2020 

Population 

Est. Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

per Capita ($) 
Study Area A 0.5 35 14,000 

Study Area B 8.1 57 142,000 

Study Area C 0.3 80 4,000 

Study Area D 14.8 1,200 12,000 

Study Area E 12.5 878 14,000 

Study Area F 2.3 1,259 2,000 

Study Area G 26.8 8 3,350,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 3,517 19,000 

All Study Areas ex. G 38.5 3,509 11,000 

City of Palmer 374.0 6,103 61,000 
Source: Alaska Map Company via DataAxle, 2020.  

In short, the current city boundaries are largely optimized to capture current commercial activity. Only in 
Areas B and G does the per capita sales tax resource base exceed the per capita sales tax resource 
base found within the city. The resources in both of these areas come with important notes: 

• The resource base within Area B is small: just 2.5 percent of what occurs inside the current city 
limits. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 16 

• The resource base in Area G likely requires either: (1) the establishment of a gravel severance 
tax or (2) a change in the city’s $1,000 sales tax cap in order to generate significant tax revenue. 

The remaining areas are all relatively commercial-activity poor relative to the population base.  

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

 

Road Lane Miles 
The largest non-education costs in most cities are police, fire/emergency response, and public works 
services. The City of Palmer is no different, with 41 percent of the approved FY 2020 budget dedicated to 
Police and Fire/Emergency Response. Public Works the next largest line item, accounting for 18 percent 
of the budget. The primary function of Public Works is to maintain and repair surface transportation routes 
in the city, whether that means repairing potholes in the summer, or plowing and removing snow in the 
winter. The cost of these services is a direct function of the number of road lane miles the city maintains. 
The study estimates that there are currently 82 road lane miles in the city, including area associated with 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 17 

on-street parking, and that there are 54 lane miles in the study areas which would transfer to the City.3 
Thus, annexing all of the study areas would increase the number of road lane miles maintained by the 
Palmer Public Works Department by 66 percent. 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles 

Study Area Public Lane Miles (Borough and Road Service Area Roads) 
Study Area A <1  

Study Area B <1 

Study Area C 4 

Study Area D 19 

Study Area E 14 

Study Area F 13 

Study Area G 1 

All Study Areas 54 

City of Palmer 82 
Source: Alaska Map Company 

Revenues 
Taxes, fees, fines, forfeitures, and permits/licenses make up 92 percent of the city’s annual revenues. 
The remaining eight percent of the city’s annual revenues include receipts from the MTA Events Center, 
grants/federal funding, and other revenues; these revenues are unlikely to be affected by annexation.  
The study’s fiscal model concentrates on the 92 percent of revenue generated by these sources because 
they will be directly affected by annexation. 

Sales Taxes (including Utility Sales Taxes) 
The City of Palmer generates sales tax revenues in multiple ways, including traditional sales taxes at 
brick-and-mortar businesses located within the city, a sales tax on utility bills for properties in the city, 
and, starting just recently, a sales tax on online sales.  

The study considered multiple methods of estimating sales tax revenues under annexation at brick-and-
mortar businesses including using per capita averages and average revenue per business. These 
methods were dismissed for a more accurate method that allows the study to account for the city’s 
specific sales tax ordinances, particularly those that exempt services and cap single-purchase maximum 
tax charges at $30. The study purchased a database from DataAxle, a company that specializes in 
estimating commercial activity at the business level. The study then excluded exempt businesses and 
organizations as defined by city ordinances. The study estimates that there is currently $374 million in 
annual commercial activity at non-exempt businesses and organizations within city limits. From this tax 
base, the city generates between $7.0 million and $7.5 million in sales taxes each year; effectively equal 
to two percent of all activity at non-exempt businesses.4 The study repeated the process of excluding 
exempt organizations/business for each annexation study area, then applied the two percent tax harvest 
rate. The study estimates utility sales taxes by calculating the ratio of utility sales tax collected in the city 

 
3 Lane miles that would transfer to the City include those currently maintained by the Borough and road service 
areas. Roads currently maintained by the State of Alaska would not transfer to the City. 
4 The city’s sales tax rate is three percent, but exempt activity at non-exempt businesses (e.g., purchasing medicine 
at the grocery store) and the sales tax cap on individual purchases above $1,000 reduce the city’s effective tax rate to 
two percent across all commercial activity.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 18 

to property values in the city, then applying that ratio to property values in each study area. Online sales 
taxes are estimated as five percent of aggregate non-utility sales taxes divided among the study areas by 
population. The five percent metric came from a recommendation by the Alaska Municipal League. 

The study estimates that the annexation study areas in aggregate would generate nearly $1.7 million 
each year in sales taxes (from all sources), with Study Areas D, E, and G containing the largest revenue 
sources (Table 6). 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure (Rounded to Nearest $1,000) 

Study Area 

Approximate 
Annual Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

($M) 

Estimated  
Non-Utility 

Sales 
Taxes 

Estimated  
Utility Sales  

Taxes 

Estimated 
Online 
Sales 
Taxes 

Total Sales 
Tax 

Revenue 
Study Area A 0.5 15,000 1,000 1,000 17,000 

Study Area B 8.1 160,000 4,000 2,000 166,000 

Study Area C 0.3 6,000 5,000 2,000 13,000 

Study Area D 14.8 293,000 114,000 40,000 447,000 

Study Area E 12.5 247,000 52,000 29,000 328,000 

Study Area F 2.3 46,000 91,000 41,000 178,000 

Study Area G5 26.8 531,000 4,000 <1,000 535,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 1,299,000 271,000 115,000 1,684,000 

Property Taxes 
Property tax revenues are the city’s second largest revenue source. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
provided the study with assessed tax values for all properties in the city and the study area. The analysis 
estimates property tax revenues by applying the city’s 3 mil property tax rate to aggregate property values 
in each study area. The study estimates the effect on a typical $250,000 property by applying the city’s 
property tax rate to properties in the study area and subtracting the Matanuska-Susitna Borough mil rates 
that would no longer apply to those properties if annexed. The largest potential sources of property tax 
revenues are Study Areas D, F, and E.  

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues 

Study Area 

Assessed 
Land Values 

($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined 
Value ($M) 

Estimated Annual 
Property Tax 

Revenues at 3 Mils ($) 
Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 55,000 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.5 14,000 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 22,000 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 390,000 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 179,000 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 312,000 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 14,000 

All Study Areas 51.5 260.23 229.40 935,000 
 

5 Figures for Study Area G would require a gravel severance tax or change in current sales tax caps. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 19 

Other Revenues 
The city generates a small proportion of its revenues from businesses licenses and fees, building permits 
and fees, and other fines and forfeitures. The study models these additional revenues primarily on a per 
capita basis. In addition, should the city annex any territory, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough can be 
expected to lower its reimbursement to the City of Palmer for operating the Greater Palmer Fire Service 
Area. Table 8 shows net estimated other revenues by study area. Study Areas F, D and E have the 
highest estimated net revenues from these sources because they have the greatest concentrations of 
residents and businesses in the areas outside current city limits. 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues 

Study Area Est. Other Revenues 
Est. Greater Palmer 

Fire Service Area Adj. 
Est. Net Other 

Revenues 
Study Area A 5,500 -1,400 4,100 

Study Area B 9,700 -1,700 8,000 

Study Area C 12,500 -2,000 10,500 

Study Area D 190,000 -29,900 160,100 

Study Area E 138,500 -20,500 118,000 

Study Area F 197,000 -32,000 165,000 

Study Area G 1,400 -300 1,100 

All Study Areas 554,700 -87,800 466,900 

Service Costs 
The study analyzed the city’s budget categories by whether they would be affected by annexation or not. 
The city’s largest cost drivers are Public Safety and Public Works services, which account for 59 percent 
of the city’s approved budget (Figure 8). The study expects that the Police and Public Works cost 
categories would be sharply affected by providing services to annexed areas. Fire Department costs 
would not necessarily increase because Palmer’s fire department already serves the study areas. 
However, as noted above, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough would likely lower fire service area 
reimbursements to the City. The smaller cost categories of the City Manager’s office, Finance, and 
Community Development would be affected as well. The study assumes that the Library, MTA Events Ctr, 
City Hall-Transfers, and Tourist Ctr-Depot, and Mayor-Council-Clerk would be largely unaffected by 
annexation. 

The remainder of this section describes how the model estimates the fiscal effects of annexation on 
affected cost categories. 

Police 
The study models the effects of annexation on the city’s police department through a service ratio 
approach. The city currently maintains one sworn officer per 610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, 
and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff member per 2,034 citizens. The city’s budget and personnel 
counts allow the study to calculate average staffing costs. The study adds a new employee when the 
service ratio exceeds 105 percent of the current service ratio. For example, the number of citizens per 
sworn officer would have to increase to 641:1 before a new officer would be added. Adding a new officer 
would drop the sworn officer ratio to 583:1. The model would not add another new officer until the number 
of citizens per officer increase to 641:1 again (7,051 citizens). In addition to salary and benefit costs, the 
model adds the equipment needed to field a new officer every time an officer is added. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 20 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures  
 

 
Source: City of Palmer, 2021. 

Public Works 
The number of maintained road lane miles drive the costs of the Public Works Department, minus the 
parks and recreation component. The study calculated road lane miles in the city and the study areas, 
then calculated the cost of maintaining road lane miles and the number of road lane miles one Public 
Works staff and their equipment could maintain. The study then worked with the Palmer Public Works 
Department to estimate the staffing and equipment needed to maintain each service area. Looking at the 
study areas, smaller areas or areas with limited public roads can be annexed without adding personnel 
and additional equipment. Study areas with more extensive roads will require significant new personnel. 

Non-Public Safety/Non-Public Works General Government 
The cost of providing the remaining general government services (excluding the library, event center, 
mayoral and council salaries, and other non-departmental line items) is $446 per person per year. In 
general, as a city’s population increases, the total cost of providing general government services also 
increases, but at a declining rate. In short, as long as they do not add new services or departments, cities 
experience economies of scale because they can provide services to a larger population more efficiently 
and spread the costs over a larger tax base. The study adds general government costs for each potential 
new citizen in the study areas but reduces that additional cost per citizen as the city grows. 

Capital Costs 
The study’s fiscal models include capital costs such as additional police vehicles and equipment, 
additional graders and dump trucks, and a new storage building for public works. The model assumes 
these purchases are made when a new police officer is needed or when new equipment operators are 
needed. The city’s department heads maintain that they are currently operating with the minimum amount 

https://www.palmerak.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/finance/page/6701/final_adopted_2020_budget.pdf
https://www.palmerak.org/sites/default/files/fileattachments/finance/page/6701/final_adopted_2020_budget.pdf


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 21 

of equipment they need for the people they currently have on staff. The Palmer Public Works Department 
currently rents vehicle storage and maintenance space at the Palmer Airport rather than own and 
maintain its own storage and maintenance space. This arrangement helps the Airport’s bottom line and 
allows for city equipment and staff to clear the airport’s runways. However, the Public Works Department 
indicates that they have no space to expand in their current location; adding additional personnel and 
equipment would require leasing or building a new space. The study estimates the cost of building a new 
Public Works storage and maintenance space at $3 million for a basic steel structure and land. This new 
building is incorporated into the fiscal model as soon as the model indicates that the Public Works 
Department would need to hire new personnel and purchase additional equipment.  

New capital for cities is relatively inexpensive because of historically low interest rates. Cities can issue 
bonds for as low as two percent per annum interest, meaning that every million dollars of debt issued 
through a 15-year municipal bond costs only $85,800 per year to repay. Repaying one million dollars in 
capital debt would currently require the city to collect an additional 1.1 cents for every dollar currently 
collected in sales tax revenue. Alternatively, if the debt were repaid through sales tax collections the 
average owner of $250,000 of taxable property would pay $27 more in property taxes per year if the tax 
base included the current city tax base plus the tax base in all the study areas. 

The study does not include a new fire station, which is not currently needed to provide fire protection. 
However, interviews conducted for this study indicated that without a new fire station, the Insurance 
Services Office (ISO) would likely increase the city’s ISO fire score. A higher rating indicates greater fire 
risk and/or lower ability to respond to a fire. The score runs from 1 to 10. Any area more than five driving 
miles from a fire station is automatically a 10. An increased ISO fire score would not directly cost the city 
money, but it could result in increased insurance costs for citizens, as home insurance premiums often 
incorporate this score. The study estimates the cost of a modest fire station at $5,000,000.  

2030 Projections 
The study estimates the net fiscal effect of projected 2030 conditions in 2020 (real dollar) terms. The 
2030 projections carry forward the methodology used in fiscal model described in the previous section 
and adjust anticipated growth in the City of Palmer and study areas. Projections are driven by 
assumptions that impact the following economic drivers: 

1. Changes to population 

2. Forecasted housing development 

3. Changes to revenue components, such as property taxes and sales taxes collected.  

The follow sub-sections describe the roles each of these elements play in the 2030 projections in greater 
detail. 

Population 
The fiscal model bases future population growth on Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development (ADOLWD) population projections. The ADOLWD projects that the population of the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough will have an average annual growth rate of 1.8 percent between 2020 and 
2030. This growth rate is used to project the 2030 populations for the City of Palmer and total population 
of the combined study areas. The model then distributes the combined study area populations to each of 
the seven focus areas based on historical population distribution and the perceived future development 
potential in each area. Information collection through interviews with City of Palmer and Matanuska-
Susitna Borough department heads informed the distribution of the projected population growth within the 
study area. The study notes that a 1.8 percent growth rate is 60 percent less than the average annual 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 22 

growth rate of 5.0 percent presumed in the 2006 study. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough, and Alaska in 
general, are growing much more slowly in percentage compared to 15 years ago. Growth rates have 
slowed because birth rates are declining and because economic conditions are attracting fewer people to 
Alaska, while more people are moving out-of-state.  

Housing  
The fiscal model estimates the number of current residential structures using property tax appraisal data 
collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. The number of future residential structures is based on 
estimated population growth in each of the study areas divided by the current average household size in 
the study area (2.58 persons per residential structure). These housing projections assume that future 
growth will reflect current building trends and average household sizes. 

Property Taxes 
The fiscal model estimates the future property tax base using population projections (described above) 
and the average assessed value (combined land and building) per capita in each study area. Area-
specific assumptions about future development potential are used to adjust population projections, and 
average annual growth rates in assessed property values (between 2010 and 2020) are used to adjust for 
expected changes in property values. Property tax revenues are calculated by multiplying projected 
property values by the City’s current mil rate of 3.0 mils. The model assumes the mil rate stays constant 
through 2030.  

Sales Taxes 
The fiscal model estimates sales tax revenues using the average annual sales tax per capita. Historical 
sales tax revenues published by Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic 
Development (DCCED) are divided by annual DOLWD population estimates for the City of Palmer and 
surrounding census tracts to calculate and average sales tax per capita and the corresponding average 
annual growth in sales tax revenues per person.6 The average annual growth in sales tax per person is 
used to calculate the average sales tax per person in 2030 and that number is then applied to the 
population estimate for the combined study areas. The model distributes projected sales tax revenues to 
each study area based on the historical distribution of commercial activity in each area.  

Fiscal Impact Analysis 

Fiscal Effects 
Annexations almost always have some level of fiscal effect on the annexing city and the annexed areas. 
By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. As noted previously, a central goal of this study is to estimate the fiscal effects of annexation on 
the city, on city residents, and on residents of studied areas. 

 
6 Sales Tax per capital calculations based on 2010-2019 DOLWD population estimates for census tracts 11, 12.01. 
12.02, and 13 in the Mat-Su Borough  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 23 

Fiscal Findings 
As explained below, the study finds that annexation of most of the study areas in this analysis would 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects (i.e., cost more money than they would raise in taxes). 
However, these fiscal gaps are small and could be readily mitigated using the city’s existing tax structure.  
In particular, balancing the budget using the city’s sales tax resource would likely be imperceptible to 
taxpayers, for the most part. For example, annexing all areas and mitigating the fiscal effects through a 
sales tax increase would cost a taxpayer an extra $0.10 on a $100 purchase. There are a few study areas 
where the increased cost to property taxpayers would be potentially noticeable and impactful (about $300 
to $400 per year) assuming the city opted to mitigate the cost of annexation solely through property taxes 
in those areas. 

The study assessed the fiscal effects of eight different annexation scenarios, looking at how annexation 
would affect not only net operating fiscal effects but debt repayment fiscal effects. The study estimates 
that, if the city annexed all of the annexation areas, annual revenues under the current tax structure 
would increase by nearly $3.09 million, while operating costs would increase by $3.54 million for a net 
operating fiscal effect of approximately -$0.45 million (-$448,000) (Table 9). At the same time, the study 
estimates that the City would need to invest roughly $5.4 million in capital costs, which at current interest 
rates, would result in an annual debt repayment cost of $469,000. Thus, the total net fiscal effect of 
annexing all study areas is roughly -$0.9 million. In order to balance the budget, the City would have to 
cut costs equal to this amount, raise revenues equal to this amount, or find some combination of cost 
saving measures and additional revenue generation.  

The combined study areas are roughly equivalent to the “Phase 1” area considered in the 2006 Palmer 
annexation analysis. The 2006 study found that by 2015, Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of 
-$300,000 and -$600,000 per year. If that study had extended its projections to 2020, it would have 
estimated that Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of -$550,000 to -$1.5 million. In 2020, this 
study’s results for annexing all the study areas is nearly in the middle of that range, reaffirming the Phase 
1 results of the 2006 study. In fact, the 2006 range projected to 2020 suggests that either the study areas 
in this study are smaller than the Phase 1 area, the actual population growth rate has been lower than 
anticipated in 2006, the City has found ways to reduce the cost of providing public goods and services 
since 2006, or some combination of these factors. 

This 2020 study’s estimates for the individual study areas show a fairly wide range of results, reflecting 
the unique characteristics of each area. For example, the study estimates that: 

• Areas A or C could be annexed with minimal annual fiscal effects. These areas have small 
populations, minimal levels of public roads, require no real capital investment, and have relatively 
scant tax bases.  

• Area B could be annexed with a positive net annual fiscal effect. In short, taxpayers in both the 
City and Area B could benefit from modestly lower taxes. This area has limited population, a 
decent tax base relative to population, and would require no real capital investment on the part of 
the city to service. 

• Areas D, E, or F would all have a negative net annual fiscal effect on the city because they are 
home to larger populations and more public roads. All require similar levels of capital investment 
and more capital investment than Areas A, B, or C. Of these three areas, Area D has the lowest 
fiscally negative effect because it has a sales tax base to balance out its higher costs. Area F has 
the largest predicted negative net annual fiscal effects because it is largely residential and has no 
corresponding sales tax base.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 24 

• Area G is only considered for annexation in combination with Area E in observance of State 
annexation rules that prevent the creation of enclaves. Because Study Area G is not contiguous 
with the current city boundaries, Area E is required to create a contiguous geographic area. The 
study predicts negative net annual fiscal effects from annexing these study areas together.  

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation  
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment  
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000 

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000 

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000 

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000 

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000 

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000 

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000 

 
The positive or negative net fiscal effects of annexation can be offset by changes in the City’s tax rates. In 
the case of positive fiscal effects, taxpayers would receive a reduction in their rates. Negative net fiscal 
effects require tax rate increases or service reductions to balance the city budget. The study finds that in 
all annexation scenarios, the City could balance its budget with relatively small tax increases, particularly 
if the City leveraged its sales tax base. For example, if the City annexed all the annexation areas, the 
study estimates that it could balance its budget by increasing the sales tax rate from 3 percent to 3.15 
percent. The net effect on a typical $1,000 of commercial activity at non-exempt businesses would be 
$0.98 of increased taxation. Alternatively, the city could raise its property tax mill rate to 3.6 mils, which 
would cost the owner of a $250,000 property an additional $290 annually if the property is inside or 
outside the current city limits (Table 10). 

Table 10 converts the net fiscal effect (Table 9) into expected “pocketbook” effects for taxpayers. Study 
Areas may have similar net fiscal effects, but the relative size of their tax bases determines how much tax 
rates would need to change to balance those net fiscal effects. For example, annexing Area F or 
annexing all the study areas would have the same net fiscal effect. However, annexing all study areas 
has less than half the property tax effect and about half the sales tax effect of annexing Area F alone. 
This difference between the net fiscal effect and the net tax effect is because city services are utilized 
more efficiently when the city annexes a larger area and because a larger annexation would spread the 
cost of services over the maximum tax base. 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 25 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 

Budget  
(3 mils + 

…) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance 
Budget  
(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at 

Non-Exempt 
Businesses 

($) 
Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37 

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 

 
The results of the study clearly show that annexation of Areas A, B, C, and E+G would have minimal tax 
effects on taxpayers in the city and in annexation areas. Annexing Area E, Area D, or Area F would have 
modest, but significantly larger tax effects; annexing all study areas results in tax effects between the 
former and the latter. These results provide insight into two broad options for the City if it chooses to 
pursue annexation. The City could choose: 

A. Go Small: The “go small” approach would involve the City annexing some combination of Areas 
A, B, and/or C, or it could choose to annex Area E+G. Annexing one, or perhaps some of these 
areas, would require the least investment in new personnel, equipment, and buildings. 
Annexation would require little to no changes in the City’s current tax structure. The City could 
focus its efforts on the issue of how to adapt current city ordinances to accommodate the lifestyle 
issue raised in public comment and identified by the study’s survey. 

B. Go Big: Study results indicate that if the City wants to annex some of the larger, more populated 
areas, it should consider whether it wants to annex all or nearly all of the annexation areas under 
consideration. Annexing a large population at once allows the City to take advantage of 
economies of scale and spread capital costs over the largest tax base possible, an option not 
available when considering annexing only Areas D, E, or F. In a “Go Big” approach, the City 
would annex all of the study areas (with the possible exception of Area F). This approach would 
likely require a modest change in tax structure and investment in revising the City’s ordinances to 
address the issues raised by the survey and public process. 

2030 Fiscal Findings 
The following section summarizes the projected fiscal effects of annexation expected to be seen in the 
year 2030. The projected fiscal impacts for 2030 are presented in 2020 dollars or in real terms. 
Presenting these values in real terms excludes the effect of inflation, so that both the 2020 and 2030 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 26 

values are viewed through the same 2020 lens, allowing for an “apples to apples” comparison. This 
model assumes that changes in costs will align with the general upward price movement of goods and 
services in the economy and that inflationary impacts will largely be canceled out.  

The study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would continue to result in net 
negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Table 11 summarizes the environmental and fiscal 
changes projected for 2030 in additive terms (i.e., the expected change between the 2020 and 2030). The 
study estimates that if the City annexed all of the study areas, annual revenues would increase by 
$306,000 and annual operating costs would increase by $387,000 between 2020 and 2030. These 
changes would increase the overall fiscal gap by roughly $95,500. This change is primarily driven by 
projected population growth and changes in sales and property tax revenues.  

Looking at individual study areas, the model projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would 
start to close as the population increases and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis 
projects that the net fiscal effects of annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G. In Study Area D, 
continued population growth is expected to incur service increases (i.e., the need for additional police 
officer(s)) without commensurate development of tax resources. There are very few sales tax resources in 
Study Area F, and continued population growth will only increase expected city operating costs in that 
area. Study Area G is expected to see decreased revenue potential as the large gravel pit in that area 
nears the end of its operational life.  

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500 

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500 

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000 

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500 

 
The 2030 projections for the individual study area vary significantly between study area and reflect the 
unique characteristics of each study area. The 2030 projections assume that: 

• While the soils in Area A are good for development, there is not a lot of available land in this 
area. There is no real expectation for future development in this area. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 27 

• Areas B and C are both largely agricultural, but as larger parcels are divided and sold, these 
areas could see a healthy portion of projected future growth.7 Area C’s proximity to schools also 
makes this area desirable for future development.  

• Area D is largely built out and is seen as having less potential for future growth. This area’s 
proximity to trails makes it desirable, but there are a limited number of parcels that could 
accommodate future growth.  

• Area E is largely raw land that is seen as highly desirable but could be slightly more expensive to 
develop. This area is expected to capture a moderate amount of future growth. 

• Infill is likely to continue in Area F but there are a number of large lots owned by the Alaska State 
Fair that might limit future development. 

• Area G is viewed as largely unsuitable for residential development due to extensive gravel 
mining operations in the area. 

 

  

 
7 Several Palmer-area farmers have been and continue to work with the Alaska Farmland Trust to place agricultural 
preservation easements on their farmland. These preservation easements could decrease the development potential 
of farmland, depending on the provisions of the easement.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 28 

Community Analysis 

Community Analysis Methodology 
The community analysis focuses on public perception as well as non-fiscal annexation impacts that would 
affect annexed areas, such as the application of City land use and other regulations. The community 
analysis is used to: a) inform the fiscal modeling assumptions, if applicable, b) clarify the changes and 
resulting impacts of a proposed annexation, and c) identify actions the City of Palmer could take to 
ameliorate unwanted effects of annexation, d) understand how members of the greater Palmer 
community weigh the potential benefits and challenges of annexation.  

The project team conducted public outreach to identify specific annexation effects through a variety of 
methods, including interviews and meetings and two rounds of an online survey. The Project team 
reviewed relevant comments and testimony offered at City Council meetings about the annexation study 
and responded to emails and telephone calls about the study from concerned citizens.  

Information about the study was posted to the project website: https://palmerannexstudy.org/, and a 
project email list was used to send updates about key project developments and opportunities for 
community involvement. 

Interviews and Meetings 
The project team conducted 10 key informant interviews and focus group discussions, including city staff, 
LBC staff, Palmer-area farmers and hobby farmers, Mat-Su Borough staff, and a local Economic 
Development Committee Board Member.  

The project team also conducted several public meetings, listening sessions and presentations, as well 
as a radio show that aired on Radio Free Palmer. Because the study was completed during the COVID-
19 pandemic, all public meetings were conducted virtually. Meetings featured a presentation of key 
findings from the study as well as opportunity for general discussion and questions to be answered. 
Recordings of the February 4 and February 20 meetings were posted online for general viewing at Radio 
Free Palmer (https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/) and the Palmer Annexation Study 
project website (https://palmerannexstudy.org/), respectively.  

1. August 25, 2020 and September 8, 2020: presentations of study methodology and plan to Palmer 
City Council. 

2. February 4, 2021: online public meeting, attended by 17 community members.  
3. February 8, 2021: online listening session, with three community members registered. 
4. February 10, 2021: Presentation to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce. 
5. February 11, 2021: online listening session, with 11 community members registered. 
6. February 20, 2021: online listening session, with 27 community members registered. 
7. April 13, 2021: presentation of findings to Palmer City Council. 

Survey 
The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses. Questions were designed to reveal 
how people weigh the potential benefits and detriments of annexation (included in the Appendices). The 
survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly well 
distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses to 

https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/
https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/
https://palmerannexstudy.org/


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 29 

City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with trends 
citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared to City 
demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics 

  
All Survey 

Respondents 
City of Palmer 2018 ACS  

(US Census Bureau) 
City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14%   

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

     

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11%    

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

     

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 
American Indian or Alaska 
Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26%    

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

     

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26%    

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Mat-Su Borough housing assessment counts. 

Research and Reflection 
The project team reviewed previous annexation studies conducted for the City of Palmer, Palmer 
Municipal Code, as well as prior-year annexation petitions and other procedural resources on file with the 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 30 

LBC. Specific concerns were researched to clearly communicate the changes that would occur upon 
annexing land. If potential actions were identified to avoid or ameliorate negative impacts, these have 
been noted in the analysis and transition plan chapters. Where possible, examples of code used by 
comparable to cities to accommodate specific regulatory concerns have also been noted.  

Community Impact Analysis 
Level of Support for Annexation 
Survey findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do 
not support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent 
do not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business 
owners within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent 
indicated a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 
percent). These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly 
understand some of the benefits of annexation.  

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation 

 
  

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 31 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation  
 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 
 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 
 
Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

 
  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 32 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges  
Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 

Annexation Benefits 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of survey 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally  
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 

fire station, bike paths 
• Attracting businesses and families 
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 33 

• Less confusion about city boundaries 
• Lifestyle preferences 
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 
• Representation in City government 
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, survey 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 11. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 34 

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

Community Fiscal Concerns 
City Revenues/Tax Base  
Through the study’s public outreach activities, some area residents and business owners acknowledged 
the benefits of an expanded tax base to distribute the cost of public services among more taxpayers and 
potentially gain new revenue sources to improve city services. In open-ended responses, five percent of 
all respondents noted positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation. 
These respondents suggested that the City would benefit from a larger or broader tax base through 
increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. 
Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue through taxes and/or through 
increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent asked if annexation would 
increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded grants.  

Area residents and business owners also expressed a great deal of concern about the impact of an 
annexation on their overall taxes. In open-ended responses, nearly 30 percent of all respondents 
indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One respondent suggested that in the event of a 
significant annexation, the City should consider temporary tax abatements or a ramp in the property and 
sales taxes in annexed territory, so any tax increases are not a shock to annexed residents and 
businesses. 

Property Taxes 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) collects property taxes for the entire Borough, including City 
property taxes, and remits the City property taxes back to the City. All Borough residents pay the Mat-Su 
Borough areawide property tax, inside and outside City boundaries. Inside City boundaries, residents also 
pay the City property tax. Outside City boundaries, residents also pay the Mat-Su Borough non-areawide 
property tax. City and Borough property tax rates change from year-to-year; 2020 tax rates are shown 
below. Property tax exemptions for seniors and disabled veterans and farmland use tax deferments apply 
equally for City and Borough residents. 

Annexed property owners would pay City property tax to the City of Palmer plus the Mat-Su Borough 
areawide property tax; they would no longer pay a separate road service area tax, fire service area tax, or 
the Borough non-areawide property tax. The Mat-Su Borough would continue to do all property 
assessments for annexed properties. Annexation into the City of Palmer has not been found to affect 
property values in the past. Currently, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough has a cap on property taxes. The 
City of Palmer does not currently have a property tax cap, but it could implement one. Neither exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor farmland use tax deferments would be affected by annexation. 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 35 

Inside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay:  

10.322 mils  (MSB areawide property tax) 

   +           3.000 mils  (City property tax) 

13.322 mils  (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

Outside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay:  

10.322 mils  (MSB areawide property tax) 

1.500 mils (South Colony Road Service Area tax) 

0.960 mils (Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service 
Area property tax)  

   +           0.511 mils  (MSB non-areawide property tax) 

13.293 mils  (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

65 percent of survey respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property taxes especially if it 
pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the suggestion to create a city 
property tax cap. 

Sales Taxes  
The City of Palmer also has a three percent sales tax, which is collected by non-exempt businesses 
within City limits. The City has a sales tax cap of $1,000 per item/service and several sales tax 
exemptions (listed in Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions),8 including for land/property sales, 
various school-related sales, medical services and prescriptions, bulk sales of feed, seed and fertilizer to 
farmers, various financial sales and services, food stamps, funeral expenses, some aviation-related sales 
and other exemptions. The City of Palmer recently adopted the Alaska Uniform Remote Seller Sales Tax 
Code (PMC 3.16.300), which charges sales tax on purchases made to remote businesses (i.e., online 
sellers) under Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.035 (Sales tax application). 

Palmer’s City sales tax would be collected on applicable sales within annexed areas. Individual 
businesses would have to check whether their activities would be included among the exemptions. 
Residents in annexed areas would pay sales tax on utilities (and rent if they do not own their home). 
Depending where they do their other day-to-day spending, most annexed residents would probably find 
that they have already been paying City sales tax on purchases from businesses inside existing City 
boundaries.  

71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending overall and 
particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are concerned that 
having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because their 
competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate the 
City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 
  

 
8 City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050. 

http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 36 

Severance Tax 
Open-ended survey responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated 
support for a severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry 
trucks. The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose significant new taxes. 
The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction operations and how long a severance 
tax could be a reliable revenue source.  

Bed Tax 
One survey response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. The Matanuska-
Susitna Borough currently collects a five percent bed tax on businesses that provide traveler 
accommodations. Annexed hospitality businesses would still pay the Borough bed tax, but the City of 
Palmer does not have a bed tax. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting 
City sales tax. Note that Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation and 
standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  

Other Fees 
Survey responses mentioned concerns about local improvement district assessments, building 
permit/inspection fees, as well as fees for specific city services (e.g., garbage collection, City water/sewer 
connection fees). The City of Palmer charges a number of fees that would apply to annexed residents or 
businesses, depending on the individual situation or activities the resident or business is engaged in. For 
example, businesses in the City of Palmer must have a City business license, which costs $25 per year. 
For an up-to-date listing, please reference the resources below.  

City of Palmer Fee Schedule: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Quick Reference Guide to Establishing a Business in Palmer, Alaska: 
www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-
alaska  

Planning and Growth Management 
As the Palmer area’s population grows and land is developed, annexation would allow the City to apply its 
land use powers to help plan for and manage development in annexed areas. Some real estate 
developers prefer to develop land within City boundaries to benefit from services like City Police. As land 
is proposed for development or redevelopment, planning and land use regulation can reduce 
incompatible adjacent land uses and help protect the small-town feel of the area that people value, 
especially along main road corridors like the Glenn and Palmer-Wasilla Highways, where State road 
improvements make development more attractive. The study areas include gravel pits, which will 
eventually close, and it is not known how that land will be re-developed. A well-timed annexation would 
give the City greater influence over what happens with the land once the gravel operations close, 
ensuring that future uses are compatible with existing land uses in the area and local community 
character. 

“If all the farmland leading into Palmer is built on, it’s just going to look like any other town, not home anymore.” 
“Palmer is a small town that is perfect for families, and we want it to stay exactly as it is.”  

Greater Palmer also includes significant areas of farmland. Not only is maintaining agriculture important to 
Palmer’s character and identity, the greater Palmer area has some of the cleanest and most productive 
(Class 2) soils in the state. City zoning could help protect farmland that is intended for perpetual use as 
agricultural land. Some area farmers are already putting conservation easements on their prime farmland 

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska
http://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-alaska


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 37 

for this reason through the Alaska Farmland Trust. Farmers may also want to keep the flexibility of having 
at least part of their property remain un-zoned land that can maintain a higher value for sale and 
redevelopment.  

Annexation could give the City more reason to promote economic development inside its boundaries. 
Unlike most other City taxes and fees, Palmer’s City sales tax generates revenue from local and non-local 
taxpayers through business sales. The more businesses inside the City that generate sales tax revenue 
from sales to non-local customers or clients, the more the City can reduce its local tax burden to area 
residents. 

Key Findings 
Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning and growth management aspects of 
annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land use planning as the key to growth for 
Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic opportunities and allowing the 
community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid incompatible uses and maintain the 
small-town feel of the area. Some area residents and business owners would value City land use controls 
to protect Palmer’s character as land is developed, especially along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway and 
Glenn Highway corridors. Some area residents view zoning and regulation as good for residents, rather 
than intrusive.  

”Palmer’s layout is much better than the ‘anything goes’ Matanuska-Susitna Borough zoning.” “With the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough you can have a business’ sheet metal building constructed in a residential area.”  

Others expressed concerns that annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density 
housing without the infrastructure to support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. 
Some commented about the importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland.  

Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 
67 percent of survey respondents viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment. Open-
ended responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some voiced concerns about 
how annexed land will be zoned and whether the City has appropriate land use designations. People 
generally want to be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed 
support for grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. Some people expressed general 
opposition to zoning and other land use regulations, while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City.  

Some responses support zoning or other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including:  

• protect Palmer’s small-town character;  
• prevent sprawl; 
• protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s); 
• protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 38 

• protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger 
public health); 

• limit high-density housing. 

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 
62 percent of survey respondents viewed City building codes and permits as a detriment. Open-ended 
responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc. Some 
concerns focused more on the costs associated with code compliance and permitting for building and 
land use.  

 Issue Explanation 

General 
Regulations 

As part of an annexation petition, the City must submit a transition plan for the areas 
proposed for annexation to the State Local Boundary Commission. The transition plan 
would describe when and how City regulations would be applied to annexed areas, 
including applicable zoning, as well as any regulatory changes that would take effect upon 
incorporating annexed territory into the city. Some land uses and building structures that 
would not meet existing Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) could be grandfathered (allowed 
inside expanded City boundaries by “grandfather rights”). The City could also change 
certain existing City regulations upon annexation for the entire City or create regulations 
that apply only in certain areas or land use designations. Existing Palmer Municipal Code 
can be viewed at http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC  

Subdivisions Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) was repealed by ordinance in 
2006. Palmer Municipal Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) regulates land subdivisions within the 
City. The Palmer City Planning and Zoning Commission reviews plats and provides 
subdividers with guidance to ensure compliance with Palmer Municipal Code, and formally 
approves or disapproves final plats.  

Homeowner 
Association 
covenants, 
codes and 
restrictions 
(CCRs) 

Homeowner Association covenants, codes and restrictions (CCRs) are not affected by 
annexation and are up to the homeowner association to enforce. If private CCR(s) conflict 
with City code, the City will enforce its code.  

Zoning and 
Conditional 
Use Permits 

With a few exceptions, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently requires Land Use 
Permits, as well as Conditional Use Permits for certain high impact uses (e.g., adult 
entertainment, materials extraction) in all areas of the Borough outside the cities of 
Houston, Palmer and Wasilla.9  
Upon annexation, the City’s zoning powers would be applied to annexed territory by 
recommendation to the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code, 
Title 17 (Zoning) currently contains 17 different zoning districts that provide a wide range of 
by right and conditional uses. Generally, annexed territory would be zoned to match the 
existing land use of the parcel and adjacent or nearby properties with similar land uses that 
are already zoned. For example, an annexed property with a single-family home on it that 
is located adjacent to a single-family residential neighborhood in the City would be zoned 
the same as the parcels in the adjacent neighborhood. The City would work with the 
owners of annexed properties to identify the zoning for each parcel, especially if existing 

 
9 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning.  

http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 39 

 Issue Explanation 

land uses do not clearly match a particular existing zoning district. For mixed-use 
properties, multiple Palmer zoning districts could apply, depending on the intensity and 
type of existing land uses on the parcel. PMC 17.16.060 (Annexation zoning) provides 
guidance for the City to zone annexed land; it describes several situations in which a land 
parcel would be zoned T-Transitional District (PMC 17.59) upon annexation and until an 
appropriate zoning designation and any conditional use permits are applied and granted. 
Palmer’s Transitional Zoning has been amended over time to better accommodate the 
needs of property owners who wish to continue their regular and planned business or other 
operations, such as a planned building expansion, during the transitional period. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes 
 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough adopted building codes and requires a plan review for 
new or renovated commercial buildings. The Borough also requires a Flood Hazard 
Development Permit for any development located in designated special flood hazard areas 
and a permit for the construction of a driveway or other development that will affect a 
Borough-managed public right-of-way or easement. The Borough recommends contacting 
the MSB Code Compliance Office before buying or building in the Borough.10 
The City of Palmer adopted building safety codes (PMC Title 15 Buildings and 
Construction) and requires building permits for new construction, additions and alterations, 
which include decks, small storage buildings, greenhouses, etc.11 The City requires 
building permits for fences, signs and temporary structures if the structure will remain in 
place longer than six months (PMC 15.08.3103).  
The City charges a sliding scale for the permits based on the value of the structure to be 
built. This fee scale12 assumes that the greater the value of the structure, the more 
complex it is, and the more time and expertise will be needed to review it for compliance 
with all applicable plans, ordinances and regulations before approving its construction. 
To better accommodate the desire for greater flexibility in building code compliance, the 
City of Palmer could review and amend code to make some degree of the building 
permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal 
Code 23.05.030 makes the requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, 
plan review, and building inspection processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage 
Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries 
of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Fences  At the time of writing, the City may issue a one-time fence permit for $26 per parcel; the 
property owner must update the City on the fence location if it is moved.13 The City tracks 
the location of electric fences on agricultural lands for public health reasons and to enforce 
height restrictions on residential land.  

Signs Sign permits are required for permanent signs (PMC 14.08.020), which must comply with 
PMC 14.08 Sign regulations. At the time of writing, sign permit fees are $25 plus $1.50/sf of 
sign area (non-electrical signs) and $50 plus $3/sf of sign area (electrical signs).14 

 
10 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  
11 City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information.  

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports.  
12 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  
13 City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/residential-fence-permit-application.  
14 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 40 

 Issue Explanation 

Historic 
Structures 

Historic buildings often do not meet current building codes and standards. Palmer 
Municipal Code recognizes the value of historic structures in PMC 17.68.050, which 
provides guidance for Nonconforming structures. Generally, existing structures are 
grandfathered into the city and may be required to be brought to code if the structure needs 
to be reconstructed or will be substantially renovated anyway. The City may be able to 
access Historic Preservation funding to subsidize the cost of renovating historic structures. 

Fire 
Inspection 

Fire inspection and approval is required for commercial buildings and multi-family 
residential properties in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, but “residential housing that is 
triplex or smaller are exempt from this requirement.”15 Fire inspection is a state 
responsibility, delegated to local government by the Alaska State Fire Marshal. Palmer Fire 
and Rescue conducts all fire and life safety plan reviews and inspections, fire prevention 
and education activities in the Palmer Fire and Rescue service area. Annexation would not 
change this. 

Public Services and Infrastructure 
Annexation would extend some new city services to annexed areas, including Palmer City Police (which 
would replace the Alaska State Troopers as the primary response provider) and street maintenance 
(which would replace the South Colony Road Service Area). Other City services are provided to service 
areas that are separate from City boundaries and would not be affected by annexation. These include 
water and sewer services (which may be extended within the utility’s Certificated Service Area), fire and 
emergency response services (which are already provided within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire 
Service Area). Services are discussed generally and by City department, below. 

Key Findings 
Community comments about city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some view having access to 
more City services as a benefit of annexation; others are content with services provided by the Borough. 
Some prefer new development to be inside the city so that it can benefit from city services, particularly 
Palmer Police response. Some view annexation as a benefit because of improvements in City service 
provision that could be possible with a larger tax base.  

Some responses voiced concern about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed 
areas. These comments questioned whether the City has the infrastructure to support the larger size of a 
major annexation. A few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, 
or at least want a better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 
A few respondents voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and 
garbage collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly 
annexed area, so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Public input also revealed that some area residents (both inside and outside existing City boundaries) 
would prefer to see the City improve existing service provision within its boundaries before making an 
annexation petition, with a focus on improvements in water and sewer, solid waste collection, outdoor 
recreation facilities, planning and local code enforcement. A few responses specifically mentioned the 
desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to aging stormwater collection infrastructure and 
existing City facilities (generally). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 

 
15 Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 3, 2021 
from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating.  

http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 41 

annexation would not necessarily affect postal services. Public input also included questions about how 
annexation would affect schools in terms of population and funding. 

Issue Explanation 

Schools Public schools are operated by the Manatuska-Susitna Borough School District in Palmer 
and all study areas; annexation would not affect public schools directly.  

City and 
service area 
boundaries 

Maps on the following pages show where the City of Palmer and service area boundaries 
are for City Refuse Collection, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (City), 
the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility (City), and the South Colony Road Service Area 
(Borough).  

Plan for 
staffing, 
facilities and 
equipment 
across 
departments 

Existing staffing, facilities and equipment across departments: The Palmer 
Comprehensive Plan provides guidance for City operations and was last updated in 
2006. The City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) provides guidance on the 
planned construction of or improvements to City facilities and is included in each adopted 
budget with the Capital Projects Fund.16 After a significant annexation, the City may 
update these plans. 
For annexation: Through this annexation study, City department heads estimated the 
amount of increased staffing, facilities and equipment needed for annexation at the scale 
of each of the study areas. If the City prepares an annexation petition for a specific area 
(or set of areas) in future, it will be required to include a transition plan that similarly 
describes how City operations will adjust to accommodate the proposed annexation. 
Cities are often able to provide services more cost-effectively to a somewhat larger 
population.  

City Administration and Finance  
City property and sales taxes go into City of Palmer’s General Fund, which pays for city administration 
and some city services. Other city services are set up as separate enterprise or proprietary funds that are 
operated more like private businesses and pay for themselves through user fees, leases and/or sales. In 
general, when hourly City personnel work on behalf of an enterprise fund, their time is billed to the 
enterprise. Enterprise funds have a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) based on gross revenues to account 
for general fund City staff time devoted to enterprise activities. 

The City’s general administration team includes the City’s Attorney, City Manager, City Clerk and Human 
Resources. The Palmer Finance Department manages the City’s accounting, prepares the budget, 
manages the City’s audits, collects the City sales tax, administers City business licenses, manages billing 
and collections and does grant reporting for the City. These functions are paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. The City also maintains a separate enterprise fund for land sales that has had very limited 
activity over the years; it is not the responsibility of a particular city department. The City of Palmer’s 
Administration and Finance Departments would not be greatly affected by annexation. 

Community Development 
The Palmer Community Development Department provides planning and zoning administration, plan 
review, plat review for new subdivisions, code enforcement and building inspections. The Community 
Development Department also manages the MTA Events Center, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot 
under the general fund. Community Development staff include a Department Director, Building Inspector, 
Community Development Specialist, and Administrative Assistant, as well as the Palmer Public Library 
Director and MTA Events Center Manager. 

 
16 City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents.  

https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 42 

Some area residents identified possible parks and recreation-related improvements as a potential benefit 
of annexation through community engagement activities. Specific improvements included: increased 
access to parks and public lands, construction of new bike paths and other recreation infrastructure in 
annexed areas, and improved pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City of Palmer. One 
respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure (specifically the 
Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Upon an annexation, the Palmer Community Development Department would be fairly busy administering 
the application of zoning and other land use regulations to annexed lands in support to the Palmer 
Planning and Zoning Commission. In the longer term, the department would not be greatly affected by 
annexation. Property taxpayers in annexed areas would contribute to the operation and maintenance of 
City Parks and Recreation facilities and programming, including community parks and trails, the MTA 
Events Center and Ice Arena, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot. 

Issue Explanation 

Recreational or 
non-motorized 
transportation 
improvements 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough has generally kept ownership of Borough parks in 
annexations but delegated the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland 
to the City once it is inside that city’s boundaries. Annexation would not guarantee any 
particular improvements, but it would give residents in annexed areas greater opportunity 
to vote for recreational or non-motorized transportation improvements in City elections 
and serve on the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. In the study areas 
considered by this report, there is the most opportunity to develop non-motorized trails 
along major roadways. 

Palmer Golf Course 
The Palmer Golf Course is set up as an enterprise fund; it generates revenue from green and trail fees, 
equipment and space rentals, as well as snack bar, merchandise and beer sales. The City contracts with 
a private management company to perform all golf course activities (e.g., sales, maintenance). The 
Palmer Golf Course would not be affected by annexation. 

Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport  
Palmer Airport facilities include a number of hangars, a helipad, a 6,000-ft main runway, a 3,600-ft 
crosswind runway, and a 1,500-ft gravel runway. The airport offers aircraft parking for day and overnight 
use as well as long-term tiedowns, fueling and ground support, field maintenance and an aircraft parts 
store. The airport is home to a number of local aviation businesses. The airport is set up as an enterprise 
fund and managed by the City Airport Superintendent. Some facility maintenance is provided by the 
Public Works Department Facilities Division. Airport operations are funded primarily by Airport property 
and sales taxes, revenue from tiedowns and land leases. The Palmer Airport would not be affected by 
annexation. 

Police 
Within City limits, the Palmer Police Department provides police, emergency, and dispatch services as 
well as public safety education within City boundaries. Police services are also paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. Alaska State Troopers provide public safety services to areas outside City limits and are 
also headquartered at the Palmer Trooper Post in the same building as the Palmer Police Department.  

Issue Explanation 

Police 
coverage  

The City would assume responsibility for police services from the Alaska State Troopers. 
If there is a call outside Palmer City limits, Palmer Police may respond, but if there is a 
call at the same time from inside Palmer City limits (even if it is less of an emergency), 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 43 

Issue Explanation 

Palmer Police must respond to the call within the City first. The City does not receive 
extra compensation for providing police services outside City limits.  
The City of Palmer currently maintains a police force equivalent to one sworn officer per 
610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff 
member per 2,034 citizens. If an area is annexed into the City of Palmer, the Police 
Department would hire new staff as needed to maintain similar staff ratios. The fiscal 
study assumes that the City would hire a new sworn officer for every 641 people 
annexed into Palmer. There is no fair way to truly compare average police and State 
Trooper response times.  

Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey respondents. 
Some area residents support annexation to expand access to police services, to receive a more rapid 
response from law enforcement officers, and/or as a way to increase funding for city police. Some 
respondents prefer the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer 
Police Department would be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already 
overworked, understaffed, underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also 
voiced concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. 

Fire and Emergency Services   
Palmer Fire and Rescue provides fire safety education within the City of Palmer, and fire and rescue 
response within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (Figure 12) by a cost-sharing 
agreement between the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of Palmer. Palmer’s cost-share is paid 
for through the City’s General Fund. Staffed fire stations and improved fire response times were identified 
as potential benefits of annexation.  

Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, in the form of faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few area community members expressed a 
preference for the Central Mat-Su Fire Department. But as Figure 12 shows, all of the areas surrounding 
the City of Palmer are well within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. Annexation would 
not change the service area boundaries.  

What would be affected is the ISO rating, and consequently property insurance rates. The Insurance 
Service Office (ISO) gives a fire score to fire departments and their surrounding communities. The “ISO 
rating” is meant to reflect how well the local fire department can protect its community and the homes and 
businesses within it. Insurance companies use the score to help set home insurance rates, so a better 
ISO rating often translates to lower property insurance premiums. ISO ratings are based on the quality of 
the local fire department (i.e., staffing levels, training and proximity to fire stations), available water supply 
(i.e., proximity to hydrants, volume of water available for firefighting), quality of the areas emergency 
communications system (911), and fire safety education and outreach. ISO ratings go from 1 to 10: 1 is 
the best possible rating, and 10 means the fire department did not meet the ISO’s minimum requirements. 
Within Palmer City limits, Palmer Fire and Rescue currently has an ISO rating of 3/3Y (Y notes distance 
from hydrants). Outside City limits, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area has an ISO rating 
of 5/10, mainly because of longer distances to a water supply, fire stations, and a limited number of 
firefighting personnel. Water for firefighting is supplied at a fire station or hydrant. There are currently 
three fire stations within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. For ISO rating purposes, a 
10 means the residence is more than 5 miles from a fire station. Firefighting personnel include full-time, 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 44 

part-time or paid-on-call responders. For ISO rating purposes, 3 paid-on-call personnel on a response 
count as one full-time responder. 

Issue Explanation 

Fire and 
rescue 
response 
services 

In order to maintain a higher ISO rating throughout the City and any annexed areas, the 
City may invest in constructing and outfitting a new fire station.  

Fire hydrants The installation of fire hydrants is not dependent on annexation. It depends on the ability 
of Palmer’s Water and Sewer Utility to provide water to the hydrants. Decisions to install 
and operate fire hydrants may be made on a case-by-case basis. 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area 

 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 45 

Public Works  
The Palmer Public Works Department currently employs 15 full-time staff members who provide a 
maintenance and utility services for the City and greater Palmer community through seven divisions listed 
below. Although the Department’s budget is funded by the City’s General Fund, some Department 
responsibilities are funded through enterprise funds.  

Administration Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Administration Division provides general oversight of all divisions 
within the Palmer Public Works Department. The division also provides central administrative services for 
the department, which include managing projects, tracking purchase orders and work orders, and 
managing financial code entries for department activities and expenses before submitting to the City 
Finance Department.  

Fleet Division  
The Palmer Public Works Department, Fleet Division maintains the City’s vehicle and equipment fleet, 
which includes City trucks, police vehicles, fire trucks, dump trucks, snowplows, fuel truck, grader, 
loaders, generators, etc.  

Facilities Division  
The Palmer Public Works Department, Facilities Division performs preventive maintenance and light 
repairs on City buildings and the Palmer Airport.  

Parks Division  
The Palmer Public Works Department, Parks Division provides maintenance and light repairs for City 
parks and trails. Palmer’s Community Development Department is responsible for parks and recreation 
planning and operations.  

Streets Division  
All roads within the City of Palmer are owned by the City, Matanuska-Susitna Borough or the State of 
Alaska. The Palmer Public Works Department, Streets Division maintains City streets and storm drains, 
City-owned streetlights and road signs. Street maintenance includes snow plowing and removal, paving, 
grading and leveling unpaved roads, streetlights. The Palmer Snow Removal Map shows where the 
Public Works Department prioritizes snow removal on City streets (note: any road designations on the 
snow removal map that are not marked with a priority level are platted roads that have not been 
developed).  

The City of Palmer Public Works Department maintains all City roads within City limits. Outside of City 
limits, local roads are under the purview of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. In the areas around the City 
of Palmer, Borough roads are maintained by the South Colony Road Service Area (Figure 13).  

Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road maintenance and improvements, 
particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a 
potential annexation by 53 percent of survey respondents. 

Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these 
responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City cannot provide snow removal as fast as what 
they are used to now. A few respondents specifically shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide 
snow removal on Scott Road because it requires specialized equipment. A few responses also voiced 
concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions unless it 
raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 46 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area 

 

Several community members (inside and outside the City) voiced the desire to improve existing City 
facilities and road maintenance services before annexation, including:  

• improving general road maintenance and snow removal; 
• paving unpaved roads inside the City of Palmer; 
• upgrading paved City roads that are at the end of their life cycle; 
• upgrading storm water collection systems; and  
• upgrading concrete curb and gutters installed 20+ years ago that are now in disrepair. 

The fiscal analysis of this annexation study provides guidance as to the City staff and equipment needed 
to meet the snow removal and general maintenance needs of an expanded City road system upon 
annexation. The City would also need to identify adequate snow disposal sites and drainage areas. 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 47 

Issue Explanation 

Road 
improvements 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough roads annexed into the City would become City of Palmer 
roads. The City would take over road maintenance from the RSA for the annexed road 
miles. As the roads age and need to be replaced, the City would bring them to City 
standards.17 Existing City standards suggest that annexed streets in residential 
subdivisions would eventually be required to have two 12-foot driving lanes with curb and 
gutter. Sidewalks are not required, but the City may establish Road Improvement Districts 
to pay for bringing unimproved streets to these standards. Palmer’s road standards 
require all streets to have a minimum level of street lighting. Decisions about whether to 
pave roads are usually based on safety concerns and how often they are used. Generally, 
when the average daily traffic (ADT) on a local gravel-surfaced road exceeds 250 
vehicles, the road should be a candidate for paving. 

Streetlights The City would take over any streetlights in annexed areas that are currently owned by 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Installing streetlights in annexed areas would be part of 
a City-wide Capital Improvements Plan. 

Maintenance 
to Scott Road 

As a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained by the Alaska State 
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into the 
City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow 
removal responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more 
efficient and cost effective. For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal 
for some larger Municipal roads and in exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some 
smaller State-owned roads. 

Solid Waste Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Solid Waste Division operates the City’s solid waste collection and 
disposal services, which are set up as an enterprise fund that generates revenue through collection fees 
and penalties. Solid waste collection is required by Palmer Municipal Code for all residents (PMC 
8.20.010). The City currently provides trash collection for a service area within existing City limits (Figure 
14). Outside the service area, property owners contract with a private collection service of their choosing.  

Palmer currently operates its City solid waste collection service in an exclusive certificate. If the City were 
to expand its existing service area, it would be required to enter a competitive service area, and all of the 
City’s public utilities would come under economic regulation by the Alaska Public Utilities Commission 
(APUC). The City would then be subject to additional administrative State requirements, such as 
completing extensive rate studies each time any utility rates need to be adjusted. The City is unlikely to 
change its garbage collection service area in order to avoid the additional administrative work and 
resulting costs to taxpayers. 

Both City and Palmer-area residents and business owners expressed confusion about the City’s existing 
policies and requirements for trash collection. Existing City residents voiced a desire for greater clarity 
about where properties receive City trash collection and where they are required to contract with a 
collection service. 

The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a detriment by 61 percent 
of survey respondents. Open-ended survey responses that mentioned City garbage collection were 
mixed. Some respondents want City garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside 
the City’s current garbage collection service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the 
current trash collection service area would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to 
enter a competitive service area. Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either 

 
17 City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-
specifications-and-development-standards.  

http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 48 

contract with another provider or haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to 
be able to choose who and how garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash 
collection would become more expensive if land is annexed.  

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area 

  

Issue Explanation 

Solid waste 
collection and 
disposal 

Property owners in annexed areas would not be required to have solid waste collection 
service from the City of Palmer, but under existing City policy, may be required to contract 
with a private collection service of their choice. To better accommodate the desire for 
greater flexibility in waste management, the City of Palmer could review and amend code. 
Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage collection within a 
specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste 
collection and disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 49 

Issue Explanation 

Municipal Code, Anchorage Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a 
private provider outside this service area. 

Burning trash 
on premises 

Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue Class A, B or C burn permits for open 
burning of woody debris or fields of grass on parcels of at least two (2) acres or more, 
upon approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.18 All other types of refuse would be 
disposed of according to Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 (Garbage Collection and 
Disposal). 

Water and Sewer Division 
The Palmer Public Works Department, Water/Wastewater Division operates the City’s Water and Sewer 
Utility, which is set up as an enterprise fund to provide piped water and sewer services. The Utility’s 
revenue comes mostly from connection, disconnection and service fees charged to customers. The 
Palmer Water and Sewer Utility may provide these services within a certificated service area that extends 
far beyond the City’s boundaries (Figure 15).  

City water and sewer service regulations are found in Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) Title 13, PMC 
8.12.010 and PMC 8.16.010. PMC allows the Utility to extend piped services to properties outside City 
limits upon approval by the Palmer City Council (PMC 13.08.070). The utility already provides piped water 
to a small number of customers located outside existing City limits. Within City boundaries, PMC 
generally requires that properties be served by the utility if practical. If determined to be impractical, City 
code allows properties to be served by a City- and State-approved onsite system, such as well and septic 
(PMC 13.08.030, 13.16.025, and 13.16.030). 

Annexation would not give the City more authority or oblige it to provide water and sewer service to 
property within the service area. The City would continue to evaluate new service additions on a case-by-
case basis. Annexation would not change the status of any existing private water or sewer utilities in any 
annexed area.  

Open-ended responses that mentioned water and sewer services were mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant." 

 
18 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits.  

http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 50 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area 

 

Issue Explanation 

Water and 
sewer service  

The extension of piped water and sewer services would be unaffected by annexation. The 
City would continue to evaluate new piped service additions on a case-by-case basis.19 

Well and 
septic 
systems 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough code establishes minimum lot sizes for well and septic 
systems, consistent with Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) 
requirements for drain fields and separation distances for well and septic (Chapter 43 

 
19 Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance about where and when connection to the city water and sewer system 
would be required in:  

• PMC 13.08.030 Water and sewer connections – required when – septic tank specifications  

• PMC 13.16.025 Water supply system  

• PMC 13.16.030 Sanitary sewer system 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 51 

Issue Explanation 

Subdivisions, MBC 43.20.281 Area). Generally, a lot must be 40,000 square feet or 
greater to have onsite water and septic, 20,000 square feet or greater if served by either 
City piped water or sewer, and a lot can be smaller than 20,000 square feet if served by 
both City piped water and sewer. 
In the City of Palmer, residential lots of 20,000 square feet or larger are generally not 
required to connect to the city’s piped water and sewer system (PMC 13.16.025 and PMC 
13.16.030), nor are new buildings constructed more than 150 feet from the city’s existing 
piped system (PMC 13.08.030). Palmer’s code allows well and septic systems as long as 
they meet ADEC standards and approval.  

Palmer’s 
wastewater 
treatment 
plant is under 
a Department 
of Justice 
consent 
decree.20  

Palmer Water and Wastewater Utility operations would be unaffected by annexation. A 
consent decree is an agreement or settlement that resolves a dispute between two parties 
without admission of guilt or liability. Under a 2016 consent decree, the Palmer Water and 
Wastewater Utility committed to extensive upgrades of the Palmer Waste Water 
Treatment Plant to correct alleged violations of its National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit and payment of a civil penalty of $192,162 to the 
United States and State of Alaska. The consent decree was driven by tightened 
Environmental Protection Agency regulations designed to protect Matanuska River 
salmon spawning grounds. A new Palmer Waste Water Treatment Plant was constructed 
in 2017 and has been in operation since 2018. 

Governance 
Annexation allows more Palmer-area residents to have a voice in City governance by extending the ability 
to vote in vote in City elections, to run for office and to serve on Boards and Commissions to annexed 
areas. Residence inside City limits is required to vote in City elections, run for a City office, or to serve on 
some boards and commissions. Palmer Municipal Code requires that:  

• a person be a resident of the city for at least the preceding 30 days to vote in City elections (PMC 
18.10.010). 

• a person who wants to run for city office be a qualified voter of the city and meet state and city 
requirements for the office (PMC 18.15.010). 

• a person reside in the City to serve on the Planning and Zoning Commission (PMC 2.20.010). 
• a majority of Parks and Recreation Advisory Board members reside in the City (PMC 2.22.010). 
• at least two members of the Airport Advisory Commission reside in the City (PMC 2.25.020). 
• at least two members of the Board of Economic Development reside in the City (PMC 2.30.010). 

City zoning, regulations and ordinances would be applied in annexed areas, which is viewed as a benefit 
to some but a challenge to others. A successful annexation may ultimately involve changes to Palmer’s 
zoning and other regulations that would otherwise effectively prohibit a number of residential, business 
and agricultural practices that commonly occur in the areas outside City limits. In this case, the City may 
consider allowing certain practices in some areas of the city and not in others. 

  

 
20 United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean Water Act: A 
Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-
under-the-clean-water-act.  

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed February 9, 2021 
from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-
9b58-9b23af2f166c.html.  

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 52 

Key Findings  
Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local government, a wider 
pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and a more involved voter base. 60 percent of survey 
respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on Palmer City Council, boards and 
commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. Public engagement activities revealed some 
confusion among area residents about where existing City boundaries are; some areas around the edges 
of existing City limits may already be so entwined with City life and development that people who are 
actually outside City limits believe they are living within the City. Within the City, some residents voiced 
the desire for better enforcement of certain existing city regulations, mostly related to the use and upkeep 
of neighboring property.  

Residential and Lifestyle 
There are significant lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits that were 
reflected in community comments about the City’s regulations. Among open-ended survey responses, 
only two percent mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as 
concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage 
growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone 
following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their 
property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms. Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), 
target practice on property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be 
able to continue using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in 
Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles. Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow 
machines) to be licensed for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road 
vehicles on Bogard Road.  

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks. Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having 
backyard firepits and setting off fireworks on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned 
wanting burn permits with the same allowances as they are currently granted by the Mat-Su Borough.  

Animals. Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their 
property. Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens 
(including roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations. Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for 
sheds, decks, storage buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 53 

connect to the City’s piped water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One 
response mentioned a lack of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for 
regulations to address homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected 
a mix of support and objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis 
tourism), a strip club and pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

• Enforce quiet hours from the quarry 
• Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and 

size of animals allowed on the property) 
• Allow well and septic 
• Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection 
• Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures 

(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings) 
• Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks. 

Issue Explanation 

Hunting PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. Hunting with firearms would not be permitted 
in annexed areas unless the City amends the Palmer Municipal Code to expand the areas 
and conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai 
allows firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms 
Discharge Map.21 Anchorage and Juneau have helpful webpages describing their rules 
about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The City and Borough of 
Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries.22 It is against the 
law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of Anchorage except in designated hunting 
areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 8.25.030.23 

Large 
equipment/ 
vehicle 
parking and 
storage 

Parking for large equipment and vehicle storage is allowed in some Palmer zoning 
districts by right or with a conditional use permit. See Palmer Municipal Code, Chapter 17 
Zoning. 

Off Highway 
Vehicle (OHV) 
use 

ATVs, four-wheelers, side-by-sides, snow machines, motocross bikes and motorcycles, 
etc. are all considered “Off-highway Vehicles” (OHV) in Palmer Municipal Code. These 
vehicles are not allowed on public rights-of-way (e.g., sidewalk, street), parkland, or 
private land without the owner’s permission within City limits (PMC 10.08 Regulation of 
Off-Highway Vehicles). Off-highway vehicles are allowed to cross public rights-of-way 
(streets, etc.) following safety guidelines outlined in the code.  
The City may choose to revisit these regulations if greater use of off-highway vehicles 
(beyond that allowed by existing code) can be safely accommodated in annexed 
territories. Some Alaska communities have recreational trails that run alongside main 
roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional provisions may be 
needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets.  

 
21 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010. 

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf.  
22 City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting.  
23 Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx.  

https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 54 

Issue Explanation 

Issues with 
animal 
restrictions  
 

Palmer Municipal Code Title 6 regulates animals within the City. The code limits the legal 
number and type of domestic pets and farm animals, defines animal cruelty rules, 
restrictions on animal noise, odor, ability to free-roam, and where and how animals can be 
buried. 
Dogs: Up to three dogs are allowed in the City on a given parcel of land. This restriction 
does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. City code does not allow dogs 
to run free (PMC 6.08.065 Animals at large). The City could review and consider 
amending the code to allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash 
dogs in designated areas within City boundaries.  
Chickens: Up to five “domestic birds” are allowed on a given parcel of land (PMC 
6.08.020.C); domestic birds include female chickens but not roosters (PMC 6.04.010). 
This restriction does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than 
an acre and the animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line.  
Cows (Cattle), Horses and Goats: These and several other animals are allowed to be 
kept if the land is zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). 
Bees: Bees are permitted on land zoned for agriculture (PMC Chapter 17.57 AG 
Agricultural District). The City could review and consider amending the code to allow bees 
on land in one or more residential zoning district(s); the agricultural zoning also allows for 
a single-family residential dwelling.  

Burning trash 
on premises,  
fire pits and 
fireworks 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough directs residents to the Alaska Division of Forestry to 
issue burn permits outside City limits. Fireworks are prohibited in the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, with the exception of New Year’s Eve.24 
Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for fire pits and 
Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon 
approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.25 The City could review and amend code to if 
needed. One example would be to expand the allowances for burn permits on parcels of 
five or more acres in newly annexed areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows 
recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done according to regulatory safety 
standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, yard debris, 
leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.26 
Palmer Fire & Rescue may also issue permits for commercial fireworks displays inside city 
limits. PMC 8.42 outlines the regulations for fireworks inside city limits. Fireworks can be 
used by private individuals without obtaining an application on New Year’s Eve from 9 
p.m. to 1 a.m. per Palmer Municipal Code 8.42.010. 

Businesses and Economic Development 
Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 

 
24 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  
25 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 
26 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.  

https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 55 

have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 
“We own a farm on the Springer system, and I’m scared. Historically when farmland is annexed it is a few short years 
before farmland is sold to developers. Cities need a tax base and farms are big open spaces where nobody lives to 
spread out the tax burden so what happens is cities start taxing what is produced on farms until farms can’t afford to 
stay in business and sell out to developers. If Palmer values its roots and colony heritage, it will not annex any 
farmland. The pressures will be too great, and farms will go away.” – Anonymous, annexation survey response 

The quote above illustrates some of the concerns expressed about the loss of existing and historical 
farmland to development in the Palmer area. Farmers want to be able to maintain pastureland and 
livestock, and residents generally treasure Palmer’s agricultural character and heritage. At the same time, 
Palmer continues to experience growth in residential and commercial development, increasing 
development pressure. It is not clear that annexation would affect the pace of real estate development 
and re-development in the Palmer area, although the City has more land use tools than the Borough to 
manage growth that does occur within its boundaries.  

The land use conflicts that occur between residential subdivisions and farmland result from the kind of 
unplanned development that City land use regulations are intended to reduce, avoid or address. For 
example, if a residential property owner is concerned about heavy equipment being stored in the 
residential yard of a recently subdivided farm property, the City can enforce zoning regulations that allow 
or disallow the activity within City limits.  

The City’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57) may offer some protection for agricultural land uses inside the 
City. Some of the City’s other zoning districts allow for smaller-scale or hobby farming uses, such as 
Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28) or Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54). Agricultural property 
is usually assessed at a lower property value to recognize the use. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
already recognizes some parcels as agricultural in their assessment records. One farmer expressed 
concern that agricultural zoning could reduce flexibility to subdivide and sell the property at a later date, 
should they choose to do so. The land would have to be rezoned if a buyer were to redevelop the 
property for a different use, and that could lower the potential sales value of the land. When thinking long-



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 56 

term about their financial or business management, farm property owners could view this as an unwanted 
depreciation of their primary business asset.  

In general, farmers in the Palmer area voiced a desire to feel greater support from the City of Palmer for 
agriculture, including actions that are unrelated to annexation. For example, one suggested that the City 
could sell or transfer some of the land it owns to the Alaska Farmland Trust to preserve for agricultural 
use. Addressing these issues is beyond the scope of this study. Survey responses included suggestions 
for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, protections and changes to city policy 
involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and agricultural practices, including 
encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. State and Federal Right to Farm Acts are 
designed to prevent unfair taxation and regulations that would be detrimental to farming. 

Responses also included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, 
building permits for storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One 
respondent suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being 
impacted by placing farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that 
the size and/or type of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. Respondents 
also mentioned concerns about the number and size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for 
outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain private well and waste management on the 
property. One respondent estimated the amount of water used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons 
per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to purchase City water.  

Issue Explanation 

Agricultural 
zoning, 
including 
setbacks for 
farms 

PMC 17.56 Agricultural District would be applied to farmland. Currently, structures must 
have a 25-foot setback in front or rear yards, with a minimum of 6 feet for a side yard and 
10 feet for a corner-lot side yard. Fences may be a few inches inside the property line 
unless fencing animals/livestock.  

Livestock and 
farm animals 

Title 6 of Palmer Municipal Code regulates animals, including residential pets as well as 
livestock on farms. PMC 6.08.020 Animal Restrictions allows livestock on land zoned 
Agricultural or on a lot larger than one acre, provided they are not closer than 25 feet 
from the property line. It also allows for livestock on the premises of a permitted 
slaughterhouse for up to 72 hours.  
Conflicts may still arise for farmers with livestock due to noise (PMC 6.08.050) or odor 
from animals (PMC 6.08.060). City code currently prohibits a person to allow offensive 
noise or odor from animals on their property. Farms with livestock can be the source of 
noise and/or odors that residential neighbors may find offensive. Although Right to Farm 
laws will protect farm operations, the City may want to consider farm-specific provisions 
in PMC to support agriculture.  
Another possible conflict may be for homeowners that do not run a farm as a business 
but do conduct small-scale agricultural activities on their property. Agricultural zoning 
might not be appropriate for a primarily residential property that also engages in hobby 
farming, bee-keeping, etc. mainly for personal consumption.  

Farm waste 
management 

Palmer’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57 AG Agricultural District) does not address 
onsite waste management. PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal 
suggests the City would require a farm located outside the City’s waste collection service 
area to contract with a private contractor to haul waste that cannot be safely and legally 
disposed of onsite. If it becomes a problem or nuisance, the City could review its policies 
to provide guidance specific to farms.  

Guns on farms PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. In the event that a farmer would have to fire 
a gun to protect livestock/crops from bear or moose, State rules about defense of private 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 57 

Issue Explanation 

property would supersede city code against discharging firearms. The City could review 
Palmer Municipal Code (which does not specifically address the use of a firearm to 
harvest or euthanize livestock) and consider amending it to expand the areas and 
conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai allows 
firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms Discharge 
Map.27 

Vehicle 
storage on 
farms 

Vehicle storage is allowed as a conditional use on agricultural zoned land; it requires 
conditional use permit (PMC 17.56.040).  

Drilling wells Well drilling would be unaffected by annexation. ADNR issues permits to appropriate 
water, which would be required for the volume of water needed for agricultural 
operations. ADEC regulates drinking and wastewater (18 AAC 80 Drinking Water, 18 
AAC 72 Wastewater). The City of Palmer does not require a building permit to drill a well.  

Pesticides, 
fertilizers, 
disposal of 
animal 
carcasses, 
manure 
management 

These activities would be unaffected by annexation. ADEC (Division of Environmental 
Health, Solid Waste program) regulates the application of pesticides, fertilizers, disposal 
of animal carcasses, and manure management (AS 46 and 18 AAC 60). Annexation 
would not affect fertilizer application fees. 

Property taxes Farms would pay property taxes to the City of Palmer instead of the Borough non-
areawide property taxes. Farms would still pay Borough areawide property taxes. 
Annexation would not change the assessed value of farm property. State and Federal 
farmland use tax deferments would be unaffected by annexation. State agricultural law 
enables tax deferment for some of the property tax burden if 10 percent of the farmer’s 
gross income comes from farming (AS 29.45.060). State law requires local governments 
to assess and tax farmland at its value for farm use only (not what it would be valued if 
developed into residential subdivision). If converted to another use, the landowner may 
be liable for additional tax. IRS Publication 225 provides information about Federal tax 
law for farms. 

Sales taxes Farms would collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax (with a cap of $1,000 per item/service). 
The new “online sales tax” would only affect residents or businesses that purchase from 
participating online retailers (e.g., Amazon.com).The City of Palmer’s participation in the 
Uniform Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax28 would require remote sellers (e.g., 
Amazon.com) to charge a sales tax on orders to addresses within the City. Collections 
for the City of Palmer began in March 2020. State and local taxes (SALT) are generally 
allowed as a Federal tax deduction, although the details are subject to change each tax 
year. The City could review and consider changing its sales tax reporting requirements 
and/or include locally grown produce among its sales tax exemptions (PMC 03.16.050). 

Business 
license 

Farms would pay $25/year for a Palmer business license. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes on 
farms 

The City of Palmer requires building permits and code compliance for building 
construction, signs and fences. Unless the City changes Palmer Municipal Code, these 
would apply equally to farms as other types of property within the City. Building permits, 
fees and codes are discussed on under Planning and Growth Management.  

 
27 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010.   

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf.  
28 The Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission provides more information about the tax: http://arsstc.org/  

https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://arsstc.org/


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 58 

Issue Explanation 

Special 
Assessments 

A Special Assessment is essentially an additional increment of property tax levied to a 
group of property owners that benefit from a specific capital improvement or 
infrastructure project. Both Borough and City Codes allow special assessments to be 
created. Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code (Chapter 3.28 Special Assessments) allows 
property owners to create Local Improvement Districts (LIDs) to finance infrastructure for 
a group of benefitting property owners. Palmer Municipal Code (Chapter 3.08 Special 
Assessments) allows Palmer City Council or a group of benefitting property owners to 
create special assessment districts to finance capital improvements. The City would have 
a role in determining and enforcing assessment rules. As citizens, annexed farmers 
would have more say in City Council decisions about Special Assessments. 

Conflicts with 
Neighbors 

Annexation would not affect conflicts with neighboring property owners from noise and 
smells due to livestock, application of manure as fertilizer, farm machinery, etc. State 
right-to-farm laws protect farmers in these cases, and City planning and land use tools 
can also help mitigate some of these conflicts.  

Soil protection Annexation would not affect soil protection. The State Department of Agriculture 
encourages State Farm Conservation Plans and/or Soil and Water Conservation Plans. 
City planning and land use tools can help support soil conservation measures. 

Easements 
and/or Eminent 
Domain 

Eminent Domain is the right of a government or its agent to take private property for 
public use, with payment of compensation. Governments usually avoid using Eminent 
Domain if at all possible, because of the public relations damage it often does. Public 
easements are more common; they only grant permission to use some area of land, 
often for a particular purpose, such as making public infrastructure improvements. 
Infrastructure improvements are made by the City of Palmer, the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, the State of Alaska and private utilities; they will happen regardless of whether 
the land is inside or outside city boundaries. The City can adopt a preferential policy to 
route public infrastructure improvements around rather than across farmland where 
feasible, but not all future circumstances can be predicted, nor does the City necessarily 
have any power to control the outcome where State or Borough improvements are being 
made. 

Other Businesses  
Public outreach revealed some support for annexation because it will open more business opportunities. 
One respondent voiced interest in attracting national chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and 
shopping mall to Palmer. Another respondent suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow 
pawn shops within the City. One respondent suggested allowing small kennels of up to 10 dogs.  

A number of community members expressed concerns about the costs associated with building codes, 
building permits and inspection fees in real estate development. Some responses expressed concern that 
Palmer-area business owners have little say in City decision-making unless they are also residents. 
Others shared concerns about being annexed during current economic hardship (due to COVID-19) as 
well as the general administrative and financial impact that City licenses, fees, taxes and regulations 
would have on businesses.  

Public input also revealed the need for clarification about the impacts of annexation to specific types of 
businesses. Responses included concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much 
sales tax they would have to pay) and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses. Responses 
also included support for maintaining private gun range(s). 

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away." When a materials extraction operation closes, local government may also 
have an interest in working with the landowners to determine an appropriate use for the mined land. If the 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 59 

future land use is not addressed proactively, the closed mining operation could become a detriment to the 
community. 

Marijuana businesses were legalized within the City of Palmer by municipal vote in October 2020. 
Responses indicated mixed support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested 
allowing dispensaries within the City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  
there are too many cannabis businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot 
support them all.  

Issue Explanation 

Zoning for 
mixed use 
properties 
with home-
based 
businesses.  

When the City develops an annexation petition, it will work with landowners to identify the 
appropriate zoning. If the property is primarily residential use, a residential zone will apply. 
The City’s residential zoning codes may allow a home-based business as long as none of 
the buildings are exclusively for commercial use. PMC Title 17 Zoning includes several 
Residential Districts. 
Some mixed-use properties would fit Palmer’s Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54), 
which would allow home occupations and farming as an accessory use. This zoning 
designation requires a conditional use permit, with restrictions for excessive noise, traffic, 
or other impact to the neighborhood. Significant on-street parking or deliveries that disrupt 
residential neighborhoods would not be permitted.  
A mixed-use property could also be zoned Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28), 
which restricts the type of commercial activity on the property. 
If no zoning adequately fits the property, the City may consider amending a zoning district, 
creating a new zoning district, grant a conditional use permit or grandfather (i.e., legally 
non-conforming) the property to accommodate land uses.  

Business 
license for 
home-based 
businesses 

All businesses operating within City limits must register a business license with the City. 
One license covers all locations. The City has separate categories of licenses for door-to-
door sales, mobile itinerant vendors (i.e., food truck) and for businesses conducting sales 
at the State Fair or other special event(s). 

Gun range The City may issue permits to gun clubs for practice in facilities that meet NRA safety 
recommendations (PMC 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms).  

Landlords  Palmer’s zoning code (PMC Title 17) contains specific regulation and standards for real 
estate rental, depending on the nature and scale of the rental. The City provides guidance 
specifically for landlords.29 Landlords and property managers must have a City business 
license (a cost of $25 per year) and collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax on rents up to the 
first $1,000 of each rental unit (PMC 03.16.040 (F)). Property manager fees are a taxable 
service. The City requires a landlord agreement for each property, found on the City 
website (see footnote). Other City fees may apply to specific activities, such as obtaining 
building permits to build or renovate rental units. 

Bed and 
Breakfasts 

Regulation: Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation 
and standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  
Taxes: The Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently collects a bed tax of 5 percent on 
businesses that provide traveler accommodations (MSB Code Chapter 3.32 Transient 
Accommodations Tax). Annexed hospitality businesses would continue to pay the 
Borough bed tax. The City of Palmer does not currently collect a bed tax on hospitality 
businesses. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting City 
sales tax. 

Materials 
extraction 

If annexed, existing materials extraction (e.g., gravel pits) would be granted legal 
nonconforming status. Starting a new extraction within City boundaries requires an 

 
29 City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information.  

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 60 

Issue Explanation 

approved Conditional Use Permit and is only permitted on land zoned Industrial to ensure 
minimal impacts to neighboring uses. The City would still have to address the process of 
converting depleted sites to new uses.  
The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose 
significant new taxes. The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction 
operations and how long a severance tax could be a reliable revenue source. 

Marijuana 
businesses 

Marijuana establishments are allowed within the City of Palmer; they are regulated by 
Palmer Municipal Code, Chapters 5 Licensing and Standards, 8 Public Health and Safety 
and 17 Zoning. In the October 6, 2020 election, City of Palmer voters passed Proposition 
1, repealing PMC 5.32.020, which previously banned (non-cultivation) marijuana 
businesses inside city limits. Hemp cultivation and production is allowed per state law, and 
does not require this license. Marijuana licenses cannot be transferred to a new location 
(only to a new owner), and there are not a limited number set in statute. Cities can set 
limits on the number of marijuana licenses.  

Dog Kennels Palmer Municipal Code allows boarding kennels as a permitted use on land zoned BP 
Business Park District (PMC Chapter 17.58) in a completely enclosed building; an outdoor 
exercise yard is permitted. The size of kennels is not mentioned in code. 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 61 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area  

Study Area A  
Key Considerations 
Land use in Study Area A is mostly residential, 
with one light commercial establishment and one 
communications parcel. The Study Area has 
similar land use characteristics to Palmer and is 
in close proximity to the city as a whole. The area 
allows for both sides of the northern gateway to 
the City to be within the City’s boundaries. 
Because there is very little available land for 
development, Study Area A is not a significant 
growth area.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to 
the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study Area A to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. 
However, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated possible support for annexation in Study 
Area A (three of seven responses).  

Figure 16. Study Area A 

 

Study Area A 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 25 25 35 

Housing Units 17 17 21 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0% 2.6% 

 

Land Area 1 square mile / 731 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 62 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area A would have minimal fiscal effects on the City of Palmer and residents in the 
annexed area. Study Area A is the smallest annexation study area by property value and geographic size, 
and the second smallest area by non-exempt commercial activity and population. The study estimates 
that annexing Study Area A would generate $26,000 in a year in revenue and cost $36,000 a year in 
operating costs for a differential of -$10,000. This differential is small enough that the City would not likely 
have to adjust its tax rates to accommodate annexation. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study estimates that between 2020 and 2030, tax revenues from Area A would increase by roughly 
$8,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $5,000, resulting in a net positive change of 
$3,000 in 2030. When this shift of +$3,000 is added to the estimated 2020 net fiscal of -$10,000 per year, 
the study arrives at a projected annual fiscal effect of -$7,000 for 2030. This slight decrease in the 
negative fiscal effect compared to 2020 is attributed to small-scale development that is projected to take 
place in the limited available land in Study Area A over the next decade. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area A Only -10,000 8,000 5,000 3,000 -7,000 
 
 
 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 63 

Study Area B  
Key Considerations 
Study Area B includes agricultural land, 
residential and commercial with a church and a 
public utilities facility/easement. Study Area B is 
characterized by large agricultural parcels/family 
farms. If the property is subdivided and 
redeveloped, it could accommodate significant 
residential growth. However, the area includes a 
Farmland Trust property. Also, the Moffit Farm 
(which was in the process of obtaining an 
agricultural preservation easement on a 
significant portion of the farm at the time of 
writing) extends outside the study area. If the study area were included in an annexation petition as is, it 
would put part of the owner’s property inside the City and part of the property outside the City. Study Area 
B also includes a marijuana business.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study 
Area B to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. However, no resident survey responses indicated any 
support for annexation in Study Area B (zero of six responses). 

Figure 17. Study Area B 

 

  

Study Area B 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 54 57 96 

Housing Units 25 26 41 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.5% 5.4% 

 

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,204 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 64 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area B would be revenue positive for the City of Palmer and result in lower property 
tax bills for both area and City residents. Study Area B is a low-density agricultural area with strong future 
growth potential. The study estimates that incorporating the area would increase City revenues by nearly 
$190,000 per year, while costing less than $50,000 per year in operations expenses. Area residents 
would pay property tax to the City and see a tax reduction in their Borough tax bills, while receiving City 
services including police protection. This study area has the potential to be a fiscal win-win for both 
residents and the City. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold. 
Assuming that Study Area B maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that this area will increase its net positive 
fiscal effect over the next decade. The study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$62,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $18,000, resulting in an annual net fiscal effect 
of $183,000 in 2030; a net change of +$44,000 from the estimated 2020 fiscal effect. The increase in the 
positive fiscal effect compared to 2020 results from modest commercial and residential development in 
the area. The tax base is projected to grow as larger lots are subdivided, but the population is not 
expected to grow so much that it triggers additional operational costs, such as adding another police 
officer. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area B Only 139,000 62,000 18,000 44,000 183,000 
 
 
  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 65 

Study Area C  
Key Considerations 
Like Study Area B, Study Area C is characterized 
by large agricultural parcels. If developed, they 
could accommodate significant future growth. 
Because Study Area C is near existing schools, it 
may be especially desirable for residential 
development.  

However, there is significant value for farmland 
preservation in the Palmer area. Some farmers 
may be interested in developing their land; others 
intend to continue farming and do not plan to 
subdivide and sell. Seven percent of resident 
survey responses indicated any support for annexation in Study Area C (one of 14 responses). 

Figure 18. Study Area C 

 

  

Study Area C 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 72 72 111 

Housing Units 27 27 42 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0% 4% 

 

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,472 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 66 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Annexation of Study Area C would result in similar fiscal effects as annexation of Study Area A. While 
geographically much larger than Study Area A, and with a population twice that of Study Area A, the fiscal 
effects of annexing Study Area C are similar. The study predicts annual revenues under the City’s current 
tax structure of just under $50,000 each year, with annual operating costs near $70,000 per year for a net 
difference of roughly -$22,000. The study anticipates that this differential could be covered without 
significant tax structure changes.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold.  
Assuming that Study Area C maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that the net fiscal effect of annexing the 
area will change little between 2020 and 2030. Between 2020 and 2030 the study model’s expected tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $19,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $17,000, 
resulting in a net change of +$2,000 in 2030. This amount shifts the area’s net fiscal effect from -$22,000 
in 2020 to -$20,000 in 2030. This slight decrease in the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is 
attributed to modest residential development and population growth that is projected to occur as larger 
parcels are developed. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area C Only -22,000 19,000 17,000 2,000 -20,000 
 
 
  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 67 

Study Area D  
Key Considerations 
Study Area D includes a mix of residential and 
commercial land uses, as well as a school and a 
church. In the long-term, Study Area D may be 
an area for growth, but it is mostly built out and 
has little room for additional near-term growth. 
Study Area D is proximate to public trails. 

Population growth would give the City a strong 
case to the Local Boundary Commission for 
annexing Study Area D. However, 19 percent of 
resident survey responses indicated any support 
for annexation in Study Area D (15 of 80 
responses). 

Figure 19. Study Area D 

 
  

Study Area D 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 1,163 1,208 1,311 

Housing Units 436 454 494 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.4% 0.8% 

 

Land Area 17 square miles / 10,946 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 68 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area D is a developed residential area with a modest amount of commercial activity relative to 
population and geographic area. The area’s estimated population of roughly 1,200 citizens is seven times 
the combined population of Study Areas A, B, and C. The number of lane miles that the Palmer Public 
Works Department would be responsible for is more than twice the combined lane miles of Study Areas 
A, B, and C. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.5 million plus annual 
capital debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $1 million in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a roughly $725,000 negative net fiscal effect. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by nearly 0.8 mils and cost 
property owners roughly $190 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to 3.18 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
Although much of Study Area D’s proximity to trails and schools make it desirable for residential 
development, there are a limited number of parcels that could accommodate future growth. However, 
based on interviews with the Mat-Su Borough and pending building permits, Study Area D is expected to 
have more short-term development than areas to the north. Assuming modest infill residential 
development over the next decade, the study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$176,000, while City operating and capital costs would increase by $238,500, resulting in a -$62,500 
change in the estimated fiscal effect between 2020 and 2030. In short, the study expects the annual 
negative net fiscal effect of annexing just this area to increase. The increase in the negative fiscal effects 
compared to 2020 is attributable to increasing public safety costs that are tied to forecasted population 
growth in this area, including hiring additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 
residents per officer (statewide averages hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the 
capital cost for an additional police car (cruiser).  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area D Only -725,000 176,000 238,500 -62,500 -787,500 

   



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 69 

Study Area E  
Key Considerations 
Existing land use in Study Area E is primarily 
residential to the south and undeveloped 
parkland to the north. The area includes part of 
the southern gateway to the City of Palmer. 
Recent road improvements along the Glenn 
Highway corridor make Study Area E an 
attractive area for new commercial development. 
Study Area E is considered a desirable 
residential area, but the raw developable land in 
key areas lack road access and would therefore 
be expensive to develop. Study Area E may be 
an area for long-term residential growth.  

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area E. However, 15 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (15 of 98 responses). 

Figure 20. Study Area E 

 
 
  

Study Area E 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 835 878 1,099 

Housing Units 292 309 395 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.5% 2.3% 

 

Land Area 12 square miles / 7,965 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 70 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area E has the smallest population of the three larger population study areas and has the highest 
potential for future growth. The combination of population and some commercial activity makes this area 
more fiscally attractive than Area F, but less fiscally attractive than Area D. The study estimates additional 
annual operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly 
$265,000 against roughly $626,000 in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal 
effect of just over $800,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property 
tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost property owners roughly $260 per $250,000 of 
property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to 3.21 percent from 3.0 percent to 
balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at three mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study projects a very modest improvement between 2020 and 2030 in the strong net negative fiscal 
effect of annexing Area E only. Assuming a moderate amount of future growth in Study Area E, the study 
estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly $169,000 and that City operating and capital costs 
would increase by $127,000, resulting in a net change of +$42,000 in 2030. This change would shift the 
area’s estimated annual negative effect from -$814,000 annually to -$782,000 annually. The decrease in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to modest residential development and 
population growth in Study Area E. Although some residential development in Study Area E would require 
the construction of access roads, these estimates do not include additional road mileage because it is 
unclear how much of that road construction would be private and how much would be public.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area E Only -814,000 169,000 127,000 42,000 -782,000 
 
Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E. 
  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 71 

Study Area F  
Key Considerations 
 Existing land use in Study Area F is a mix of 
residential, commercial and agriculture. The area 
includes part of the southern gateway to the City 
of Palmer. Study Area F features some of the 
densest housing development in the Palmer 
area. Multiple farms also operate in this area, 
including smaller hobby farms and larger 
operations. There may continue to be more 
residential infill as farmland is sold and 
redeveloped, but there is also a great deal of 
support for farmland preservation in the Palmer 
area. The State Fair owns several lots in Study Area F that are unlikely to be redeveloped or change use. 

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area F. However, 12 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (19 of 153 responses). 

Figure 21. Study Area F 

 

  

Study Area F 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 744 1,259 1,473 

Housing Units 279 485 568 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  5.4% 1.6% 

 

Land Area 10 square miles / 6,584 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 72 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Study Area F has the largest population and the lowest level of commercial activity per capita of all the 
study areas considered in this analysis. This combination makes Study Area F a poorer fiscal fit for 
annexation than the other study areas. The negative net fiscal effects of annexing this study area are 
nearly as large as annexing all the study areas without the broader tax base upon which to balance the 
budget. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.4 million plus annual capital 
debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $660,000 in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect of nearly $990,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost 
property owners roughly $315 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to nearly 3.3 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 
mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study projects that the strong net negative fiscal effect of annexing Area F only will strengthen over 
the next decade. Assuming continued development in Study Area F, the study estimates that tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $133,000 annually and that City operating and capital costs would 
increase by $403,500 annually, resulting in a -$270,500 shift in net fiscal effect. This change would shift 
the annual net fiscal effect for the city from -$989,000 in 2020 to -$1.26 million in 2030. The increase in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to an increase in public safety costs 
associated with the projected population growth for this primarily residential area, including hiring 
additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 residents per officer (statewide averages 
hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the capital cost for an additional police car 
(cruiser).   

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area F Only -989,000 133,000 403,500 -270,500 -1,259,500 
 
Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 73 

Study Area G (and E) 
Key Considerations 
Existing land use in Study Area G is primarily 
gravel extraction. The study area also includes a 
few residences and the Matanuska Valley 
Sportsmen Shooting Range. Recent road 
improvements along the Glenn Highway corridor 
make Study Area G an attractive area for new 
commercial development. At some point, the 
gravel extraction operation will close, and the 
land will be redeveloped. Area residents may be 
interested in having the City’s land use controls 
to influence redevelopment of the property at that 
time. 

In Study Area G alone, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated support for annexation (three of 
seven responses). When combined with Study Area E, support for annexation drops to 17 percent (18 of 
105 responses). 

Figure 22. Study Area G 

 

  

Study Area G 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 8 8 11 

Housing Units 4 4 5 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0% 3.5% 

 

Land Area 21 square miles / 13,652 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 74 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 
Fiscal effects are described for Study Area G and 
E because the City would only be able to annex 
Study Area G if Study Area E is annexed as well. 
Study Areas G and E would extend the city south 
on the western edge of the Glenn Highway. This 
combination area would allow the City to 
influence Palmer’s primary visual entrance at 
modest fiscal expense. The City would need to 
adjust its tax structure to capture some of the 
high-dollar commercial activity occurring at the 
local gravel pits in order to keep fiscal effects 
modest. The study estimates additional annual 
operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly $370,000 
against just under $1.2 million in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect 
of roughly $380,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property tax mil 
rate would increase by just over 0.04 mil and cost property owners roughly $10 per $250,000 of property. 
Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to nearly 3.005 percent from 3.0 percent to balance 
the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. This adjustment in the sales tax rate is so small 
that it might make sense to consider adjusting the $1,000 sales act transaction cap for inflation instead of 
changing the rate.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 
The study expects that the annual net negative fiscal effects of annexing Areas G+E will increase over the 
next decade from -$350,000 a year to -$571,000 a year. Because Study Area G is viewed as largely 
unsuitable for residential development, minimal development or population increase is assumed in the 
study area over the next decade. Sales tax revenues in Study Area G are also expected to decline as 
gravel production slows and the mine in this area is decommissioned. However, combined with the 
development potential of Study Area E, the study estimates that tax revenues would only decrease by 
roughly $93,000 and City operating costs would increase by $128,000, resulting in a net change of  
-$221,000 in 2030.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Areas  
G+E Only -350,000 -93,000 128,000 -221,000 -571,000 

 
 

Study Areas  
G + E 
Combined 2010 2020 

2030, 
Projected 

Population 843 886 1,110 

Housing Units 296 313 400 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0.5% 2.3% 

 

Land Area 33 square miles / 21,617 acres 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 75 

Transition Plan 

Transfer Process  
An annexation petition must include a practical plan, informed by the City of Palmer, the State of Alaska, 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and general community that demonstrates the capacity of the City 
government to:  

• extend essential City services into the territory proposed for annexation in the shortest practicable 
time after annexation, not to exceed two years following annexation. 

• assume all relevant and appropriate powers, duties, rights, and functions presently exercised by 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough in the territory proposed for annexation. 

• transfer and integrate all relevant and appropriate assets and liabilities of the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough in the territory proposed for annexation. 

The estimated staffing, equipment and capital needed to annex the Study Areas identified in this report 
are included in the fiscal study assumptions. If the City proposes to annex a different land area, the 
transition plan for that annexation petition will provide comparable estimates adjusted to the area included 
in the petition. 

Generally, the transition process occurs within one year of an annexation decision. The impact to the City 
of Palmer of extending services to areas proposed for annexation would be greatest for areas with the 
greatest population and existing development. As the City prepares the transition plan for a given 
annexation petition, it will confer and coordinate with other governmental agencies and service providers, 
such as those listed in Table 15. 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation 

Entity Topic(s) of Coordination 
Mat-Su Borough  
(various departments) 

Status of annexation petition; voting districts; alcohol and marijuana 
licensing; emergency and hazard planning; tax receipts, timing of tax 
collection/effective dates; improvement districts; bond repayment; 
planning and land development; gravel pits; subdivision and platting 
procedures; mapping; general coordination 

South Colony Road 
Service Area 

Borough road contracts; existing maintenance and capital projects, 
service levels; general coordination 

Alaska Department of 
Transportation and 
Public Facilities 

Confirm ownership and maintenance of State roads/infrastructure; 
ADOT policies; general coordination 

Alaska State Troopers Impact to Trooper workload; problem areas; dispatch; staffing levels; 
general coordination 

Alaska Alcohol and 
Marijuana Control Office 

Alcohol and marijuana licensing; marijuana and alcohol licenses; license 
types; conditions of approval; general coordination 

Alaska Fire Marshal Application of City building and fire safety codes/policies; general 
coordination 

School District Police response; safe routes to schools; general coordination  

State of Alaska Local 
Government Specialist 

Anything City has questions about; general coordination 

 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 76 

General Government Services 
All areas of potential City annexation are currently governed by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, so 
general government services for any territory proposed for annexation would be transferred from the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer. Some specific government services and functions 
would remain with the Borough and are noted in the following pages. Once annexation is effective, the 
City would work with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to ensure that all affected departments are made 
aware of the boundary change.  

Transition of voter roles 
Voter registration would shift from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer for all residents 
of annexed territory upon effective annexation. Annexed residents would be assigned to City of Palmer 
voting precincts. Voting precincts are set by the State of Alaska and reviewed every ten years after the 
Census. The City of Palmer currently has two precincts, located at:  

• 11-070: Matanuska-Susitna Borough Administration Building Assembly Chambers (350 E. Dahlia 
Avenue) 

• 11-075: Senior Center (350 E. Dahlia Avenue) 
A map of Palmer’s existing voting precincts may be viewed at: www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-
office/page/polling-locations.  

Licenses 

Business licenses 
Businesses located in annexed areas would be required to obtain a City of Palmer business license, 
effective upon annexation. 

Alcohol and Marijuana Licenses 
The Alaska Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) would continue to oversee the licensing of 
alcohol and marijuana businesses. Any annexed business holding an alcohol or marijuana license issued 
by AMCO would be permitted to continue operating consistent with their license and any restrictions or 
conditions that were placed on the license at its approval or most recent renewal. Renewal of licenses 
post-annexation would be reviewed according to Palmer Municipal Code. Once annexation is effective, 
the new city boundaries would be provided to the AMCO for future licensing and renewals.   

Property Tax 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough assesses and collects property taxes for properties inside and outside 
organized cities in the borough; this system would not change. However, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
Assessing Department would be notified of the new property in the city to make sure that the property 
receives the proper assessment. Annexed parcels would be transitioned to the correct tax code area for 
Palmer, which would begin at the beginning of the next calendar year following the effective date of 
annexation. Annexed properties would no longer pay the Borough’s Non-Area Wide millage, Road 
Service Area millage nor separate Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area millage, and would 
instead pay the City of Palmer millage. 

Sales Tax 
The Matanuska-Susitna Borough at this time has not imposed a sales tax. The City of Palmer currently 
has a sales tax in the amount of three percent. Once annexation is effective, all future sales, rentals and 
services made on or from businesses within the annexed area would be subject to the City of Palmer 
sales tax. The procedures that are currently in place when developers and/or businesses apply for a 
Building Permit or Business License ensure that individuals are informed of the City sales tax and proper 
collection and reporting requirements.  

http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations
http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations
http://www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-office/page/polling-locations


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 77 

Other taxes and fees  
A transient accommodations taxation (bed tax) is collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. This tax 
would continue to be collected by the Borough for all applicable businesses operating within the City and 
annexed areas. The City of Palmer does not collect a bed tax.  

Once annexation is effective, all applicable fees charged by the City of Palmer would be required upon 
the associated action. The City’s current Fee Schedule may be viewed at: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Economic Development  
Economic Development would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer.  

Planning, Land Use and Zoning  
Some planning and land use powers would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of 
Palmer, including subdivisions and plat review, zoning, and the application of building permits.  

Subdivisions and platting for land within City boundaries is done by the City of Palmer, with approval by 
the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for these 
actions in PMC Title 16 Subdivisions (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16). Once annexation is 
effective, landowners would work with City of Palmer staff to subdivide and plat their land in accordance 
with City code. 

Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for the application of City zoning upon annexation of territory 
into the city (PMC 17.59.030: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59). Following the effective date of 
annexation, the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct public hearings to take public 
comment on land use and potential zoning for the newly annexed territory. After due considerations, the 
City would designate initial zoning districts for annexed parcels. Owner-initiated zoning amendments can 
be made at any time, so landowners can propose the zoning of their choice to the city as part of the initial 
zoning or afterward. City staff would work with landowners to determine how best to accommodate any 
non-conforming territory within study areas, which may include some combination of zoning application, 
conditional use permits, variances or some other land use regulatory tool.  

Palmer Municipal Code also provides guidance about the initial zoning of annexed properties (PMC 
17.16.060: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060 and PMC 17.59.040 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59), copied below. These designations are intended to make the 
zoning process smooth by allowing existing uses to continue to the extent possible during transition into 
the City.  

17.16.060 Annexation zoning. When land becomes a part of the city by means of annexation, 
the land shall be zoned as follows: 

A. Privately owned parcels primarily used for single-family residential purposes shall be classified 
as R-1, single-family residential; 

B. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and intended for uses allowed in a public use 
district shall be classified as P, public use; 

C. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and not intended for uses allowed in a public use 
district shall be classified as T, transitional use; 

D. Privately owned parcels primarily used for other than single-family residential purposes shall 
be classified as T, transitional use; 

https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 78 

E. Privately owned parcels not in use upon the effective date of the annexation shall be classified 
as T, transitional use. (Ord. 632 § 3, 2004; Ord. 454 § 4, 1992) 

17.59.040 Permitted principal and accessory uses and structures. Principal uses and 
structures in the T – transitional district are: 

A. Lawful uses are to continue in the transitional district, except those prohibited uses specified 
in PMC 17.59.060 and those permitted to continue only by conditional use. 

B. Lawful accessory uses and structures are allowed to continue. (Ord. 13-009 § 6, 2014; Ord. 
632 § 4, 2004) 

Once annexation is effective, property owners would also be required to obtain City of Palmer building 
permits and meet City building codes for new construction or significant repairs. 

Water and Sewer 
There would be no effective change in water and wastewater upon annexation for the affected territory. 
The Palmer Water and Sewer Utility provides sewers, sewage treatment, water treatment and distribution, 
including fire hydrants to areas within its service area, which already includes all areas that may be 
considered for annexation. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough does not provide these utility services to 
Borough residents. Regardless of any annexation, the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility would consider 
extensions to its existing services and infrastructure on a case-by-case basis. Many properties in the 
study areas are serviced by their own water wells and septic systems. These properties would be 
permitted to continue to use their existing systems per Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 13.16.  

Public Safety 
Public safety services would transfer from the Alaska State Troopers to the Palmer Police Department. 
Once annexation is effective, the City would notify the Alaska State Troopers and the Palmer Police 
Department that the annexed territory is inside the Palmer Police Department's jurisdiction. Fire and 
Emergency Response service would continue to be provided by the Palmer Fire and Rescue within the 
Greater Palmer Fire Service Area, which would include all annexed areas.  

Roads and Road Maintenance 
All Matanuska-Susitna Borough-owned streets, roads, sidewalks, paths and trails including related utility 
easements, water drainage, landscaping, parking and approximately 40 streetlights would transfer from 
the South Colony Road Service Area to the City of Palmer. Once annexation is effective, Palmer Public 
Works maintenance crews would be informed of the new area to be serviced. Road maintenance of State 
Highways would continue to be provided by the State of Alaska in annexed areas.  

Libraries, Parks and Recreation 
The Palmer Library is already operated by the City of Palmer. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough makes 
contributions to the City on behalf of residents that use the Palmer Library outside City boundaries, which 
would likely be reduced to reflect the City’s new boundaries. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough would 
maintain ownership of Borough parks, playgrounds, sports fields and other recreation facilities, but would 
delegate the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland to the City of Palmer upon 
annexation. 

Services Not Affected by Annexation 
Airport and aviation services would continue to be available to annexed areas and provided by the City of 
Palmer, Municipal Airport. The following services would continue to be provided by the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough to annexed areas: Animal Control, Education, Air pollution control, and Historic 
preservation. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 79 

Policy Implications 
The annexation study revealed a number of concerns from area residents and businesses about how 
existing City of Palmer policy would affect them, if annexed. In some cases, public concerns reflect a lack 
of understanding about how City governance and service provision works. Most, if not all, of these can be 
clarified by the information presented in this report. In other cases, public concerns reflect issues that will 
require a decision by the City of Palmer. These are noted below, with alternatives for the City to consider. 
It should also be noted that recent LBC decisions demonstrate a current philosophy among 
Commissioners that leans toward supporting individual property rights and well-supported annexations; 
addressing these issues and demonstrating a base level of support for annexation among the City and 
area residents will be especially important for a successful annexation.  

Sales Taxes 
The City could speak with businesses in areas proposed for annexation to find out if there is a consistent 
type of business that would be negatively affected by having to collect sales tax and consequently make a 
determination if PMC 03.16.050 should be amended to include any other specific sales tax exemptions. 
Some survey respondents specifically indicated that locally grown food should be exempt from the City 
sales tax, but it is beyond the scope of this study to determine how much of an impact the sales tax would 
have, if any, on the competitiveness of annexed businesses.  

Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc. 
The City currently requires building permits, fees and inspections for sheds and decks per PMC Title 15 
Buildings and Construction (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15). The City also charges a fence 
permit. The City could review and amend code to make some degree of the building permitting and 
inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal Code 23.05.030 makes the 
requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, plan review, and building inspection 
processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is 
defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.)  
The City currently does not allow on streets except to cross per PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-
highway Vehicles (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08). The City could amend PMC to allow 
licensed operation of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor 
Vehicles (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40). Designated pathways or recreational trails could be 
created that run alongside main roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional 
provisions may be needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets. 

Animal restrictions 
The City currently allows a variety of pet and livestock animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 6 
Animals (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6) and PMC Title 17 Zoning 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17). Most community concerns were either about dogs or farm 
animals (chickens, roosters, cows, horses, goats, bees). Palmer Municipal Code allows all of these on 
land zoned for agriculture or parcels larger than one acre if the animals do not go within 25 feet from an 
exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). For dogs, the City could review and consider amending the code to 
allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash dogs in designated areas within City 
boundaries if existing code cannot accommodate annexed properties. Where there is potential conflict 
regarding farm animals is in the case of a property owner living on a residential parcel of less than one 
acre with small-scale agricultural activities mainly for personal consumption. The City could review and 
amend code to better accommodate these activities if existing zoning and animal regulations fail to do so. 

https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 80 

Hunting and Use of Firearms  
The City currently prohibits discharge of firearms within City limits except at permitted practice facilities 
per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII). The City 
could designate areas in code where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 
Discharge of firearms (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010). Anchorage and Juneau have 
helpful webpages describing their rules about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The 
City and Borough of Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries 
(https://juneau.org/lands/hunting). It is against the law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of 
Anchorage except in designated hunting areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 
8.25.030 (https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx). 

Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks  
Fireworks are allowed without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42). Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for 
fire pits and Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon approval 
by the Fire Chief or his designee.30 The City could review and amend code to if needed. One example 
would be to adjust the allowances for burn permits on parcels of five or more acres in newly annexed 
areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done 
according to regulatory safety standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, 
yard debris, leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.31  

Solid Waste Collection and Disposal 
Garbage collection is currently required throughout the City of Palmer per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage 
Collection and Disposal (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20). The City could consider changing 
PMC to allow self-haul, disposal of waste on property, in addition to contracted collection services, either 
in a part of the city or citywide. Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage 
collection within a specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste collection and 
disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer Municipal Code, Anchorage 
Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a private provider outside this service area. 

Farms 
If the City seeks to accommodate working farms into its boundaries, the City is advised to meet with 
farmers and discuss their specific concerns, then prepare a plan for transitioning the working farms into 
the City. Many farm concerns could be accommodated within now-existing City code. However, in order 
to meet City standards, farmers may have to invest time and money into things like moving their fences, 
coming into building code compliance and meeting the City’s sales tax policies and reporting 
requirements. There is also some uncertainty about how to interpret City code for farm waste 
management. These are issues that might not necessarily put the farmer out of business, but that could 
create significant hurdles and animosity among farmers if they are not addressed proactively. Depending 
on the issue, the City could consider offering assistance or incentive programs or allow farms to slowly 
transition to code compliance.  

  

 
30 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 
31 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.   

https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 81 

References 
Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-
analysis-annexation-alternatives.  

Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local 
Boundary Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. 
Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission. Alaska Remote Sales Tax Information Portal. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: http://arsstc.org/. 

City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting.  

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_cit
y_limits_map.pdf. 

City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code.  

City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 
921.34 acres North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a 
Home Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the 
consent of all owners of the property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing 
on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents. 

City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information. 

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports. 

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
http://arsstc.org/
http://arsstc.org/
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-code-enforcement-information
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/building-reports


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 82 

City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-
schedule. 

City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application. 

City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information.  

City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code. Accessed February 4-9, 2021 from: 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/.  

City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-
works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards. 

Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 

Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 
3, 2021 from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating. 

Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx.  

Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.  

Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 
2020 from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives. 

Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits. 

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-
running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html. 

United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean 
Water Act: A Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-
21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act. 

  

http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information
http://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information
https://palmer.municipal.codes/
https://palmer.municipal.codes/
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
http://www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning
https://www.matsugov.us/zoning
http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating
http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
http://www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-permits
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 83 

Appendix A: Annexation History 
A History of Annexation in Palmer 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation  
For most of its history, annexation into the City of Palmer has happened through frequent, small-scale 
petitions only when requested by property owners. From the City’s incorporation in 1951 through 1999, 
the City’s boundaries were expanded by 44 separate annexations, 41 of which occurred between 1970 
and 1999 (ADCED, 2000).32 These annexations often involved either large commercial parcels or parcels 
that were subdivided into smaller lots for residential development. Annexation into the City provided 
access to municipal services, particularly water and sewer services, which have been the primary driver 
of annexation requests by landowners and developers.  

This piecemeal approach to annexation created irregular, meandering city boundaries and several 
enclaves of non-annexed properties isolated within City boundaries (Smythe, 1999).33 In 1992, the LBC 
denied a City-initiated annexation petition because it would have created an additional enclave,34 and 
recommended that the City take a more comprehensive approach to annexation in future to address the 
problem of enclaves (ADCED, 2000).  

A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation 
From the 1990’s onward, the City followed the LBC’s recommendation for a more comprehensive 
approach to annexation. A 1999 City-initiated annexation petition included four separate parcels 
contiguous with then-existing City boundaries, one of which was a voluntary annexation request; the 
remaining three were either owned by the City or were privately-owned lots over which the City already 
held Power of Attorney for annexation (City of Palmer, 1999).35  

The City of Palmer also completed a comprehensive plan in 1999, which recommended that the City 
adopt Palmer’s certificated sewer service area as the conceptual boundary for expansion of the City and 
file the concept with the LBC so that future individual annexation petitions would be used to implement 
the concept (Smythe, 1999). The plan reasoned that a conceptual growth boundary would provide 
advance notice to landowners and residents in areas of possible annexation, which would thereby allow 
more time for landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough to plan and prepare for 

 
32 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
33 Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan.  
34 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
35 City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 84 

future annexations (Smythe, 1999). Following the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan, the City contracted 
with Northern Economics, Inc. in 2000 to analyze the economic effects of a potential future annexation. 
This study analyzed four study areas defined as potential annexation phases toward the conceptual 
boundary recommended by the Comprehensive Plan and, by City Council request, added a study area for 
the extensive gravel extraction area south of the City (Northern Economics, Inc., 2006).36  

A City-initiated annexation petition in 2002 (of over 920 acres) specifically addressed the issue of 
enclaves within Palmer by annexing all remaining enclaves, including properties that were either entirely 
surrounded by the City or bordered by the City and the Matanuska River. The 2002 petition also 
established that the conflict between the City's policy of annexing land only upon request and the LBC's 
policy of denying a petition that would create an enclave had effectively made the voluntary piecemeal 
approach to annexation an obstacle to investment in the Palmer community and to its growth and 
development (City of Palmer, 2002).37 Any non-contiguous property outside City boundaries would have 
to be annexed along with the land between that development and City boundaries. Even if driven by a 
landowner’s voluntary request for annexation, future annexation petitions would likely have to be initiated 
by the City in order to include enough land area to ensure contiguous City borders.  

Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development 
Annexation was identified in Palmer’s 1999 Comprehensive Plan as an important mechanism to support 
the City’s ability to plan for and manage community growth, which had become constrained by Palmer’s 
relatively small physical area, high population density, and high growth rate (Smythe, 1999). The plan 
recommended that Palmer adopt an annexation strategy specifically to help guide future development 
because significant growth was happening just outside municipal boundaries (Smythe, 1999).  

Growth management was a significant part of the rationale for the subsequent 2002 City-initiated 
annexation petition, which noted a population increase of 58 percent from development within City 
boundaries and 38 percent within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough over the previous Census decade 
(1990-2000) (City of Palmer, 2002). The petition cited the need to address the potential for conflicting 
land uses and building standards along municipal boundaries with planning and zoning in the areas 
proposed for annexation, particularly where enclaves existed (City of Palmer, 2002). It included four 
partially developed subdivisions (of almost 200 lots) that requested annexation for water and sewer 
service and noted the City’s desire to plan for commercial development and retail growth expansion along 
the Glenn Highway to the south prior to development (City of Palmer, 2002).38  

A 2006 update to the Palmer Comprehensive Plan reaffirmed that the City needed additional area for 
community expansion and that much of the Palmer area’s recent growth and development had taken 
place near Springer Loop to the south and along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway to the west, both areas 
outside city boundaries and not zoned (Agnew::Beck, 2006).39 The 2006 update recommended that there 
be a plan for the phased expansion of city boundaries, with a detailed planning study and cost-benefit 
analysis of the area proposed for annexation. 

 
36 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  
37 City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 921.34 acres 
North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary 
Commission: https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  
38 Ibid. 
39 Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 85 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map 

 
This map, from the 2006 Analysis of Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer (Northern Economics, Inc.), then-
proposed annexation phasing out to the Palmer Certificated Sewer Utility Service Area boundary. The utility service 
area boundary was recommended as a conceptual growth boundary for the City in the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive 
Plan as a way to give landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough more opportunity to plan 
and prepare for future annexations. 
 

As the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update was underway, the City retained Northern Economics, 
Inc. to conduct another annexation study using the same analytical approach as the 2001 study. The 
2006 Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer also used the previously established phased 
approach toward a conceptual growth boundary that matched the Palmer certificated sewer utility service 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 86 

area, shown in Figure 23 (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).40 The study noted the City’s ability to offer a 
high level of municipal services including City police, fire protection, street maintenance, and planning 
and land use regulatory powers. However, it noted that the extension of water and sewer services, which 
had previously been a major driver in annexation requests to the City, was coordinated by a separate 
certificated city utility through an enterprise fund (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).41 

The City has not successfully led any large-area annexations since 2002. An annexation petition was 
prepared in 2007 but failed to pass a vote of the Palmer City Council for submittal to the LBC. Testimony 
from residents in the area proposed for annexation was overwhelmingly opposed for reasons ranging 
from expectations that annexation would adversely affect their lives and property to a lack of adequate 
opportunity to participate in the development of the annexation proposal (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 
2010).42  

In 2010, the City retained a consultant team (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., and 
Kevin Waring Associates) to prepare an Annexation Strategy. The 2010 study identified two commercial 
corridors, the Palmer Wasilla Highway and Glenn Highway, as areas with the most potential need for 
growth management, depending on how and when properties along the highways are developed. It also 
recommended public process improvements and potential changes to City policies to address area 
resident concerns about annexation (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 2010).43 A property was annexed in 2011 
using the local option/local action method by the consent of all property owners and registered voters 
residing on the property (City of Palmer, 2011).44 The owner, a church, already owned adjacent property 
inside City limits and sought to consolidate and fully develop its property through annexation. 

The Case for Annexation 
The City of Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck et al, 2010) provided the rationale for annexation 
that applies equally in 2020 as it did in 2010. That study discussed how State law generally favors city 
annexations to sustain the fiscal viability of existing cities, to plan for growth and the efficient provision of 
essential public services to adjacent areas. Palmer’s case for annexation would rest on:  

• The city’s constrained boundaries with ongoing growth in the City’s periphery. 
• The City’s unique ability to plan for and deliver essential public services to adjacent areas as 

development progresses. 
• The City’s demonstrated capacity to provide expanded public services without impacting the 

quality and costs of services to existing residents. 
• The City’s need to maintain its sales tax revenue base. 

The 2020 annexation study looks at these elements of Palmer’s annexation rationale in more detail and 
offers guidance for issues that would have to addressed as part of a future annexation.  

 
40 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  
41 Ibid. 
42 Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-
alternatives.  
43 Ibid. 
44 City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a Home 
Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the consent of all owners of the 
property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx


City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 87 

Appendix B: Survey Questions 
Interview Questions 

Residents and the General Public 
1] What opportunities do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? 

2] What risks do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? 

3] Are there specific policies, city services or other potential impacts (on services, taxes or regulations) 
that are of interest or concern to you? 

4] Are there specific actions the City could take to ameliorate any negative impacts if property is 
annexed? 

Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners 
1] Based on your experience and knowledge about recent and future development trends, where could 
we expect residential and/or commercial growth, within and around Palmer? 

2-5] Same questions as Residents and the General Public. 

Survey Questions 
1] Please chose the option that most closely reflects where you live: (Choose 1.) 

□ I live in the City of Palmer. 
□ I live in Study area A. 
□ I live in Study area B. 
□ I live in Study area C. 
□ I live in Study area D. 
□ I live in Study area E. 
□ I live in Study area F. 
□ I live in Study area G. 
□ I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 

2] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you own a business. (Choose all that 
apply.) 

□ I own a business in the City of Palmer. 
□ I own a business in Study area A. 
□ I own a business in Study area B. 
□ I own a business in Study area C. 
□ I own a business in Study area D. 
□ I own a business in Study area E. 
□ I own a business in Study area F. 
□ I own a business in Study area G. 
□ I own a business outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 
□ I do not own a business. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 88 

3] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you work. (Choose all that apply.) 

□ I work in the City of Palmer. 
□ I work in Study area A. 
□ I work in Study area B. 
□ I work in Study area C. 
□ I work in Study area D. 
□ I work in Study area E. 
□ I work in Study area F. 
□ I work in Study area G. 
□ I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 
□ I do not work for anyone. 

4] Annexation often sparks strong opinions about how it will impact residents and businesses. When 
thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which category most closely reflects your 
opinion of each statement? 

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Newly annexed areas will have to comply 
with City zoning and other land use 
regulations, which would provide more 
local control over land use and 
development decisions. 

□ □ □ □ 

New residents would be able to vote in 
City elections, run for office, and serve on 
City Council, boards and commissions, 
etc.  

□ □ □ □ 

Palmer Police would be extended into 
newly annexed areas. □ □ □ □ 

City road maintenance would be extended 
into newly annexed areas.  □ □ □ □ 

Newly annexed areas would be required to 
have trash collection. The City provides 
trash collection within a service area. 
Outside the service area, property owners 
are required to contract with a private solid 
waste collection service. 

□ □ □ □ 

Businesses in annexed areas would 
collect City sales tax of 3 percent; the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough has no sales 
tax. 

□ □ □ □ 

Landowners in annexed areas would pay 
City property taxes and would stop paying 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough non-areawide 
property taxes as well as Greater Palmer 
Fire Service area assessments. 
Annexation would not affect exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor 
farmland use tax deferments. 

□ □ □ □ 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 89 

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Building permits would be required and 
building safety codes would have to be 
met for new construction in newly annexed 
areas. 

□ □ □ □ 

 

5] What other benefits do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters) 

 
  

6] What other concerns do you have about expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters) 

 
 

7] What actions could the City take to reduce negative impacts if property is annexed into the City of 
Palmer? For example, zoning and/or other City regulations could be changed to allow certain practices in 
annexed areas. Are there specific practices or issues the City should consider allowing in annexed areas 
that would not be allowed under existing Palmer Municipal Code? (max 1,000 characters) 

 
 

8] What specific information should the study provide about potential benefits or challenges of annexing 
new land into the City of Palmer? (max 1,000 characters) 

 
 

9] When thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which statement most closely reflects 
your current overall opinion? (Choose 1.) 

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs to the City, my household and/or business 
increase in the short term because of the benefits annexation will provide to the community. 

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it makes fiscal sense to my household, business 
and/or the City. 

□ I have no opinion about annexation.  
□ I do not currently support annexation but could support it if my concerns were addressed.  
□ I do not support annexation under any circumstances. 
□ I need more information about annexation to make an informed choice.  
□ None of the above. 

Finally, it’s important for us to ask a few questions to understand how the demographics of survey 
respondents compare to the general population of the area. 

10] What is your gender? (Choose 1.) 

□ Male 
□ Female 
□ Prefer not to answer 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 90 

11] What is your age? (Choose 1.) 

□ 19 and Under 
□ Age 20-44 
□ Age 45-64 
□ Age 65 and over 
□ Prefer not to answer 

12] What is your household income? (Choose 1.) 

□ Under $25,000 
□ $25,000-$49,999 
□ $50,000-$74,999 
□ $75,000-$99,999 
□ Over $100,000 
□ Prefer not to answer 

13] What is your race or ethnicity? (Choose 1.) 

□ White/Caucasian 
□ Black 
□ American Indian/Alaska Native 
□ Asian 
□ Pacific Islander 
□ Other 
□ Two or more races 
□ Prefer not to answer 

 

  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 91 

Appendix C: Survey Findings 
Survey results shows that people and businesses inside City are more interested in annexation than 
those in the study areas. Study areas show the least interest in annexation, though there is some support 
in certain study areas. If the economics work out and concerns about conflicting lifestyles can be 
addressed, support for annexation would likely increase in the study areas. Information learned through 
this survey and other public outreach will guide the City’s process as it looks at possible annexation in 
future. 

The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses.  

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 

 

Level of Support for Annexation 
Findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do not 
support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent do 
not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business owners 
within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent indicated 
a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 percent). 
These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly understand 
some of the benefits of annexation.  

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study
areas.

Number of Respondents

Round 2 Round 1



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 92 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation 

 

 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents 

 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0%

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

% of total pop % of Responses



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 93 

 
Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation 

 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 
 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 
 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work 

  

7%

0%

1%

1%

5%

2%

6%

1%

29%

48%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

I do not work for anyone.

I work in Study area A.

I work in Study area B.

I work in Study area C.

I work in Study area D.

I work in Study area E.

I work in Study area F.

I work in Study area G.

I work in the City of Palmer.

I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the
study area.



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 94 

In the figure below, the Percent of Businesses (dark blue bars in the graph) are calculated as the number 
of survey responses for which the respondent owns a business in the geographic area indicated, divided 
by the total number of businesses in the geographic area (Source: Data Axle USA, 2019 data). The 
survey was administered in 2020 and 2021; the Data Axle business data is from 2019. This difference in 
time explains why some geographic areas have greater than 100 percent response from businesses in 
that area. The 2019 data does not capture new businesses since it was collected. The number of 
businesses is not strictly comparable, but it does give us a rough sense of the proportion of business 
owners in each area who filled out the survey. 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents 

 

 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 
 

  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%120%140%160%180%200%

I own a business in Study area A.

I own a business in Study area B.

I own a business in Study area C.

I own a business in Study area D.

I own a business in Study area E.

I own a business in Study area F.

I own a business in Study area G.

I own a business in the City of Palmer.

I own a business outside the City of Palmer and
outside the study areas.

% of Businesses % of Responses



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 95 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges  
Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 
 
  

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 96 

Annexation Benefits 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

• Access to or improved City services, generally  
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 

fire station, bike paths 
• Attracting businesses and families 
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules 
• Less confusion about city boundaries 
• Lifestyle preferences 
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 
• Representation in City government 
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 
When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 30. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

City Revenues/Tax Base  
In an open-ended question about the benefits of annexation, five percent of all survey respondents 
mentioned City’s revenues and/or tax base. These respondents suggested that the City would benefit 
from a larger or broader tax base through increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, 
and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue 
through taxes and/or through increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent 
asked if annexation would increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded 
grants?  

Nearly 30 percent of all survey respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One 
respondent suggested that in the event of a significant annexation, the City institute temporary tax 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 97 

abatements or a ramp in the property and sales taxes for annexed areas so any tax increases are not a 
shock to annexed residents and businesses. 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 
 

Sales Tax  
Responses that specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending 
overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are 
concerned that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because 
their competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate 
the City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 

Property Tax 
Responses that specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property 
taxes especially if it pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the 
suggestion to create a city property tax cap. 

Other Specific Taxes/Fees 
Responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated support for a 
severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry trucks. One 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 98 

response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. Other responses mentioned 
local improvement district assessments, building permits and/or building inspection fees, as well as fees 
for specific city services, such as garbage collection. Responses included suggestions for the city to not 
require fee services such as garbage collection or building permits, especially for small structures like 
sheds, decks and fences. Several responses voiced concerns and questions about the fees they would or 
could have to pay to connect to City water/sewer. One response included a question about whether 
annexation would increase or decrease eligibility for grants.  

Growth/Community Planning  
Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 
Responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some responses support zoning or 
other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including:  

• protect Palmer’s small-town character;  
• prevent sprawl; 
• protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s); 
• protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;  
• protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger 

public health); 
• limit high-density housing. 

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 
Responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

City Services and Infrastructure 
Responses that mentioned city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some respondents view access to 
city services as a benefit of annexation, while others expressed concerns about the provision of services 
and infrastructure. Some responses reflected a preference for other service providers rather than the City 
of Palmer. Some concerns were about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed areas. 
Others voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and garbage 
collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly annexed area, 
so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Parks, Trails and Recreation 
Responses that mentioned parks and recreational infrastructure expressed support for more parks, trails, 
public access points, and recreation infrastructure as a potential benefit of annexation. One respondent 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 99 

specifically mentioned the desire for improvements in pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City 
of Palmer. One respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure 
(specifically the Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Police  
Responses that mentioned Palmer’s Police services were mixed. A few responses reflected concern that 
annexation would increase population and therefore crime. Some respondents voiced support for Police 
expansion as a potential benefit of annexation, anticipating that it would result in faster response times 
within existing City boundaries as well as in annexed areas. Some responses reflected a preference for 
the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer Police Department would 
be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already overworked, understaffed, 
underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also voiced concerns about the 
expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find qualified people to hire for 
the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. A few responses reflected a 
desire for more information about the specifics of how exactly the Palmer Police Department would be 
expanded or changed with an annexation. 

Fire  
Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, specifically faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few responses reflected a desire for more 
information about the specifics of how exactly Palmer Fire and Rescue would be expanded or changed 
with an annexation. 

Roads  
Responses that mentioned road maintenance and related infrastructure were mixed. Some responses 
indicated support for the expansion of City road maintenance and installation of streetlights in their 
neighborhoods. One response voiced frustration that the City does not pay for the maintenance and 
electricity for street lighting in their neighborhood. Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, 
nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City 
cannot provide snow removal as fast as what they are used to now. A few respondents specifically 
shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide snow removal on Scott Road because it requires 
specialized equipment. (Note that as a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained 
by the Alaska State Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into 
the City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow removal 
responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more efficient and cost effective. 
For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal for some larger Municipal roads and in 
exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some smaller State-owned roads.) A few responses also 
voiced concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions 
unless it raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage 
Responses that mentioned City garbage collection were also mixed. Some respondents want City 
garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside the City’s current garbage collection 
service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the current trash collection service area 
would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to enter a competitive service area. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 100 

Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either contract with another provider or 
haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able to choose who and how 
garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash collection would become more 
expensive if land is annexed. 

Water and Sewer 
Responses that mentioned water and sewer services were likewise mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant."  

Other Services and Infrastructure 
Responses also included questions and concerns regarding a number of other City services and 
infrastructure. A few specifically mentioned the desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to 
aging stormwater collection infrastructure and existing City facilities (generally). Some responses voiced 
concerns that the city does not have the infrastructure to support the larger size of a major annexation. A 
few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, or at least want a 
better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 
annexation would not necessarily affect postal services.  

A few responses included questions about how annexation would affect schools in terms of population 
and funding. 

"How does all of this affect the zoning of our current school system?  Has there been an impact study done by a 
neutral source determining projected student increases by age groups?  Will new schools need to be built to handle 
the projected increases?"  

Governance 
Governance was not often mentioned among the open-ended responses: six percent of all respondents 
mentioned governance as benefits and three percent of all responses mentioned it as a concern. These 
responses included support for being able to vote in City elections and having more of a voice in City 
government for both residents and businesses. They also included as benefits a wider pool of eligible 
candidates to run for public office and hopes for a more involved voter base and greater sense of 
community. Some respondents had a preference for the City of Palmer over the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough; others preferred the Borough over the City. A few comments observed that an annexation could 
make boundaries between the City and Borough easier to understand. Respondents who mentioned 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 101 

concerns with governance want as little government oversight as possible and view an annexation not by 
their choice (against their will) as an overreach of government and an infringement on their personal 
freedoms. 

Regulations 
In open-ended questions about benefits and concerns regarding annexation, only two percent of all 
survey responses mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent of all responses mentioned 
regulations as concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way 
to manage growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of 
everyone following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement.  

The main concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the 
desire to be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on 
their property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms 
Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), target practice on 
property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be able to continue 
using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles  
Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow machines) to be licensed 
for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road vehicles on Bogard Road.  

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks  
Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having backyard firepits and setting off fireworks 
on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned wanting burn permits with the same 
allowances as they are currently granted by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough.  

Animals  
Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their property. 
Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens (including 
roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations  
Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for sheds, decks, storage 
buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to connect to the City’s piped 
water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One response mentioned a lack 
of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for regulations to address 
homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected a mix of support and 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 102 

objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis tourism), a strip club and 
pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

• Enforce quiet hours from the quarry 
• Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and 

size of animals allowed on the property) 
• Allow well and septic 
• Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection 
• Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures 

(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings) 
• Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks. 

Businesses and Economic Development 
Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 
have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 
Responses that mentioned farms universally sought to protect agricultural businesses and activities in the 
greater Palmer area. Some voiced concerns that City regulations would make it difficult for hobby farms 
and business-scale farms, alike. Specifically, respondents mentioned concerns about the number and 
size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain 
private well and waste management on the property. One respondent estimated the amount of water 
used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to 
purchase City water.  



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 103 

Responses included suggestions for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, 
protections and changes to city policy involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and 
agricultural practices, including encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. Responses also 
included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, building permits for 
storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One respondent 
suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being impacted by placing 
farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that the size and/or type 
of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. 

Other Businesses  
Specific businesses mentioned include farms, the gravel pit, gun range, marijuana cultivation and 
dispensaries, home-based businesses. (Note: The few responses that mentioned marijuana-related 
businesses show mixed attitudes toward them.) One respondent voiced interest in attracting national 
chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and shopping mall to Palmer. Responses also included 
concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much sales tax they would have to pay) 
and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses.  

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away," as well as maintaining private gun range(s). Responses indicated mixed 
support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested allowing dispensaries within the 
City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  there are too many cannabis 
businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot support them all. One respondent 
suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow pawn shops within the City.  

Fix it First 
Concerns about service provision also revealed a desire among current City residents as well as 
residents outside the City for Palmer to improve the quality of existing services and local regulation/law 
enforcement before a significant annexation takes place. Some specific concerns could be due to 
misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City operates and the limits of what it can 
do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City about where to focus information-
sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

• Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve 
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that 
branch off them. 

• Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.  
• Keep sidewalks clear. 
• Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.  
• Improve the Palmer Sr. League field. 
• Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water 

pressure can be limited at times." 
• Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.  
• Improve fire response times (in study areas).  
• Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.  
• Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted 

to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions"). 
• Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.  
• Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works. 
• Address homelessness in the City. 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 104 

• Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is 
intended only to increase revenue for the City. 

Suggestions for Communication, Process and Timeline 
Responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open communication between the City and area 
residents, generally and specific to the annexation process. Regarding the annexation process, 
responses reflected the desire for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s motivations for 
annexing more land, and as much information as possible about the process, timelines and what to 
expect in any annexation process. One respondent specifically asked which services would be extended 
to annexed areas immediately. The transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be 
critical for informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the 
city, how and when those changes will take place.  

"I would want to know the cost of annexation, the projected revenues generated by annexed business, and see a 
plan for how long it would take to accomplish the annexation from start to finish once passed."   

Many responses questioned whether annexation had any benefits and wanted more information about 
how annexation would benefit them and/or the City, beyond a larger tax base. Responses included a 
desire for specific analysis of how annexation would affect taxes, cost of living, land use regulations and 
other impacts to the day-to-day use of their property, compared with Borough taxes and regulations. 

"There should be a five year forward looking budget forecast for the city, based on the projected increases in costs 
and revenues, so that people can be adequately informed." 

A few responses questioned why the study areas did not include certain areas, such as the areas south 
of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony 
Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One respondent suggested the City consider 
taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, then adding more at a later date.  

Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward with annexation 
regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed without further 
opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process and 
opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Suggestions included keeping citizens informed and providing opportunities for them to voice concerns as 
the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, informational Q&A 
sessions, and door-to-door discussions or HOA meetings. When it comes time for the City to decide on 
making an annexation petition, some respondents suggested the City consider basing its decision on a 
majority vote among residents/property owners in the areas considered for annexation. 

“Sometimes it's difficult to make a case for annexation because residents in those areas don't see a direct benefit to 
them. Sometimes there aren't positive impacts, but larger community issues are often critical for effective and 
efficient service delivery...a broader issue different from ‘what do I get out of it?’” 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. For example, the City may engage in shorter-term planning for general operations and capital 
projects over the next few years. The City may also look to update Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan to 
revisit longer-term plans. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future, regardless of whether its 
boundaries expand or remain stable.  

Respondent Demographics 
The survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly 
well distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses 



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | 2021 105 

to City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with 
trends citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared 
to City demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics 

  
All Survey 

Respondents 
City of Palmer 2018 ACS  

(US Census Bureau) 
City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14%   

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

     

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11%    

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

     

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 

American Indian or Alaska Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26%    

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

     

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26%    

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Matanuska-Susitna Borough housing assessment 
counts. 


	Agenda
	Ord. 21-008 Garbage
	Ord. 21-009 Water Supply System
	Council Minutes
	City Manager's Report
	Mayor's Report
	Audience Participation
	Res. 21-015 Cedar Park Variances
	Ord. 21-005 Title 17 Commercial Land Use Matrix
	Ord. 21-006 Title 17 Parking
	Ord. 21-007 Deadline Submission for Ballot Propositions
	AM 21-036 Liquor License Palmer Alehouse
	Annexation Report
	Overview and Executive Summary
	Purpose
	Process
	Fiscal Effects of Annexation
	Community Considerations
	Recommendations
	Continue Ongoing Communication
	Choose an Annexation Approach
	Continue the Conversation
	Figures
	Tables



	Introduction to Annexation
	Annexation in Alaska
	Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC)
	Petition Methods
	Annexation by Legislative Review
	Annexation by Local Action
	Legislative Review versus Local Action

	Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards

	City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas
	History
	Land Use and Economy
	Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned
	A Summary of Annexation in Palmer
	Annexation Lessons Learned



	Fiscal Analysis
	Study Areas
	Fiscal Analysis Methodology
	Individual Model Components
	Demographics, Physical Attributes, Tax Base
	Population
	Property Tax Base
	Sales Tax Base
	Road Lane Miles

	Revenues
	Sales Taxes (including Utility Sales Taxes)
	Property Taxes
	Other Revenues

	Service Costs
	Police
	Public Works
	Non-Public Safety/Non-Public Works General Government
	Capital Costs


	2030 Projections
	Population
	Housing
	Property Taxes
	Sales Taxes


	Fiscal Impact Analysis
	Fiscal Effects
	Fiscal Findings
	2030 Fiscal Findings



	Community Analysis
	Community Analysis Methodology
	Interviews and Meetings
	Survey
	Research and Reflection

	Community Impact Analysis
	Level of Support for Annexation
	Annexation Benefits and Challenges
	Annexation Benefits
	Annexation Challenges

	Community Fiscal Concerns
	City Revenues/Tax Base
	Property Taxes
	Sales Taxes
	Severance Tax
	Bed Tax
	Other Fees


	Planning and Growth Management
	Key Findings
	Land Use Regulations
	Building Codes, Permits, etc.


	Public Services and Infrastructure
	Key Findings
	City Administration and Finance
	Community Development
	Palmer Golf Course
	Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport
	Police
	Fire and Emergency Services
	Public Works
	Administration Division
	Fleet Division
	Facilities Division
	Parks Division
	Streets Division
	Solid Waste Division
	Water and Sewer Division


	Governance
	Key Findings
	Residential and Lifestyle

	Businesses and Economic Development
	Farms
	Other Businesses




	Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area
	Study Area A
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area B
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area C
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area D
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area E
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area F
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030

	Study Area G (and E)
	Key Considerations
	Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions
	Fiscal Effects, 2030


	Transition Plan
	Transfer Process
	General Government Services
	Transition of voter roles

	Licenses
	Business licenses
	Alcohol and Marijuana Licenses

	Property Tax
	Sales Tax
	Other taxes and fees
	Economic Development
	Planning, Land Use and Zoning
	Water and Sewer
	Public Safety
	Roads and Road Maintenance
	Libraries, Parks and Recreation
	Services Not Affected by Annexation

	Policy Implications
	Sales Taxes
	Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc.
	Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.)
	Animal restrictions
	Hunting and Use of Firearms
	Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks
	Solid Waste Collection and Disposal
	Farms

	A History of Annexation in Palmer
	A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation
	A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation
	Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development
	The Case for Annexation


	Interview Questions
	Residents and the General Public
	Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners

	Survey Questions
	Level of Support for Annexation
	Annexation Benefits and Challenges
	Annexation Benefits
	Annexation Challenges

	City Revenues/Tax Base
	Sales Tax
	Property Tax
	Other Specific Taxes/Fees

	Growth/Community Planning
	Land Use Regulations
	Building Codes, Permits, etc.

	City Services and Infrastructure
	Parks, Trails and Recreation
	Police
	Fire
	Roads
	Garbage
	Water and Sewer
	Other Services and Infrastructure

	Governance
	Regulations
	Use of Firearms
	Use of Off-Road Vehicles
	Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks
	Animals
	Other Regulations

	Businesses and Economic Development
	Farms
	Other Businesses

	Fix it First
	Suggestions for Communication, Process and Timeline
	Respondent Demographics






